Investigations into the pathophysiology, prognosis and clinical management of acute liver failure



by

Nick Murphy

A thesis submitted to the University of Birmingham for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHIOSOPHY

Institute of Immunology and Immunotherapy College of Medical and Dental Sciences University of Birmingham October 2020

UNIVERSITY^{OF} BIRMINGHAM

University of Birmingham Research Archive

e-theses repository

This unpublished thesis/dissertation is copyright of the author and/or third parties. The intellectual property rights of the author or third parties in respect of this work are as defined by The Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 or as modified by any successor legislation.

Any use made of information contained in this thesis/dissertation must be in accordance with that legislation and must be properly acknowledged. Further distribution or reproduction in any format is prohibited without the permission of the copyright holder.

Abstract

In this thesis I will describe how my work has contributed to the understanding and management of acute liver failure (ALF). There are three main themes of my work:

- 1. Understanding the pathophysiological mechanisms in ALF
- 2. Defining prognosis in ALF.
- 3. Management of ALF, in particular focusing on the prevention of intracranial hypertension (ICH).

Acute liver failure (ALF) is a rare syndrome, estimated to result in less than 10 cases per million in the West (1). In severe form it results in critical illness with multiple organ failure. It occurs in all age groups and usually presents in young adults without any previous liver disease. It has a high mortality and for those with a severe presentation the only treatment option is liver transplantation, however, the shortage of donor organs means that is only an option for selected cases (2).

The ability to predict outcome early in the course of the illness is of critical importance when considering transplantation; there is only a short window of clinical opportunity during which liver transplantation is a viable option before the condition of the patient deteriorates to the point where transplantation becomes futile (3). Like other forms of critical illness, the progression to multiple organ failure dictates outcome. Additionally, patients with ALF can develop intracranial hypertension (ICH) due to cerebral oedema which has a further, significant, impact on morbidity and mortality. Management strategies to reduce the incidence and impact of ICH are, alongside accurate prognostication, an essential part of intensive care unit management of patients with ALF (4).

Furthermore, performing clinical research in patients with ALF is very difficult for a number of reasons. It is a rare condition thus studies take a long time to recruit sufficient numbers. Patients are also extremely sick with the illness following a fulminating course and so often die early or are transplanted, confounding trial outcomes. Consequently, the number of randomised clinical trials in ALF is very small internationally and collaborations of liver centres have been developed with only varying degrees of success. The US ALF study group has produced 68 papers over its 22-year history. To this end, I was a founding member of the European ALF initiative in 2010, which initiated a number of surveys in clinical practice across Europe (5,6).

The work that I authored with colleagues has had a significant impact on the understanding and management of ALF. It has directly influenced international management guidelines (7,8) in both Europe and the USA through the national hepatology associations (EASL & AASLD). My works covers the following principal themes:

1. Pathophysiology

Lactic acidosis was recognised as a prominent feature of ALF during the 1960s and the importance of it as a prognostic marker was elucidated during the late 1980s (9,10). The metabolic acidosis seen in ALF is due to a combination of lactic acidosis and acute kidney injury, both of which contribute to prognostic indices. I have directly contributed to the understanding of lactate metabolism in ALF through innovative work revealing the changes in lactate metabolism that occur during and following liver transplantation. The liver becomes a net producer of lactate in ALF instead of a consumer and I demonstrated that splanchnic lactate production comes from both the gut and the liver in ALF. The accompanying editorial noted that due to the design of the study which enabled sampling of portal vein lactate we were uniquely placed to distinguish between splanchnic and liver metabolism (11). The net production of lactate from the liver reverses following emergency liver transplantation, contributing to the rapid fall in serum lactate seen (12,13). This is significant as it helps to explain why a high lactate has prognostic value. The lactate produced within the liver represents the activation of inflammatory cells which use glycolysis aerobically and is a marker for the inflammatory burden. This inflammatory burden contributes to liver damage and to the systemic inflammatory response and organ failure seen (11).

As well as work into lactate metabolism in ALF I have worked with colleagues in the Centre for Liver and GI Research in Birmingham to delineate the immunological mechanisms perpetuating liver damage. In particular, we demonstrated T-cell recruitment and activation within the liver during ALF (14). This work adds to the understanding of how the migration to and activation of inflammatory cells, stimulates the lactate production within the liver and result in systemic inflammation and organ failure.

2. Prognosis in ALF

Bernal and colleagues showed that serum lactate, which contributes to the metabolic acidosis in ALF, was also a prognostic marker in ALF due to paracetamol toxicity. I led work with colleagues in Birmingham, extending this work and demonstrated that it held true for non-paracetamol causes of ALF as well (15,16). This study confirmed and supports the use of lactate as a prognostic marker in a different cohort of patients with ALF, strengthening the evidence for its use. In

our centre lactate levels at 12 hours following admission was shown, on multivariate analysis, to be a significant differentiator for survival. The 12 hour interval is important as it differentiates those patients in whom arterial lactate falls following initial resuscitation from those with persistent hyperlactataemia.

I have continued to maintain an interest in prognostic models in ALF and contributed data and was an author on a recent publication examining dynamic models of predicting outcome in paracetamol induced ALF (17). The dynamic models look at both day one and day 2 markers. The lead time effect of early critical care intervention on organ failure increases the fidelity of the model and increases confidence in predication.

3. Management of ALF

Cerebral ischaemia and herniation related to cerebral swelling remains a significant cause of death in ALF (18).

The recognition that cerebral oedema was a significant cause of death in ALF led to the introduction of intracranial pressure (ICP) monitoring and strategies to reduce it in patients with established intracranial hypertension (19,20). The use of osmotherapy with mannitol became the main therapy for cerebral oedema complicating ALF. Once established ICH is difficult to treat and tends to recure despite therapy.

In novel work I initiated and studied, I looked at alternative types of osmotherapy in ALF by considering the use of hypertonic saline. It can increase blood osmolality and as sodium does not cross the blood brain barrier it serves to reduce brain water. In fact, because of the active nature of the barrier, sodium is actively pumped out,

making its reflection coefficient (the tendency to not cross the blood brain barrier) higher than that of mannitol (21). ICH has a very poor prognosis and so prevention is a logical approach.

In a landmark study I, together with colleagues investigated the prophylactic use of hypertonic saline infusions in patients with ALF in a randomised controlled trial. We demonstrated that maintaining serum sodium at approximately 150 mmol/I, prevented the increase in intracranial pressure seen in the control group. This study has now been cited over 340 times and has been adopted as standard therapy internationally (22).

I have had a long-standing interest in the use of extracorporeal liver support in ALF, with the concept of liver dialysis being particularly appealing. Many systems have been investigated including the use of albumin dialysis via the molecular absorbent recirculating system (MARS). Together with colleagues I investigated the effects of the MARS extracorporeal liver support on physiological parameters in a series of patients with ALF (23). The study demonstrated that MARS therapy improved haemodynamic stability and decreased jugular bulb oxygen saturation reflecting an increase in cerebrovascular tone during the sessions. Notably, intracranial pressure did not change significantly over the treatment period suggesting that factors, not cleared via MARS, are important in the pathology.

More recently, I helped develop the concept and design of an international collaboration, with colleagues in King's College London and the Rigshospitalet (Copenhagen), to investigate the effects of prophylactic hypothermia on intracranial pressure in ALF (24). This international, multicentre, randomised controlled clinical trial compared moderate hypothermia with standard of care in patients with ALF at

risk of cerebral oedema. Whilst the study was unable to show any difference in the rates of ICH the accompanying editorial noted that this "landmark study" highlighted the need to determine the correct target temperature to manage patients with ALF and how further experimental research is needed (25).

- 1. Bernal W, Wendon J. Acute Liver Failure. N Engl J Med. 2013 Dec 26;369(26):2525–34.
- 2. Reuben A, Tillman H, Fontana RJ, Davern T, McGuire B, Stravitz RT, et al. Outcomes in Adults With Acute Liver Failure Between 1998 and 2013. Ann Intern Med. 2016 Jun 7;164(11):724–32.
- 3. O'Grady J. Timing and benefit of liver transplantation in acute liver failure. J Hepatol. 2014 Mar;60(3):663–70.
- 4. Murphy ND. The pathology and management of intracranial hypertension in acute liver failure. 2007;678–90.
- 5. Bernal W, Han Y, Laterre PF, Lee A, Mas A, Murphy N, et al. 912 CLINICAL MANAGEMENT OF ACUTE LIVER FAILURE 2010: RESULTS OF A PAN-EUROPEAN SURVEY. J Hepatol. 2011 Mar;54:S364.
- 6. Wendon J, Bernal W, Laterre P, Nevens F, Hudson M, Aldersly M, et al. Acute liver failure: a European perspective. Crit Care. 2010;14(Suppl 1):P541.
- 7. Lee WM, Stravitz RT, Larson AM. Introduction to the Revised American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases Position Paper on Acute Liver Failure 2011. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2012 Mar;55(3):965–7.
- Wendon J, Cordoba J, Dhawan A, Larsen FS, Manns M, Nevens F, et al. EASL Clinical Practical Guidelines on the management of acute (fulminant) liver failure. J Hepatol. 2017;66(5):1047–81.
- 9. Colombi A, Tholen H. Haemodialysis in the treatment of lactic acidosis associated with acute hepatic and renal failure. Postgrad Med J. 1971 Sep 1;47(551):628–31.
- O'Grady JG, Alexander GJM, Hayllar KM, Williams R. Early indicators of prognosis in fulminant hepatic failure. Gastroenterology. 1989 Aug;97(2):439– 45.
- 11. Chang D-M. Hyperlactatemia in acute liver failure: Decreased clearance versus increased production: Crit Care Med. 2001 Nov;29(11):2225–6.
- 12. Murphy ND, Kodakat SK, Wendon JA, Jooste CA, Muiesan P, Rela M, et al. Liver and intestinal lactate metabolism in patients with acute hepatic failure undergoing liver transplantation. Crit Care Med. 2001 Nov;29(11):2111–8.

- 13. Walsh TS, McLellan S, Mackenzie SJ, Lee A. Hyperlactatemia and pulmonary lactate production in patients with fulminant hepatic failure. Chest. 1999 Aug;116(2):471–6.
- 14. Tuncer C, Oo YH, Murphy N, Adams DH, Lalor PF. The regulation of T-cell recruitment to the human liver during acute liver failure. Liver Int. 2013 Jul;33(6):852–63.
- 15. Bernal W, Donaldson N, Wyncoll D, Wendon JA. Blood lactate as an early predictor of outcome in paracetamol-induced acute liver failure: a cohort study. Lancet. 2002 Feb;359(9306):558–63.
- Macquillan GC, Seyam MS, Nightingale P, Neuberger JM, Murphy ND. Blood lactate but not serum phosphate levels can predict patient outcome in fulminant hepatic failure. Liver Transplant Off Publ Am Assoc Study Liver Dis Int Liver Transplant Soc. 2005 Sep;11(9):1073–9.
- Bernal W, Wang Y, Maggs J, Willars C, Sizer E, Auzinger G, et al. Development and validation of a dynamic outcome prediction model for paracetamol-induced acute liver failure: a cohort study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016 Nov;1(3):217–25.
- 18. Boeckx NK, Haydon G, Rusli F, Murphy N. Multiorgan failure is the commonest cause of death in fulminant hepatic failure: a single centre experience. Liver Int. 2004;24(6):702–3.
- 19. Braude S, Gimson AES, Williams R. Progress in the management of fulminant hepatic failure. Intensive Care Med. 1981 May;7(3):101–3.
- Hanid MA, Mackenzie RL, Jenner RE, Chase RA, Mellon PJ, Trewby PN, et al. Intracranial pressure in pigs with surgically induced acute liver failure. Gastroenterology. 1979 Jan;76(1):123–31.
- Qureshi AI, Suarez JI. Use of hypertonic saline solutions in treatment of cerebral edema and intracranial hypertension: Crit Care Med. 2000 Sep;28(9):3301–13.
- 22. Murphy ND, Auzinger G, Bernel W, Wendon JA. The effect of hypertonic sodium chloride on intracranial pressure in patients with acute liver failure. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2004 Feb;39(2):464–70.
- 23. Lai WK, Haydon G, Mutimer D, Murphy ND. The effect of molecular adsorbent recirculating system on pathophysiological parameters in patients with acute liver failure. Intensive Care Med. 2005 Nov;31(11):1544–9.
- 24. Bernal W, Murphy ND, Brown S, Whitehouse T, Bjerring PN, Hauerberg J, et al. A multicentre randomized controlled trial of moderate hypothermia to prevent intracranial hypertension in acute liver failure. J Hepatol. 2016 Aug;65(2):273–9.
- 25. Porcher R, Vaquero J. Hypothermia in acute liver failure: What got lost in translation? J Hepatol. 2016 Aug;65(2):240–2.

Acknowledgments

I Would like to thank Professor Phil Newsome who encouraged me and gave me the confidence to pursue this MD by publication. I want to acknowledge the contribution colleagues have made in the research presented. Investigations in ALF are difficult due the rarity of the syndrome. Collaboration is essential if sufficiently powered studies are to be completed in the future.

I would like to acknowledge the patients and their relatives who consented for them to be enrolled in clinical research during critical illness with a significant uncertainty about their survival.

Contents

Abstract 2
Acknowledgments
Chapter 1
Aims and structure of the thesis12
List of publications
The diagnosis and management of liver failure in the adult15
Aetiology of Acute Liver Failure18
Early management of ALF
Specialist Management
References79
Chapter 2 Pathophysiology of ALF93
Liver and intestinal lactate metabolism in patients with acute hepatic failure undergoing
liver transplantation
The regulation of T-cell recruitment to the human liver during acute liver failure
Chapter 3 Prediction models in ALF
Blood Lactate But Not Serum Phosphate Levels Can Predict Patient Outcome in Fulminant
Hepatic Failure
Development and validation of a dynamic outcome prediction model for paracetamol-
induced acute liver failure: a cohort study190
Chapter 4 Management of ALF 224

The effect of molecular adsorbent recirculating system on pathophysiological parameters
in patients with acute liver failure225
The Effect of Hypertonic Sodium Chloride on Intracranial Pressure in Patients With Acute
Liver Failure
A multicentre randomized controlled trial of moderate hypothermia to prevent
intracranial hypertension in acute liver failure273
Chapter 5 Discussion
Lactate metabolism in ALF Error! Bookmark not defined.
The regulation of T-cell recruitment to the human liver during acute liver failure Error!
Bookmark not defined.
Validation of prognostic biomarkers in ALFError! Bookmark not defined.
Development and validation of dynamic prediction model for paracetamol induced ALF
Error! Bookmark not defined.
The evaluation of a non-biological extracorporeal liver assist device in patients with ALF.
Error! Bookmark not defined.
The prevention of intracranial hypertension in patients with ALF Error! Bookmark not
defined.
Future directions Friend and the second

Chapter 1

Aims and structure of the thesis

In this thesis I will present a body of published work related to acute liver failure. This will start with a general introduction published as a book chapter in a major textbook of critical care medicine, describing ALF, its causes and general management. The following chapters represent a series of investigations into the pathophysiology, early prognostic markers and management of ALF. The publications presented follow a logical pattern. As a total it represents a significant contribution to the understanding of and has enhanced the management of ALF.

I will follow with a general discussion of how the work relates to current literature and how the principles and recommendations presented in the papers have influenced international clinical practice.

Performing clinical research in patients with ALF is difficult for a number of reasons. It is a rare condition with an estimated annual incidence of about 1 per 100000 of the population per year in the UK. The numbers presenting with ALF have fallen from a peak in the late 1990s following legislation limiting availability and pack size of overthe-counter paracetamol. Patients are often extremely sick at presentation to a specialist centre with multiple organ failure. They frequently die soon after presentation or receive a liver transplant, confounding trial outcomes. Consequently, recruitment to studies is slow and the number of randomised clinical trials published in ALF is very small. Various collaborations of liver centres have been developed to enhance recruitment to prospective studies and to pool data for observational examination in the UK and Europe and in the USA. Over time there has been a gradual advancement in the understanding of the pathophysiology and management of patients with ALF improving mortality. This has been steady for the most part with a jump following the introduction of transplantation into the pathway during the early 1990s.

List of publications

Murphy N. Diagnosis and Management of Liver Failure in the Adult. In: Critical Care Medicine: Principles of Diagnosis and Management. 4th ed. Elsevier; 2014. p. 1309–33.

Murphy ND, Kodakat SK, Wendon JA, Jooste CA, Muiesan P, Rela M, et al. Liver and intestinal lactate metabolism in patients with acute hepatic failure undergoing liver transplantation. Critical Care Medicine. 2001 Nov;29(11):2111–8.

Tuncer C, Oo YH, **Murphy ND**, Adams DH, Lalor PF. The regulation of T-cell recruitment to the human liver during acute liver failure. Liver Int. 2013 Jul;33(6):852–63.

Macquillan GC, Seyam MS, Nightingale P, Neuberger JM, **Murphy ND**. Blood lactate but not serum phosphate levels can predict patient outcome in fulminant hepatic failure. Liver transplantation. 2005 Sep;11(9):1073–9.

Bernal W, Wang Y, Maggs J, Willars C, Sizer E, Auzinger G, **Murphy N**, et al. Development and validation of a dynamic outcome prediction model for paracetamolinduced acute liver failure: a cohort study. The Lancet Gastroenterology & Hepatology. 2016 Nov;1(3):217–25.

Lai WK, Haydon G, Mutimer D, **Murphy N**. The effect of molecular adsorbent recirculating system on pathophysiological parameters in patients with acute liver failure. Intensive Care Med. 2005 Nov;31(11):1544–9.

Murphy ND, Auzinger G, Bernel W, Wendon JA. The effect of hypertonic sodium chloride on intracranial pressure in patients with acute liver failure. Hepatology (Baltimore, Md). 2004 Feb;39(2):464–70.

Bernal W, **Murphy ND**, Brown S, Whitehouse T, Bjerring PN, Hauerberg J, et al. A multicentre randomized controlled trial of moderate hypothermia to prevent intracranial hypertension in acute liver failure. Journal of Hepatology. 2016 Aug;65(2):273–9.

The diagnosis and management of liver failure in the adult

Dr Nick Murphy

Acute liver failure is a syndrome manifest by the rapid cessation of normal function in individuals with previously normal livers. The rate of decline in function dictates the manner in which the syndrome manifests and influences the outcome. The aetiology is the main influence on the rate of progression and the likelihood of spontaneous recovery (1).

The pathological basis of the massive hepatic necrosis was described in detail by Lucké and Mallory following the Second World War in 1946 (2). The presence of the American army in East Asia and Africa resulted to exposure to both epidemic and serum hepatitis and data regarding the clinical course of the syndrome and pathology was collated via the army medical services.

In 1970 Trey and Davidson introduced the term fulminant hepatic failure (FHF) to encompass the current clinico-pathological understanding of the syndrome (3). This definition was an attempt to encapsulate the clinical course and to differentiate it from decompensation of chronic liver disease. They described a syndrome of rapidly progressing liver failure (within 8 weeks) in which the defining point was the onset of hepatic encephalopathy following the onset of symptoms, in someone without previous liver disease. They make the point that the syndrome is potentially reversible in some patients. This definition is still used today; however, it has become clear that this definition is too narrow and that subgroups exist.

Speed of progression to encephalopathy from the onset of jaundice or other initial symptoms is used to define subgroups. This is because the rate of progression of the syndrome is directly related to the aetiology of the underlying cause of liver failure. For example, patients with significant acetaminophen induced hepatotoxicity will generally present with liver failure within seven days of ingestion, unless

ingestion was staggered over a period of time when the timing of liver insult is difficult to define. Patients often present with cardiovascular collapse and renal failure before they become encephalopathic. In contrast, patients presenting with sero-negative hepatitis (unknown aetiology) can have a prolonged illness, over a period of months, resulting in a patient that is deeply jaundiced with evidence of portal hypertension, such as ascites, at the onset of encephalopathy. It is the two extreme ends of the syndrome that split the group into hyperacute, acute and subacute liver failure. Interestingly, it is the hyperacute group that have the best chance for spontaneous recovery, although this group has the highest risk of cerebral oedema. It is the subacute group that has the worse prognosis with medical management alone (1). (37)

- Hyperacute liver failure
 - Jaundice to encephalopathy within 7 days usually due to paracetamol hepatotoxicity
- Acute liver failure
 - \circ Jaundice to encephalopathy from 8 to 28 days
- Subacute liver failure
 - Jaundice to encephalopathy from 29 days to six months

Aetiology of Acute Liver Failure

Worldwide, and in the developing world in particular, approximately 95-100% of patients presenting with ALF will have viral hepatitis (4). Within the UK and as recently reported in the USA, paracetamol hepatotoxicity toxicity is the leading cause of ALF. This is followed by liver failure of unknown aetiology or seronegative hepatitis (5,6).

The pattern of ALF within the UK and USA has been changing over the last thirty years (5,6). Up until the late 1990's the rate of hospital admission due to paracetamol ingestion had risen year by year. In the UK paracetamol overdose (POD) is usually due to deliberate self-harm. In contrast the USA data suggests that over half of all patients with ALF due to POD were due to therapeutic misadventure. Some doubts have been expressed regarding this interpretation as some of the patients in the misadventure group may be, in fact, be occult suicide attempts (6,7). In 1998 legislation was introduced in the UK to restrict the over-the-counter sale of paracetamol to 16 tablets from most retail outlets and 32 from pharmacies in the form of blister packs. Since then the rate of admissions to hospital, severe liver toxicity and transplantation for POD have fallen (8).

In the United Kingdom and the USA, the incidence of acute hepatitis A virus (HAV) and hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection has fallen dramatically since the 1980s (5,9). Less than 1% of acute hepatitis A or B progress to ALF (5). In the USA and UK, as a proportion of the total, the number of admissions with ALF due to viral hepatitis has fallen steadily and is currently responsible for less than 5% of all admissions in the UK and 11% in the USA (5,9).

Indeterminate hepatitis (non-A to E hepatitis, seronegative ALF, non-A/non-B hepatitis), is often presumed to be viral in origin and is the most common presentation excluding POD in the UK and USA and viral hepatitis in the developing world. It is a diagnosis of exclusion and as diagnostic capabilities improve is falling in incidence in some centres (5).

Acetaminophen (paracetamol)

Acetaminophen induced liver failure is the cause of the vast majority of hyperacute liver failure. Acetaminophen poisoning is a common cause of presentation to acute and emergency departments in the UK and USA; however, the case progression to ALF following paracetamol ingestion is rare at just 0.6% of all presentations in the UK (10)

It was in the mid 1960's that the main mechanisms of paracetamol induced liver injury were elucidated. The scheme outline by various groups revealed the production of electrophilic quinone imine (N-acetyl-p-benzoquinone imine, NAPQI), which covalently binds to hepatic proteins, was central to the resultant centrolobular necrosis seen following poisoning. The two major pathways for metabolism are the glucuronidation and sulphation of the phenolic group with the metabolites produced excreted in the urine. In therapeutic doses approximately 80% of the drug is metabolized via these two pathways and 5-10% is excreted unchanged in the urine. The remainder is metabolized via the hepatic mixed function oxidase, cytochrome P450 to produce NAPQI.

Following poisoning the half-life of acetaminophen is greatly prolonged because of the saturation of glucuronidation and sulphate conjugation. As a result there is an increase in the quantity of NAPQI produced. NAPQI is extremely reactive in biological systems and has a short half-life. Following poisoning, reaction of NAPQI occurs within the centrilobular portions of the liver and leads to necrosis in experimental models. It reacts with cellular constituents in a covalent and noncovalent manner. The exact mechanisms by which NAPQI induces cell death are incompletely understood but include the deactivation of critical cellular proteins; the induction of reactive oxygen species and the activation of Kupffer cells (11). The loss of regulatory protein function results in abnormal calcium homeostasis and resultant energy failure within the cell and mitochondria (11). Other events such as noncovalent interaction with intracellular signalling and lipid peroxidation also contribute to the toxicity of this molecule. Following this primary toxic phase there is a secondary or extrinsic phase. This extrinsic phase is equated with the recruitment of immune cells to the liver. The liver is one of the major immune organs of the body. Up to 35% of the liver is made up of non-parenchymal cells, including endothelium, Kupffer cells and resident lymphocytes. These, together with macrophages within the liver perform a major role in immune regulation and in the filtering of antigens from the gut contents via the portal circulation. They are also implicated in the pathological processes that occur following liver insult. Massive activation of immune cells in response to the intrinsic cellular damage induces the release of cytokines and chemokines both locally and into the systemic circulation (12).

Immune effects following the direct toxic effects of NAPQI result in the secondary effects of poisoning such as the release of cytokines from the liver and the induction of organ failure.

Following a significant intake of paracetamol the symptoms over the following 24 hours, irrespective of amount ingested, are usually nausea and vomiting. The minimum dose that can induce hepatic damage appears to be about 125 mg/kg. This

represents 15 500mg tablets in a 60 kg individual, although hepatic necrosis has been recorded at much lower doses especially if associated with hepatic enzyme induction. Doses above 250 mg/kg (30, 500mg tablets in 60kg individual) will often produce damage and doses in excess of 350 mg/kg invariably produce significant damage (13). During the following four to five days, if liver failure ensues, there is a gradual worsening of the patient's general condition. Those with significant overdose should be admitted to the hospital and monitored closely.

The antidote for acetaminophen poisoning is N-acetylcysteine (NAC). It provides complete protection against hepatotoxicity if given within 12h of nonstaggered ingestion (14). Within 12 hours, if the time from ingestion is known with certainty and a plasma acetaminophen level is obtained reference can be made to nomogram to see if the potential for hepatotoxicity is present. The nomograms are unreliable if the time from ingestion is uncertain or if there was staggered ingestion over a period of time as often occurs with therapeutic misadventure or repeated overdose. The use of alcohol often accompanies POD making timing unreliable. Situations that alter normal cytochrome P450 function such as drug induction (chronic ethanol use, phenytoin, and isoniazid) again render the information unreliable (15). The use of the nomogram as the only basis for the decision to withhold NAC therapy is to be discouraged because of the uncertainty associated with this timing and the catastrophic potential if NAC is erroneously withheld.

The main effect of NAC is to increase hepatic glutathione production. This promotes the conjugation of NAPQI and its subsequent excretion. In addition NAC may act as an antioxidant within and outside the liver. It is most effective if given within the first 8 hours following overdose but is effective following this, although less so. There is some evidence that NAC is effective when administered to the patient up to 72 hours following poisoning, although the mechanism of action is unclear and probably relates to antioxidant effects rather than to any effect on acetaminophen metabolism (16). The role of NAC in established ALF from any aetiology is more controversial and despite widespread use its role is not established (17,18).

Viral hepatitis

Both epidemic and serum hepatitis were recognized well before the viral aetiology was discovered. In the seminal work of Lucké and Mallory in 1946, they describe 196 patients that died of acute liver failure following both epidemic hepatitis and serum hepatitis, related to the administration of blood products during World War II (2).

Acute liver failure following acute viral hepatitis is uncommon with a reported incidence of 0.2 - 4 % depending on the underlying aetiology (19). Liver failure following viral hepatitis tends to run an acute or hyperacute course with the onset of encephalopathy occurring within days or weeks of the first symptoms (20).

Hepatitis A is now rare in the USA and Western Europe but is a common form of acute enterally transmitted hepatitis in the underdeveloped world where it is mainly a mild and self-limiting illness of children (20,21). The progression to acute liver failure is the lowest of all the hepatotrophic viruses. In the west the incidence of ALF following hepatitis A appears to be higher than in the endemic areas. It occurs more commonly in adults and is more severe. Persistent infection with hepatitis A has also been reported (22) even recurring following liver transplantation (23). Diagnosis is made on the basis of IgM antibodies at the time of hospitalization although false negatives can occur (24).

Hepatitis B may lead to ALF is several settings. It occurs most commonly following acute infection but can occur following an acute increase in viral replication following

immunosuppressive therapy such as cancer chemotherapy or steroids as well as with co-infection with other viral agents such as delta virus. The host immune response is thought to be responsible for the severity of reaction to the virus, subsequent clearance and the induction of acute liver failure. This can be seen following the withdrawal of immunosuppressive therapy when there is a very active immune response to the increased viral load. In acute infection surface antigen (HBsAg) is often negative but IgM antibodies to the viral core (HBcAb) will usually be positive. Mutations to the precore stop codon or the core promotor region of the viral genome may be associated with a higher incidence of ALF (25). These particular genes code for HBeAg and lack of this antigen is associated with a more profound immune response. There have been reports of a very high incidence of ALF associated with outbreaks of acute hepatitis B in the setting of intravenous drug use and chronic hepatitis C infection (26).

Hepatitis C, as a cause of acute liver failure, is rare in Northern Europe and the USA but has been described (27). There is a wide spectrum of clinical presentation associated with acute infection with the more florid presentation associated with a more rapid clearance rate suggesting the magnitude of the initial immune response is important (28). Liver failure associated with acute infection appears to be more common in India and the Far East (29). Acute infection may contribute to decompensation in patients with pre-existing liver disease and hepatitis C seropositivity may predispose to liver failure when co-infection with another hepatotrophic virus is present (29).

Hepatitis E is likely the most common cause of acute liver failure worldwide and is certainly true for the Indian subcontinent (29). In the Far East acute hepatitis B infection is the most common cause of ALF due to the high levels of endemicity (30).

The existence of hepatitis E was inferred before serological evidence was available by a process of exclusion. It was long assumed that most if not all epidemic enteric hepatitis was due to the A virus. When serological markers for hepatitis A became available in the early 1980's it was apparent that the majority of waterborne epidemic hepatitis were due to other agents, producing a syndrome similar clinically to hepatitis A (31). Hepatitis E does not produce a chronic infection and in the vast majority is a self-limiting infection that occurs most commonly in young adults, in contrast to hepatitis A, which is primarily an infection of children. The incidence of hepatitis E associated with ALF is small with a case related mortality reported at about 0.5 to 4% in the general population but with a much higher mortality in pregnancy, as high as 20% in the third trimester. Pregnancy itself appears to be a risk factor for ALF, with a quarter of all infected female patients reported as pregnant in one series. However, this may not be particular to hepatitis E but rather due to the high incidence of epidemic hepatitis E in a relatively immunosuppressed state (29). In the West, travel to endemic areas is a risk factor but sporadic cases are now being seen more commonly in the developed world. Some of these cases have been associated with contact with animals (32).

Sero-negative hepatitis is the second most common cause of ALF worldwide in most published series. In Northern Europe and USA it comes in behind paracetamol toxicity and in the developing world it is second to acute viral hepatitis. See figures 1 & 2.



Figure 1. Aetiology of Acute Liver Failure in USA 1998 - 2001 based on 17 centres.

Ostapowicz Ann Intern Med. 2002;137:947-954

Sero-negative hepatitis can be conveniently thought of as a single entity. In reality it is probably an amalgam of various causes including acute presentations of autoimmune hepatitis, idiosyncratic drug reactions and viruses (33,34). Sero-negative hepatitis has a variable clinical presentation including a slow insidious onset of general malaise, jaundice and ascites followed by progressive signs and

symptoms of liver failure. At presentation the patient may be deeply jaundiced, already have ascites and splenomegaly. It can also present with a hyperacute picture. The pattern of signs, symptoms and organ failure is dictated by the rate of progression. In subacute sero-negative hepatitis the presenting clinical picture can be similar to that of decompensated chronic liver disease, causing occasional diagnostic difficulty. A liver biopsy is sometimes needed to differentiate between the two.



Figure 2 Etiology of Acute Liver Failure in an Indian center 89-96. Khuroo & Kamili J

Viral Hepatitis 2003 10(3)

Acute presentation of autoimmune hepatitis.

Autoimmune hepatitis can occur at any time of life from childhood until old age. It is more common in women with a male to female ratio of 1:3. Presentation can be

asymptomatic, discovered following routine laboratory testing, or more commonly, present with jaundice and general malaise. In rare cases autoimmune hepatitis can present as acute liver failure (35). Unfortunately there are no serological tests with sufficient sensitivity or specificity to make the diagnosis certain. Patterns of markers in the right clinical setting and in the absence of other causes, may be useful (36). The diagnosis of autoimmune hepatitis in the setting of acute liver failure is difficult and a degree of uncertainty often lasts. Classically there is a combination of elevated immunoglobulin levels, autoantibodies and confirmatory histological evidence of hepatitis in the absence of active viral markers. Elevation of autoantibodies are often seen in patients with ALF due to other causes such as drug induced liver disease (35). Liver failure should be assessed in the same way as for other aetiologies and once signs of encephalopathy become apparent standard prognostic criteria apply. The role of steroids is unproven but should be considered in patients prior to the onset of encephalopathy. Once listed for transplantation steroid use is controversial because of increased risk of infection.

Drug Induced liver disease

The liver is a major site for drug metabolism in the body. Metabolism of xenobiotics (a chemical which is found in an organism but which is not normally produced or expected to be present in it (Wikipedia)) takes place in a series of specialized enzymes that increase the water solubility of lipophilic molecules by the incorporation of polar groups. Drug metabolism often involves a number of processes. Intermediates produced during the process are sometimes more toxic than the parent drug and can cause liver damage by a number of mechanisms.

Drug induced liver disease may be due to a known dose dependent toxicity as with paracetamol. Alternatively, unpredictable, rare, idiosyncratic reactions can occur with

any drug with a frequency of about 1 in 1000 to 1 in 100000 patient prescriptions (15). Drug induced liver failure can mimic all forms of acute and chronic liver disease. However the predominant clinical presentation consists of either acute hepatitis or cholestatic liver disease. The former has a reported mortality of 10% irrespective of the drug.

The patterns of injury associated with these idiosyncratic reactions relate to the mechanism of damage and the cells involved (37). Many patterns have been described but it is massive hepatic necrosis that most often presents as ALF. Liver failure associated with severe cholestasis and veno-occlusive disease is also seen (37).

Liver injury usually is seen within six months following the initiation of therapy. Even if the diagnosis of drug induced liver failure is considered, a search for other possible aetiologies should be performed. Although any drug is capable of inducing liver injury more common causes include herbal remedies and recreationally used drugs such as "ecstasy" and cocaine. If suspected, a comprehensive history with a timetable of drug initiation should be constructed. Management includes stopping the offending drug and supportive care. Transplantation should be considered once liver failure occurs as the outcome from drug induced liver failure, other than that induced by paracetamol can be poor (38). Presentation profiles for various drugs causing ALF are shown in Table 1.

Type of Reaction	Effect on Cells	Examples of Drugs
Hepatoce u ar	D rect effect or product on by	lson az d, trazodone, d c ofenac,
	enzyme drug adduct eads to ce	nefazodone, ven afax ne, ovastat n
	dysfunct on, membrane	
	dysfunct on, cytotox c T ce	
	response	
Cho estas s	Injury to cana cu ar membrane	Ch orpromaz ne, estrogen,
	and transporters	erythromyc n and ts der vat ves
Immunoa erg c	Enzyme drug adducts on ce	Ha othane, phenyto n,
	surface nduce IgE response	su famethoxazo e
Granu omatous	Macrophages, ymphocytes	D t azem, su fa drugs, qu n d ne
	nf trate hepat c obu e	
M croves cu ar fat	A tered m tochondr a resp rat on,	D danos ne, tetracyc ne,
	b ox dat on eads to act c ac dos s	acety sa cy c ac d, va pro c ac d
	and tr g ycer de accumu at on	
Steatohepat t s	Mu t factor a	Am odarone, tamox fen
Auto mmune	Cytotox c ymphocyte response	N trofuranto n, methy dopa, ovastat n,
	d rected at hepatocyte membrane	m nocyc ne
	components	
F bros s	Act vat on of ste ate ce s	Methotrexate, excess v tam n A
Vascu ar co apse	Causes schem c or hypox c njury	N cot n c ac d, coca ne,
		methy ened oxymethamphetam ne
Oncogenes s	Encourages tumor format on	Ora contracept ves, androgens
M xed	Cytop asm c and cana cu ar njury,	Amox c n c avu anate,
	d rect damage to b e ducts	carbamazep ne, herbs, cyc ospor ne,
		meth mazo e, trog tazone

Table 1 Idiosyncratic drug reactions and the cells that are affected (15)

Pregnancy induced liver disease

In general, pregnancy associated liver failure has the best prognosis when compared to all other causes of acute liver failure and prompt recovery can be expected with delivery of the fetus in most cases, if recognized early enough. Pregnancy associated liver failure can present in several ways including the syndromes of preeclampsia and the HELLP syndrome (hemolysis, elevated liver function tests and low platelets), liver rupture and acute fatty liver of pregnancy. Any cause of ALF can occur during pregnancy and in particular viral hepatitis can be particularly fulminant in its course. This is especially true for hepatitis E and herpes simplex virus infection.

Although originally thought to be a variant of pre-eclampsia there is evidence that HELLP syndrome may be a separate entity and in fact more related to acute fatty liver of pregnancy (39). Both HELLP and pre-eclampsia appear to be related to an endothelial injury, possibly immunologically initiated with activation of the coagulation and complement cascades and an imbalance of prostaglandin and thromboxane resulting in increased vascular tone, microangiopathic haemolytic anaemia and vascular thrombosis (40). HELLP is thought to occur in approximately 1 in every 1000 live deliveries and patients usually present in the 3rd trimester with non-specific signs often seen in pre-eclampsia such as weight gain due to oedema and hypertension. In addition, right upper quadrant pain accompanied by nausea and vomiting is commonly seen. Laboratory abnormalities include hyperbilirubinemia due to liver dysfunction and evidence of haemolysis. Transaminases are modestly raised and the platelet count is usually less than 100,000. Liver biopsy, while commonly normal in pre-eclampsia shows specific changes of periportal necrosis and fibrin microthrombi. Microvascular steatosis may also be present (40). The liver failure associated with HELLP is manifest as a prolonged prothrombin time and ascites.

Renal failure is common. Maternal mortality is low but foetal mortality is high between 20 and 60% (40,41). Treatment of choice is delivery of the baby. Conservative therapy is associated with an increase in both maternal and foetal complications.

Spontaneous rupture of the liver can occur in the setting of both pre-eclampsia and the HELLP syndrome although it can occur de-novo. It often presents with sudden onset of right upper quadrant pain accompanied by signs of hypovolaemia or shock and is more common in multiparous women (40). Spontaneous rupture of the liver has a high maternal and foetal mortality. Its pathogenesis is unclear but it appears that periportal haemorrhage associated with HELLP syndrome may occur close to the capsule resulting in lifting and bleeding into the potential space. These areas of the capsule then coalesce and rupture. Management of this devastating complication includes prompt delivery of the foetus, local surgical control with packs and aggressive management of the accompanying coagulopathy. Embolization of any feeding vessels in the liver may be of utility if such skills are available. Hepatectomy followed by liver transplantation can be lifesaving and has been performed.

Acute fatty liver of pregnancy (AFLP) occurs during the 3rd trimester of pregnancy and should be considered in any patient exhibiting signs of liver dysfunction. It is uncommon with an incidence of approximately 1 in 6659 live births (42). If left untreated maternal and foetal mortality are high. The treatment of choice is delivery and prompt recovery can then be expected. There is usually a prodromal illness over a couple of weeks with non-specific symptoms progressing to jaundice and encephalopathy. Symptoms and signs of pre-eclampsia or HELLP syndrome are seen in a third of cases and there is some evidence of a common aetiology due to a foetal fatty acid metabolism disorder (39). Diagnosis is critical and it should be differentiated from viral hepatitis or hepatic failure due to other causes. Liver biopsy can aid in the diagnosis and can be performed via the jugular route if coagulopathy precludes the conventional approach. Characteristic zone 3 microvesicular steatosis is seen. Delivery is the best treatment if diagnosed early. Characteristic features include normoblasts on blood smears and high serum urate. Bleeding can be a major problem during operative delivery. On occasion transplantation may be the only viable option.

Wilson's disease

Wilson's disease is a rare autosomal recessive disorder resulting from copper toxicity with primarily brain and liver manifestation. It usually presents in the second or third decade of life, although it can present from early childhood until late middle age (43). The disease can present with predominately liver or neurological symptoms. Neurological symptoms relate to the distribution of copper to the basal ganglia and result in movement disorders. Patients with liver disease may present with an active hepatitis, established cirrhosis or with acute liver failure. Other signs such as Kayser-Fleisher rings are associated but not pathognomonic for Wilson's disease. These are greenish-brown rings in the cornea resulting from deposition of copper.

Acute liver failure due to Wilson's Disease can present at any age but commonly present in the early 20's. High urinary copper excretion is possibly the most predictable laboratory finding, although the patient may be anuric on presentation. A low serum ceruloplasmin is an additional indicator, but again is unreliable in ALF. A high serum bilirubin in combination with modest elevations of transaminases and alkaline phosphatase is often seen, as is intravascular haemolysis, contributing to the raised bilirubin level. Patients with severe liver failure due to Wilson's disease have an almost 100% mortality without liver transplantation, which should be considered as soon as the diagnosis is made (43). There is debate as to whether liver failure secondary to Wilson's Disease is truly acute liver failure, as it does not fit the definition because cirrhosis is invariably present on liver biopsy at the time of presentation. Nevertheless, many patients have not been diagnosed at this point and the presentation of often acute and catastrophic. In this sense, the timing of the onset and the lack of previous symptoms, place fulminant Wilson's Disease in the ALF group.

Neoplastic infiltration

Infiltrating into the liver can occur with some cancers resulting in liver failure. In the majority the diagnosis is apparent as part of end stage carcinomatosis but rarely infiltration into the liver can occur de-novo and be the initial presentation. This occurs typically with lymphomas, but has been reported with other forms of cancer. Hepatosplenomegaly and a raised alkaline phosphatase are often present. Other stigmata including palpable lymphadenopathy and marrow or peripheral blood film changes may be present. Imaging may be diagnostic especially with massive hepatomegaly.

Budd-Chiari syndrome

ALF secondary to Budd-Chiari syndrome is usually fatal without transplantation. The syndrome is defined as outflow obstruction to the hepatic veins and the underlying pathogenesis is thrombosis in the majority but tumour invasion or vascular membrane obstruction may be the cause. This is a rare disorder that occurs predominantly in young adults and affects more women than men. Overall, 5-year survival varies from 50% to 80% in different series (44). Many patients with the syndrome have a predisposing disease state, either congenital or acquired, leading

to a clotting abnormality such as a malignancy, myeloproliferative disorders, protein C or S deficiency, polycythemia rubra vera, lupus anticoagulant, antithrombin III deficiency, antiphospholipid syndrome etc. (45). The fulminant form of the syndrome in which the patient develops encephalopathy within eight weeks of the onset of symptoms is rare and it is much more common for Budd-Chiari syndrome to present in a sub-acute form over a three or four month period, characterized by ascites, abdominal pain and hepatomegaly, jaundice, coagulopathy, raised AST and alkaline phosphatase. Others present with signs of portal hypertension, including refractory ascites and variceal bleeding, and relatively intact hepatocellular function. The diagnosis is made with a combination of clinical presentation and imaging, including Doppler ultrasound studies of the hepatic vessels, plus or minus liver histology, usually via the jugular route because of coagulopathy. The management of the syndrome depends on the manner in which it presents and the underlying cause. Medical management of the syndrome involves the use of anticoagulants and diuretics in an attempt to control ascites. Thrombolysis can be attempted in selected patients with recent onset disease (46). In patients in whom there is progression to signs and symptoms of liver cell failure some sort of porto-systemic shunting procedure may reduce symptoms and prevent progression of the disease, allowing time for collateral vessels to develop. Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt (TIPSS) is most often attempted unless there is evidence of a hypertrophied caudate lobe and IVC compression, making meso-atrial shunting a better option. In patients with signs of liver failure care must be used when considering a TIPSS procedure as this can precipitate decompensation and rapid progression to ALF (47). Liver transplantation is ultimately the only option in many patients in which there is a failure of medical and shunt therapy as well as in the fulminant presentation of the

syndrome (48). Anticoagulation is usually necessary in the immediate postoperative period.

Veno-occLusive disease of the liver

Veno-occlusive disease (VOD) of the liver is a relatively common complication of myeloablative chemotherapy induction regimens in preparation for bone marrow transplantation (BMT) being seen in up to 54% in some series (49). It was first described in children following the ingestion of herbal teas in South Africa. Pathologically it results from the non-thrombotic fibrous occlusion of centrolobular hepatic venules and it represents a non-specific response to certain nocuous stimuli. Certain induction regimens such as high dose cyclophosphamide and total body irradiation are implicated in the pathogenesis. The more aggressive induction regimens appear to result in a higher incidence of VOD. Recent reduction in incidence may be due to a reduction in the use of myeloablative regimens and better monitoring of plasma drug concentrations (50). The symptoms of VOD usually occur within two weeks of BMT. The development of jaundice, hepatomegaly, abdominal pain and encephalopathy in the setting of recent BMT strongly suggest the diagnosis. Severe cases are characterized by evidence of hepatocellular necrosis and a high AST concentration. In 25% of cases, which are characterized as severe, the syndrome is progressive leading to ALF (51). Treatment options in these patients are limited as the outcome is poor with medical management or liver transplantation, although there is hope that newer therapies such as defibrotide, if initiated early before the onset of multiple organ failure, may improve the outlook (50).

Ischemic hepatitis

In patients with chronic congestive heart failure (CCHF), liver congestion is common. This is usually manifest as mild abnormalities of liver function tests, a prolonged
prothrombin time and mild ascites in some. Hepatic congestion is usually clinically unapparent unless jaundice is present, which can occur following multiple bouts of CCHF. Chronic congestion can lead to fibrosis and ultimately cirrhosis in some patients. Acute rises in serum transaminase and prolongation in prothrombin time, representing acute hepatic necrosis, most commonly develops in patients with CCHF where there is a sudden drop in cardiac output due to an event such as an arrhythmia or myocardial infarction. It is relatively uncommon for the liver to become involved during shock states because of the huge redundancy in blood supply and the ability of the portal system to compensate for any reduction in hepatic arterial flow. If however, portal flow is already compromised due to passive congestion then an acute drop in hepatic blood flow can result in ischaemia. It is uncommon for ischaemic hepatitis to occur without a recognizable precipitant but it can occur due to a silent MI or arrhythmia for example. It can occur before the diagnosis of CCHF has been made or be the primary diagnostic event in a younger patient with a cardiomyopathy. Clinically, severe ischaemic hepatitis becomes apparent between 24 and 48 hours following an event and is manifest as huge rises in serum transaminase (up to 10 - 20 times normal). There is prolongation of the prothrombin time, encephalopathy, hypoglycaemia, jaundice and renal failure. The syndrome is usually self-limiting once the hemodynamic disturbance has receded and there is a rapid fall in serum transaminases (usually 50% in the first 72 hours) (52). Occasionally there is progressive liver cellular failure leading rapidly to death. Management should be aimed at investigating and supporting the cardiovascular system.

Heat stroke

Exertional heat stroke may occur in new recruits to the army or police force engaging in physical initiation programs. It can also occur in unacclimatized athletes in hot conditions or with drug overdoses such as cocaine. It is a potentially devastating syndrome that can lead to multiple organ failure and death. Liver involvement is usually seen as part of multi-system disorder. It ranges from mild involvement to ALF and is seen to develop during the first few days following the event. Management is supportive and the majority improve over a period of days to weeks. Liver transplantation has been used in severe cases but the outcome is poor due to coincident organ failure (53).

Mushroom poisoning

There are many types of poisonous fungi in the world that are responsible for a variety of disorders that can be classified according to the type of poisoning and the timing of onset (54).

There are a number of Fungi associated with the induction of liver failure following ingestion. Of these the most common and most deadly are of the genus *Amanita*. *Amanita* associated hepatotoxicity follows a triphasic response after ingestion. The first is a self-limiting, non-specific, gastrointestinal upset that occurs within the first 6 to 24 hours. Nausea and vomiting, abdominal cramps and diarrhoea are often seen and it can mimic food poisoning. This followed by a period of recovery and a few days later by progressive liver failure.

Management is essentially supportive, although, many specific therapies have been tried in the treatment of *amanita* toxicity such as high dose penicillin, silibinin, cimetidine and NAC, none have been shown to improve outcome. Liver

transplantation should be considered for patients with severe liver failure and standard criteria apply (54).

Early management of ALF

History and examination

The presentation and clinical course of acute liver failure depends on its aetiology and the rate of progression of the syndrome. This varies widely from admission via an emergency department following a paracetamol overdose or acute viral hepatitis versus admission from a hepatology outpatient department in a patient with progressive jaundice and ascites. Due to its relative rarity the diagnosis can often be missed during initial contact and this may detrimentally influence the outcome.

The history will initially focus on the rate of progression of the illness and any clues to the aetiology. The first symptoms are often the onset of jaundice (typically noticed by a relative). Any history of foreign travel or high-risk behavioural activity (IV drug use or unprotected intercourse) associated with the contraction of viral hepatitis should be investigated. A thorough drug history should be taken for prescribed and recreational drug use for the preceding six to ten weeks. Drug therapy, or recreational use that can induce or inhibit hepatic enzymes should be noted. If the patient is unable to provide this information their relatives, and the patients primary care physician should be contacted for help.

The history may be self-evident in the case of paracetamol hepatotoxicity, especially if the patient is self-presenting following deliberate self-harm. However, therapeutic misadventure, which is a relatively common cause of hepatotoxicity, may not be obvious unless considered by the physician. Any patient presenting with coma should have a drug screen (including paracetamol).

Subacute liver failure is, by definition, a more insidious onset. Jaundice is often preceded by non-specific symptoms of fatigue and general malaise. Abnormal liver enzymes will often be revealed during initial workup. Subsequent investigations will include viral, iron, copper and genetic studies and, in addition, attempt to rule out decompensation of chronic liver disease as a cause the current symptoms and signs. Liver biopsy may be considered in sub-acute liver failure.

Initial resuscitation and emergency care

Patients presenting with acute or hyperacute liver failure tend to follow a similar course irrespective of aetiology. Initial therapy and emergency care will be dictated by the condition of the patient at presentation. Liver failure is a multi-system disease and can progress very rapidly to multiple organ failure.

Patients presenting with rapidly progressive hepatic encephalopathy via the emergency care system will often be intubated and ventilated, at the time of or shortly after admission. The emergency physicians often perform a head CT scan because of diagnostic uncertainty (55).

The symptoms and signs of hepatic encephalopathy in acute liver failure are subjectively different from that seen in decompensated chronic liver disease or in patients with stable chronic encephalopathy. Agitation and aggressive behaviour is more common in acute liver failure. This may be based on an increase turnover of the excitatory neurotransmitter glutamate in ALF associated with an acute increase in cerebral ammonia uptake (56).

The West Haven criteria, designed to assess coma grade in patients with cirrhosis are often applied to patients with ALF and is useful because of its familiarity (57). However, once the patient becomes unconscious at grade IV encephalopathy, the

scale does not provide any further information and is too crude to provide a clinically useful description of the level of consciousness. The Glasgow coma score, while not assessed specifically in this setting is useful in relating clinical information to others (58). Encephalopathy grade can progress very quickly, especially with hyperacute presentation. Intubation and sedation is recommended once grade III encephalopathy is achieved because of the attendant risks to airway and possibilities of raised intracranial pressure see below.



figure 3 Hepatic encephalopathy grade in ALF

Early contact with a regional liver centre should be made in any patient with signs of acute severe liver dysfunction as serial blood results and clinical signs can be relayed to the centre over the phone. POD patients can often be managed over the phone but plans for transfer can be made well in advance if necessary. As liver failure progresses over the next several days, a number of organ systems may become affected.

Following the safe and appropriate management of airway and breathing focus can be directed to the correction of any circulatory dysfunction. Patients with ALF can progress rapidly to circulatory shock. The circulatory changes associated with ALF are predictable, usually associated with systemic vasodilatation and relative hypovolemia. This can be profound and require significant volume resuscitation. It is easy to underestimate the amount of fluid required in the early stages of ALF and the use of prognostic markers is unreliable before adequate circulatory function is resorted.. Monitoring at this stage should include a central venous catheter and direct arterial access for both blood pressure monitoring and for repeated blood tests. Care must be given to serum electrolytes because they often become deranged during this initial period. In particular hyponatraemia and hypophosphatemia are common (59–61). This may be due to excess quantities of hypotonic fluid administration. A typical flow sheet of investigations of a patient presenting with paracetamol poisoning from a referring hospital is shown in table 2.

Dates	7/10/2003	8/10/2003 am	8/10/2003 pm	9/10/2003 am
INR	2.08	3.17	3.79	6.2
Bilirubin	12	37		35
AST/ALT	273/223	8535/4254		15734/10060
Alk Phos				100
ALB	52	45		30
Glucose	4.1		7.5	5.2
Urea		5.5		3.0
Creatinine		86	83	128
рН		7.38	7.41	7.39
Lactate			5.4	

Table 2. 20 year old women intravenous drug user who took a 250 tablet overdose (500mg acetaminophen) the day before presentation at hospital. She received n-acetylcysteine 25 hours following OD. The patient was transferred and listed for transplantation.

Regardless of aetiology, patients with significant liver damage or signs of secondary organ dysfunction should be managed within the ICU. The speed at which patients deteriorate can be very rapid and it is not uncommon for hepatic encephalopathy to progress from grade 0 to grade IV over several hours.

For prognostic reasons it is important not to avoid correcting any biochemical coagulopathy at this stage if possible. Despite quite significant prolongation of prothrombin time, bleeding from line sites is uncommon in the initial stages of acute liver failure. In fact there is evidence that the patients are prothrombotic in vivo (62).

Investigation in a patient with suspected acute liver failure.

Initial investigations provide a baseline from which important diagnostic and prognostic information is taken. Serial blood test measurements should be performed as severity and prognosis are assessed over time from initial presentation (table 3). Dependent on the manner and speed of presentation, a complete blood count, clotting, liver function tests, arterial blood gases and ammonia should be performed twice daily, if not more often, in the early stages to assess progression of the illness. A liver ultra sound scan to assess liver size should be performed.

Investigations	Common findings		
Complete blood count	Platelets often low		
Urea and electrolytes	Serum sodium often low, especially in paracetamol		
	hepatotoxicity.		
	Urea often low due to reduced production. Serum		
	creatinine is a useful prognostic marker		
Liver enzymes	AST/ALT variable, very high in paracetamol		
	toxicity. Bilirubin is a prognostic marker in non-		
	paracetamol liver failure. Can also be high in		
	Wilson's due to haemolysis.		
Phosphate	Often low. Especially in paracetamol toxicity. Poor		
	prognostic sign if high, suggests lack of		
	regeneration.		
Magnesium	Often low		
Prothrombin time, international normalised	Very sensitive indicator of liver function. Has		
ratio (INR)	prognostic significance in all forms of acute liver		
	failure. May improve with vitamin K if deficient.		
Viral serology for all known hepatotrophic			
viruses			
Urinary copper, plasma ceruloplasmin if	Ceruloplasmin level often very low but can be		
Wilson's is suspected	normal. Urine copper is usually high.		
Arterial ammonia	Has some prognostic value and may be an		
	indicator of cerebral edema in patients at risk.		
Arterial whole blood lactate	Very sensitive marker for of liver function.		
	Particularly in paracetamol toxicity. High levels		

	indicative of poor prognosis.
Serum glucose	Hypoglycaemia common
Beta HCG in women	Unwanted pregnancy can be a precipitant of deliberate self-harm

Table 3 Initial investigation and common findings

Transfer criteria guide

Acute liver failure is a sporadic syndrome with a case incidence of about 2000 per year in the USA (63). Management is complex and liver transplantation is the only effective therapy in severe cases. Transfer to a unit with experience in the management of these patients, preferably one with a liver transplant program will provide optimal care. It is often difficult to decide when to or whether to transfer a patient with acute liver dysfunction and this will vary according to aetiology and presentation. The best described clinical course is that following severe paracetamol poisoning after a deliberate over dose (1). Staggered overdose and therapeutic misadventure are less well defined but the clinical and laboratory signs of severe disease are still present.

The following list of criteria for transfer are based on expert opinion and have not been subjected to rigorous study and errs on the side of caution (64).

- The INR is greater than 3.0 in non-paracetamol aetiologies.
- A prothrombin time in seconds greater than hours since paracetamol overdose.
 For example INR 2.6 at 24 hours, 4.9 at 48 hours, 7.8 at 72 hours post overdose.
- If the INR is still rising from day 3 and 4 following a timed paracetamol overdose.

- If there is an elevated creatinine (>200 µmol/l) with a significantly raised INR (>3) or acidosis in any patient with acute liver failure.
- Significant hypoglycaemia in any patient with ALF.
- Any evidence of encephalopathy in any patient with ALF.
- Anyone who is hypotensive (mean arterial pressure < 60mmHg) following fluid resuscitation (mean blood pressure = (systolic + 2 x diastolic/3).
- Anyone who has evidence of a persistent metabolic acidosis (pH<7.3), a significant base deficit (< -3), or a raised lactate, following volume resuscitation.

In patients with a subacute presentation it is better to transfer patients before they have progressed to Grade II encephalopathy because of the additional complications associated with transferring ventilated patients.

Patients with acute or hyperacute liver failure showing signs of early encephalopathy should be intubated and ventilated prior to transfer. This can occasionally result in disagreement between referring hospitals and receiving liver units on how the transfer should be managed. There are many anecdotal stories from liver units around the world describing patients that become unmanageable during transfer, in planes, helicopters and road ambulances resulting in injury to patients and staff.

Heroic transfers are almost always inappropriate. Patients should not be considered for transfer if they are on rapidly accelerating inotropic support, have severe hypoxemia or already have fixed dilated pupils. There is little point a patient dying in an ambulance.

Specialist Management

Supportive Care in the ICU

Airway and Ventilation

Patients with ALF that reach grade II or III encephalopathy require intubation and ventilation. This is usually necessary to provide safe management in the setting of increasing agitation, protection of the airway from stomach contents or transfer from peripheral hospitals. In patients with severe liver failure it can be expected that encephalopathy grade will progress and so waiting until some predefined stage before intubation often delays adequate resuscitation and monitoring.

Controlled ventilation to a normal PaCO₂ is recommended at this stage. The use of hyperventilation is not indicated without further monitoring (65,66).

Circulation

The circulatory changes associated with acute liver failure can be profound (67). The pathological basis for this are incompletely understood, but similar in many ways to changes observed in patients with a systemic inflammatory response due to sepsis or trauma. The pattern observed depends on the aetiology and the rate of onset of the syndrome. In hyperacute liver failure due to paracetamol OD, patients can develop fulminant peripheral cardiovascular collapse that can be an early mode of death (68). Others with a more subacute onset can develop peripheral vascular changes similar to those with decompensated chronic liver disease and hepatorenal failure. There is a loss of vascular tone resulting in peripheral vasodilatation. When compounded by vomiting, especially in POD, this results in both relative and actual hypovolaemia and hypotension.

Fluid resuscitation should be commenced as soon as possible after presentation and should be directed by invasive monitoring. The type of fluid used for resuscitation has not been subjected to controlled trial in this setting but it has been shown that hypertonic saline infusion reduces the incidence of intracranial hypertension in patients with ALF (59). Hypoglycaemia should be avoided.

If following adequate fluid resuscitation mean arterial pressure remains less than 65 mmHg a vasopressor should be commenced. Norepinephrine is the vasopressor of choice as it induces vasoconstriction without the induction of lactate production as often seen with the use of epinephrine. Although epinephrine has been used in this setting successfully.

Vasopressin and its longer acting analogue terlipressin have been used as vasopressors in septic and cardiogenic shock (69,70). Terlipressin results in profound systemic vasoconstriction and has the potential to result in a worsening in oxygen delivery and consumption. It has been shown to increase intracranial hypertension in ALF due to an increase in cerebral blood volume because of the breakdown in cerebro-vascular autoregulation (71). Due to its relatively long half-life and difficulty with dosing, and the association with increased intracranial hypertension the use of terlipressin cannot be recommended.

The majority of patients presenting with ALF are young adults and as a result comorbid cardiac dysfunction is usually absent. Cardiac depression has been reported in association with POD (68). On occasion cardiac disease can present as acute liver failure in the case of ischaemic hepatitis. (Previously discussed)

Relative adrenal insufficiency has been shown to occur in patients with septic shock and more recently in patients with decompensated chronic liver disease and ALF (72–75). The use of stress doses of corticosteroids in ALF has been shown to reduce norepinephrine requirements in patients with ALF (76).

Renal

Renal failure is common in acute liver failure with a reported incidence of up to 70% (77). Paracetamol causes direct renal tubular dysfunction, possibly by effecting membrane protein function and occasionally renal failure is the predominant organ effected (78,79). As a result renal failure can be expected in this setting. Although it is most commonly associated with POD the incidence in other aetiologies, such as Wilson's disease due to the direct toxic effects of copper, is also high.

There is a lack of consensus regarding the classification and definition of renal dysfunction in the critically ill although attempts are being made to remedy this situation (80). The term "acute tubular necrosis" is inadequate in the setting of critical illness where it fails to describe the full spectrum of renal dysfunction. This is even truer in the setting of acute liver failure. In addition, the use of the term hepatorenal syndrome in acute liver failure is also inappropriate because this definition does not adequately describe the often rapid in clinical deterioration. This is not to say that altered systemic and renal haemodynamics do not contribute to the pathophysiology of renal failure as they do in critical illness in general. In the subacute presentation of this syndrome early renal dysfunction can be similar in presentation to that seen in end stage chronic liver disease with sodium and water retention in the absence of intrinsic renal damage (81).

Management of renal failure is essentially the same as in ALF and other forms of multiple organ failure and consists of maintenance of intravascular volume, cardiac output and mean arterial pressure (63).

Extracorporeal renal support is necessary in most patients with ALF at some time. Continuous veno-venous hemofiltration (CVVH) is the most efficient and safest method for renal support and should be started early (82). Indications for the early use of renal support are not just limited to oliguria. CVVH has been shown to improve haemodynamic stability in patients with critical illness and has been used as salvage therapy in patients on high dose vasopressor. Survival advantage relative to dose has also been shown (83). In addition it can be used to induce hypothermia in the setting of raised intracranial pressure. It also enables the infusions of large quantities of blood products and drugs, often required during intensive care, helping to maintain fluid balance. High volume haemofiltration (4000 ml/hr ultrafiltrate exchange) has been studied in ALF and shown to reduce serum lactate, base deficit and norepinephrine requirements, when compared to historical controls, although survival benefit has not been shown (84).

Patients with liver failure do not tolerate the lactate load associated with lactate buffered replacement fluid during CVVH. In fact the rapid infusion of lactate can induce a systemic acidosis in this setting (85). Also the infusion of large quantities of lactate containing fluid reduces the utility of serum lactate as one of the most important prognostic indicators (86). As a consequence the use of bicarbonate haemofiltration is recommended (87).

CVVH can often be performed successfully without anticoagulation in ALF. Patients with ALF appear to be hypercoagulable, in vivo, despite prolonged coagulation parameters. This may be due to a reduction in protein C production (62). If required, a loading dose of 2000 units of heparin and thereafter 500 to 1000 units an hour depending on the activated clotting time, can be used if needed to allow CVVH. If bleeding is a problem or there is severe thrombocytopaenia, epoprostenol should be

instituted (2.5 - 5ng/kg/min) either alone or in association with low dose heparin (100units/hr). Blood flow rates of 200 ml/min and above will help with filter life.

Cerebral care

Aetiology

Cerebral oedema was noted and commented on in the seminal clinico-pathological review of servicemen presenting with fulminant epidemic hepatitis during the East Asian campaign of the Second World War (2). However the recognition that cerebral oedema was a distinct clinical entity and cause of death associated with ALF did not become clear until much later (88,89).

The recognition that brain swelling is an important component of ALF is now well established. Management strategies place the risk of intracranial hypertension at the forefront of care and prophylactic therapy, monitoring and treatment and are widely debated in the literature (90,91).

The pathology of cerebral oedema and intracranial hypertension in ALF are not completely understood but in recent years progress has been made into the processes involved (92). Ammonia has long been implicated as important in hepatic encephalopathy and, as the evidence mounts, increasingly recognized has an important factor in the aetiology of cerebral oedema in ALF (93). Recent work has shown that whole blood ammonia predicts outcome and the chances of cerebral herniation (94,95). Electron-microscopic analysis of post-mortem brain biopsy together with gravimetric analysis of brain water content, in animal models, have shown that swelling occurs in the grey matter and that astrocytes are the main target (96,97). Ammonia is detoxified in astrocytes by combining with glutamate to produce glutamine. Astrocytes are the only cell type in the brain that contains glutamine

synthetase and this normal pathway maintains the ratio of glutamate to glutamine within astrocytes and neurons. The raised serum ammonia induces a build-up of glutamine within astrocytes, increasing the osmotic potential, absorption of water and an increase in volume. Evidence of this effect can be inferred by the fact that inhibition of glutamine synthetase, which catalyses the reaction, prevents brain swelling in experimental models (98). An osmotic effect may not be the only mechanism by which glutamine induces cellular swelling however, but there is circumstantial evidence that it occurs to some extent. In subacute and chronic liver disease there is time for adaptation to the increase in astrocyte osmotic potential by the excretion of intracellular osmolytes such as myo-inositol (99). In ALF there is no time for adaptation because of the rapid increase in intracellular glutamine. Recently, however, the direct correlation between astrocyte glutamine levels and cell volume has been questioned. Experimental data has not been able to show a correlation between the two, with peak glutamine levels occurring before cellular volume reaches its maximum (100,101). Clinical study using cerebral microdialysis has shown abnormal glutamate/glutamine trafficking within the brain extracellular space with initial high levels of glutamate but then a reduction to very low levels without any correlation with intracranial pressure (56). Extracellular lactate concentration was shown to rise prior to surges in ICP, however (56).

A breakdown in cellular energy metabolism induced by an increase in intracellular glutamine and ammonia is another possible mechanism for the cellular swelling. Impairment of alpha-ketoglutarate dehydrogenase and pyruvate dehydrogenase induced by oxidative stress and ammonia results in a breakdown in astrocyte energy production, and an increase in glycolysis. This is supported by an increase in extracellular lactate and brain lactate flux in clinical studies (56,65). Mitochondrial dysfunction induced by ammonia may also play a role (93).

In addition to the cytotoxic oedema seen early in ALF, changes in cerebral blood volume may play an important role in the development of intracranial hypertension. Cerebral blood flow shows wide variation in patients with ALF and the normal close relationship between cerebral metabolism and flow appears to be lost (102). In animal models of liver failure there is a gradual increase in cerebral blood flow but this situation is less clear in human studies (92,103). Cerebral metabolism is generally reduced in high-grade encephalopathy because of the breakdown in autoregulation. There is evidence that relative or absolute cerebral hyperaemia can contribute to intracranial hypertension (71,104). An increase in cerebral blood flow may induce intracranial hypertension by a number of mechanisms and induce further cerebral swelling. This could occur due to an increase flux of potentially toxic metabolites such as ammonia or by an increase in cerebral water content because of an increase in cerebrovascular hydrostatic pressure. Neither of these hypotheses has been proven and the evidence suggests that the blood brain barrier is relatively intact in ALF suggesting that hydrostatic or vasogenic oedema is uncommon (97). Autoregulation is lost in ALF (103,105). The cause is unknown but a gradual cerebral vasoparesis concurs with clinical observation. Autoregulation can be restored by hyperventilation and mild hypothermia but not by the use of indomethacin (106). It has been suggested that the increase in astrocyte glutamine plays a role in this gradual vasoparalysis and loss of autoregulation by the induction of local nitric oxide or carbon monoxide (92). It is a relatively common to find a patient with a high ICP and jugular venous oxygen saturation above 80%. This suggests a state of "luxury" perfusion" (unregulated blood supply in excess of demand) in which an increase in

cerebral blood volume in an already swollen brain accounts for the associated increase in intracranial pressure (107).

Management

In the management of intracranial hypertension (IHT) in acute liver failure it is important to target those at risk. Intracranial hypertension remains a leading cause of death despite advances in the understanding of aetiology and management of patients (108,109). Monitoring the brain is difficult and invasive. Despite investigation a reliable non-invasive method for the evaluation of cerebral blood flow, cerebral oxygenation, and intracranial pressure remains elusive (110). There are important points that need to be considered when managing a patient with ALF and possible raised intracranial pressure:

- Prediction of patients at risk of IHT
- How to monitor the brain
- Prophylactic management
- Treatment of established IHT

Predicting IHT

In acute liver failure the development of cerebral oedema is seen in patients with the shortest time between the development of jaundice and the onset of encephalopathy (1). A fulminating presentation, lack of time for cerebral adaptation and systemic burden of a necrotic liver appear to be the likely reasons. Patients with paracetamol toxicity make up the largest number in this group. Other aetiologies can fall into the hyperacute group including patients with ALF due to hepatotrophic viruses particularly hepatitis B. In contrast patients with subacute liver failure due to NANB have a smaller risk.

It has been suggested that the incidence of intracranial hypertension following paracetamol toxicity has fallen since the mid nineteen eighties (111). However it still represents a significant complication in this setting. Recent work from King's College Hospital in London suggests an incidence of 20 – 30% in all patients with ALF (108). Data from our own unit suggests that intracranial hypertension is implicated in the death of 25% of all patients with ALF and 35% of those following paracetamol induced toxicity (109).

Young age has consistently been found to be a risk factor (88,108). Arterial ammonia concentration has been shown to correlate with death and cerebral herniation (94,95,112). Recent commentary suggests that arterial ammonia should be measured serially in all patients with ALF and intracranial pressure monitoring be instituted if the concentration is greater or equal to 150 µmol/l (107).

Monitoring the brain

There are a number of monitoring devices and methods that can be undertaken to screen for raised intracranial pressure or cerebral ischaemia or both. Some of these are more invasive than others and the possible risks and benefits need to be understood.

Computerized tomography is a standard investigation in any patient with suspected intracranial pathology. Cerebral oedema can be recognized in CT scans of patients with ALF and the severity correlates crudely to encephalopathy grade but the correlation between imaging and severity of intracranial pressure measurement is poor (113,114). As little additional information is gained very careful consideration should be undertaken before transporting this very sick group of patients to the CT scanner. Occasionally there are diagnostic difficulties or a suspected complication of ICP bolt insertion and CT scanning might be considered.

Functional brain imaging, using single positron emission tomography (SPECT) has been used to investigate the distribution of cerebral blood flow in ALF and MRI scanning has been used to investigate the distribution of intracerebral water but neither has found a place in clinical practice (66,115).

In patients with suspected intracranial hypertension the direct monitoring of cerebral oxygenation and blood flow are appealing but current methods have technical and clinical limitations. Tissue PO₂ and interstitial metabolites, using intra-parenchymal probes, have been investigated in traumatic brain injury and to a limited extent in ALF (56,116). They have the advantage in traumatic injury of providing localized information around the area of injury. The use of cerebral microdialysis (sampling of the cerebral interstitial fluid using a micro-coaxial catheter with a semi-permeable membrane) remains a research tool in ALF at the present time.

Methods used for the estimation of global cerebral oxygenation include the sampling of jugular venous (JV) blood for oxygen saturation, and products of metabolism such as lactate. A jugular venous saturation of less than 55% suggests an ischaemic brain. This can be due to a reduction in blood flow in excess of demand because of brain swelling or cerebral vasoconstriction due to hypocarbia, if the patient is being hyperventilated. An increase in demand due to seizure activity can also manifest as a reduction in jugular venous saturation (117). High jugular saturation (> 80%) may represent a hyperaemic brain and steps can be made to reduce cerebral blood volume if ICP is raised. Very high JV saturation is often seen as a terminal event and may represent a complete loss of oxygen extraction by the brain. Near infrared spectroscopy is a non-invasive technique used to assess the oxygen content of various organs. It can be used to determine cerebral oxygenation and changes in cerebral perfusion in ALF and warrants further investigation (118).

Non-invasive measurement of cerebral blood flow using transcranial Doppler has been investigated in ALF and found to be predictive of changes in cerebral blood flow induced by hyperventilation; however the technique does not provide data on cerebral oxygenation and so could not be recommended without the addition of a jugular venous catheter (119).

The recognition that intracranial pressure is raised in a significant proportion of patients with acute liver failure and that this is implicated in significant morbidity and mortality has led to the use of direct measurement of intracranial pressure with various forms of monitor (88,120). These techniques, while fully supported internationally in traumatic brain injury, are controversial in the field of acute liver failure and there remains a dichotomy of opinion in most countries with some units using them and others not (90,91,121).

Controversy revolves around the lack of evidence of improved outcome with the monitoring of intracranial pressure and the risk of intracranial bleeding complicating insertion. The reported risk of bleeding, from survey data, is between 10 and 20% overall, the majority of which is not clinically significant. Mortality has been reported at between 1 and 3%, (Alistair Lee, Edinburgh UK, personal communication) (120,121). The risk of bleeding following placement is higher than that seen following traumatic brain injury. There is uncontrolled evidence that activated factor VII can reduce this risk (122).

It has not been possible to prove that intracranial pressure monitoring improves survival in ALF, as a RCCT has not been performed to evaluate it. However, it is generally accepted that medical intervention can reduce intracranial pressure and prevent cerebral ischaemia and brain herniation in patients with acute liver failure (107). Published data suggests that having an ICP monitor increases the intervention rate compared to patients without, and increases the length of survival in the critical care unit, if not overall survival (123). The majority of patients with ALF die of multiple organ failure due to sepsis. Intervention to reduce ICP may just prevent early cerebral death.

While the risks of monitoring are documented the risks of not monitoring are less clear. Without monitoring intracranial pressure there is a tendency toward therapeutic paralysis because of uncertainty and to manage all patients as if they had raised intracranial pressure. The reassurance of a normal ICP enables a reduction in sedation and paralysis. It enables tracheal suctioning and other nursing care without the uncertainty of worsening an unknown ICP. With ICP monitoring modest increases in ICP can be treated early before clinical signs suggest impending brain herniation. Monitoring ICP enables the calculation of cerebral perfusion pressure and together with the monitoring of jugular oxygen saturation allows a more complete picture of cerebral perfusion and oxygenation. The use of intracranial pressure monitoring has been advocated in the setting of liver transplantation for ALF and, of course, enables continued clinical research into the management of cerebral oedema.



Figure 4 Initial management of patient with high-grade encephalopathy



Figure 5 Monitoring cerebral oxygenation with jugular bulb sampling

Prophylactic measures

In patients at high risk of cerebral oedema a number of prophylactic interventions have been shown to reduce the incidence of intracranial hypertension.

Serum sodium is often low in patients with ALF. In a consecutive group of patients with ALF from POD admitted to King's liver intensive care unit, 65% were hyponatraemic on arrival (Will Bernal personal communication). Hyponatremia is associated with a poor outcome in ALF (124). Based on retrospective data showing an inverse relationship between intracranial pressure and serum sodium in patients with ALF, moderate hypernatraemia was investigated as a possible prophylactic intervention (59,125). Maintaining serum sodium between, 145 to 155 mmol/l using hypertonic saline was found to reduce ICP from baseline and reduce the incidence of surges in intracranial pressure (59). Hypothermia improves outcome following out of hospital cardiac arrest and has been investigated in patients with traumatic brain injury. Early reports suggest hypothermia can reduce ICP and ammonia production in patients with ALF. Prophylactic hypothermia is currently being investigated in this setting. Simple measures such as raising the head of the bed to a thirty-degree angle and the avoidance of excessive stimulation are also prudent.

Cerebral perfusion pressure

In traumatic brain injury there is a consensus of opinion supporting the use of cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) as a treatment goal (126). In ALF the concept of CPP directed therapy is less useful. To assume a correlation with cerebral blood flow here has to be a consistent cerebrovascular resistance and this is not the case in ALF (107). This is due to the loss of cerebrovascular autoregulation and attempts to increase cerebral perfusion are often unsuccessful as the use of a vasopressor results in an increase in ICP as brain blood volume increases (71,127). However this is not to say that CPP should be ignored entirely but the safe lower limit of CPP has yet to be defined, as there are many reports of patients surviving with normal cerebral function despite a low CCP (128). The normal lower limit of cerebral

autoregulation is reached at a mean arterial blood pressure of about 50 mmHg, below which flow becomes pressure dependent. In patients with absent autoregulation, such as in ALF, CCP should probably be maintained above 40 mmHg (the normal lower limit of autoregulation with an ICP of 10 mmHg or less) but no data exists to back this statement up. Maintenance of CPP in ALF is best achieved by decreasing ICP and aiming for a mean arterial pressure with fluid and vasopressor that does not increase ICP above 25 mHg. Attempting to improve cerebral oxygen balance is also attractive in this setting. This may be attempted with intravenous indomethacin (has been shown to improve CPP without compromising cerebral oxygenation), hypothermia, increased sedation and hyperventilation (106,129–131). Monitoring cerebral oxygenation is very useful during such a manoeuvre (107).

General management of patients with raised intracranial pressure

In patients at risk of or with suspected cerebral oedema prophylactic measures should be instituted. The decision to insert an ICP bolt or not will have to be made by the clinical team. If inserted there is the potential to manage intracranial pressure. Intracranial pressure is normally less than 15 mmHg in an adult. The definition of intracranial hypertension is not precise and will vary between patients. Available data are derived from patients with traumatic brain injury (TBI) where observational studies suggest that intervention to reduce pressure should be instituted between 20 and 25 mmHg, although pupillary abnormalities and brain herniation can occur at lower pressures (132). There have not been any studies investigating treatment threshold in ALF and so similar thresholds to TBI are used.

The management of intracranial hypertension is usually escalated along standard algorithms [see figures 4,5,6]. Elevate the patient to an angle of 30 degrees and avoid tight straps around the neck to encourage venous drainage. ICP tends to increase during nursing intervention. If this takes more than a couple of minutes to recover it can suggest poor intracranial compliance. Treatment is usually instituted for a sustained rise in ICP (> 5 to 10 mmHg minutes) or clinical signs suggesting cerebral ischaemia or impending herniation. Sedation should be increased. Propofol is probably the agent of choice (110). Osmotherapy is the mainstay of treatment following these simple measures. Mannitol as a rapid infusion (0.5 - 1.0 g/kg) has been shown to reduce ICP reliably in ALF (133). The dose can be repeated but care must be used in renal failure due to accumulation and multiple administrations can result in a hyperosmolar syndrome. Plasma osmolality should be monitored if multiple doses are used. Current practice is to remove 500 ml of ultrafiltrate via CVVH following each bolus dose of mannitol. Bolus doses of 20ml hypertonic saline (30%) has a similar effect to mannitol in this setting (personal observation). Hypertonic saline has a higher reflectance coefficient at the blood brain barrier (BBB) compared to mannitol and there appears to be less tachyphylaxis to multiple administration (59).

In patients with a raised ICP and cerebral hyperaemia, suggested by a jugular venous oxygen saturation of 80% or greater (luxury perfusion), short-term hyperventilation will induce cerebral vasoconstriction and reduce blood volume. This manoeuvre has been shown not to impair cerebral oxygenation but close monitoring of cerebral oxygenation should be employed if it is attempted (131). Short-term hyperventilation has not been shown to improve outcome in ALF but does prolong survival in the intensive care unit (134). Hyperventilation may be lifesaving and buy

time for definitive treatment (transplantation). Indomethacin induces cerebral vasoconstriction and reduces ICP in patients with both TBI and ALF without impairing cerebral oxygenation although confirmatory studies are needed (106).



Figure 6 management of a sustained rise in ICP

Seizures

Ammonia toxicity and cerebral oedema are associated with seizure activity and it has been recognized that sub-clinical seizures occur more commonly than previously thought (117). The use of mechanical ventilation facilitated by sedatives and muscular paralysis can mask clinical signs. Seizures adversely affect cerebral oxygen consumption and may contribute to cerebral oedema and are a cause of low jugular oxygen saturation. It has been suggested that prophylactic phenytoin be used in all patients with ALF and high-grade encephalopathy. Others have questioned this approach because of the significant side effects and apparent lack of effect on outcome (135). If confirmed seizure activity should be managed along standard management guidelines.

Infection and immunosuppression

Patients with acute liver failure have multiple immune defects and are susceptible to infections (136). Infection is a common cause of progression and complication in ALF (137). Antibiotic prophylaxis has been shown to reduce the incidence of infection and enable transplantation to proceed but has not been shown to improve survival. Selective decontamination of the digestive tract has not been shown to be superior to IV antibiotics alone (136,138).

It is current practice to prescribe broad spectrum antibacterial and antifungal medication to patients with acute liver failure depending on local sensitivities. There is a general trend to the timing of infection with Gram-positive infections occurring earlier than Gram negative. Early Gram negative infections tend to be less resistant "endogenous" bacteria followed later by resistant hospital acquired organisms (139).

Nutrition

Within the general intensive care literature there is a consensus toward enteral nutrition (EN) as the route of choice (140). There is little additional data on which to base decisions in patients with ALF. There is however wide regional variation in the prescribing of parenteral nutrition (PN) compared to EN. The reason for this is unclear as EN is associated with a reduction in infectious complications (140). However it is clear some centres prefer PN (141).

Nutritional requirements in ALF are not well understood. Energy expenditure is raised during ALF. This is surprising considering the normal contribution of the liver, a large metabolically active organ, on the overall energy expenditure, illustrated by the effects of hepatectomy on energy expenditure during elective liver transplantation (142). There is organ specific lactate production in both the liver and the lungs and evidence of a systemic inflammatory response in many patients (137,143,144). The cause of systemic inflammation in ALF is activation of inflammatory cells (leucocytes and endothelium) and the release of systemic cytokines. This may be initiated by infection (137). Patients in the early stages of ALF are markedly catabolic with insulin resistance despite the often presence of a hypoglycaemic state (145). The Harris-Benedict equation is inaccurate in ALF and indirect calorimetry should be used if energy requirements are sought.

Hypoglycaemia is common due to the failure of both glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis. Massive hepatic necrosis can result in a precipitous fall in serum glucose concentration. For this reason an infusion of 50% glucose should be used at least until feeding is established. Low volume, high concentrations of glucose are preferred to reduce the infusion of large quantities of water and the resultant hyponatraemia if lower concentrations are used.

Serum amino acids are consistently deranged during liver failure. There is a low or normal concentration of glutamine, branched chain amino acids and tryptophan and an increase in others (146). High brain concentration of ammonia is thought to contribute to cerebral oedema and encephalopathy in ALF. Manipulation of ingested amino acids has been investigated in an attempt to reduce ammonia concentration. L-ornithine & L-arginine (LOLA) infusion encourage alternate pathway metabolism and reduce hepatic encephalopathy in chronic liver disease (147). LOLA has been investigated in animal models of ALF and resulted in normalization of plasma ammonia concentration, significant delay in the onset of encephalopathy and a reduction in brain water concentration (148). This simple treatment method has not been investigated in ALF but would seem to warrant further investigation. N-acetylcysteine (NAC) is primarily used as a glutathione precursor and antidote in paracetamol poisoning but is used widely in patients with ALF induced by other causes and later on in its subsequent course. Evidence is lacking for its use outside the first twenty-four hours post paracetamol poisoning.

There is little evidence that protein restriction has any role in ALF and protein requirements based on total calorie ingestion should be used. It has been suggested that lactulose therapy may reduce ammonia concentration and increase survival time in patients with ALF but this needs confirmation and cannot be recommended at this time (149).

Serum electrolytes are often deranged in the early stages of ALF. Hypophosphatemia is common in patients with acute liver failure and is a good prognostic sign. High or normal phosphate may indicate a lack of hepatic regeneration and renal impairment and is associated with a poor outcome (60). Hypomagnesaemia is also common and should be corrected.

Artificial liver support

At the present time liver transplantation is the only form of definitive therapy for severe hepatic failure. However, the scarcity of organs and potential for delay in transplantation, together with a proportion of patients that will make a full recovery if supported while the liver regenerates suggest that there would be a role for some kind of liver support system.

The liver is a complex organ and to be an ideal liver replacement any system has to support a wide range of biosynthetic and metabolic functions (see box: functions of the liver, page 69). Any working system will also have to counter the systemic toxic effects of the dying liver (55).

Artificial liver support can be split into two main approaches. In the first there is an attempt to simulate or replace all or most of the functions of the liver. These systems include hepatocytes either from human or animal sources. Another view of liver failure suggests that toxins either excreted by the dying liver or not metabolised because of an acute reduction in function are responsible for the majority of the signs and symptoms. In this view extracorporeal blood purification with dialysis or adsorption techniques are employed and serum proteins not produced are replaced with plasma.

Functions of the liver

- Excretion of bilirubin, cholesterol, hormones, and drugs
- Metabolism of fats, proteins, and carbohydrates
- Enzyme activation
- Storage of glycogen, vitamins, and minerals,

Biological systems

Biological systems consist of a bioreactor within which the cellular biomass is contained, and a mechanism of containing the biomass away from the circulation of the patient. They require an extracorporeal system to deliver blood or plasma to the bioreactor and may also contain an adsorption or dialysis component. Data from liver resection suggests that approximately 250 ml of liver by volume is required to prevent death from liver failure. This typically represents 20 – 30% of liver mass (150). More may be needed to counter the systemic effects of a dying necrotic liver.

Possible cell types to use as the biomass include animal or human primary hepatocytes or other forms of cell line with hepatocyte phenotype. Primary hepatocytes outperform other cells lines but are of limited availability and tend to have a time dependent loss of hepatic phenotype. In addition, scaling up production with primary hepatocytes is difficult as they do not readily undergo cell division under lab conditions. Instead they have to be directly seeded into the bioreactor either immediately following harvest or following a period of storage and cryo-preservation. Human cells are limited in availability but can be obtained from unused livers and cut down grafts. Theoretically, animal cells are readily available but uncertainty about possible cross infection from animal pathogen to the patient with organisms such as PERV (porcine endogenous retrovirus) and incompatibility of secreted antigens render them far from ideal and regulatory authorities are often reluctant sanction their use.

Immortalized cell lines that proliferate in culture, while retaining some liver specific functionality can be used in an attempt to overcome the limitations of primary hepatocytes. Many lines have been created by retroviral transfection with regulatory genes that stimulate cell division. The insertion of "terminator" genes that give the cells a limited life or enable switching of the immortalizing gene off have also been developed to improve safety (151). Other sources of immortal and readily cultured cells are tumour derived such as the ubiquitous Hep G2/C3A hepatoblastoma line. Finally, stem cell sources appear to offer the most hope in terms of a readily available and functional supply of differentiated hepatocytes (152).

Clinical trials in the use of bioartificial liver support have been relatively disappointing. The Bio-Artificial Liver (BAL) uses porcine hepatocytes and a charcoal column in series. The largest trial published so far in the field was powered for survival advantage in ALF and primary non-function following liver transplantation (153). The study was terminated early by the data and safety-monitoring board because the trail was likely to be futile based on the results at interim analysis (153). Post hoc analysis suggested some effect in the ALF group alone. The Extracorporeal Liver Assist Device (ELAD) system uses Hep G2/C3A hepatoblastoma line and has been investigated in a number of phase 1 studies designed to report safety and activity (154,155). The most recent was a randomized controlled study, not powered for mortality, and showed a trend for improved survival in the treatment group (155). Other small case series and controlled trials with various systems have been reported over the last ten years (156–158).

Non-biological

Many of the molecules that accumulate within the blood during ALF are small or middle-sized (55). These can be targeted by a variety of extracorporeal purification techniques, including dialysis through various types of membrane and adsorption onto carriers such as charcoal, resins or albumin.

Non-biological systems are attractive as they are relatively inexpensive (compared to biological) and logistically much easier to implement.

Early work with haemodialysis was unsuccessful and was largely abandoned with the conclusion that the toxaemia of ALF was not due solely to small water-soluble molecules. The advent of synthetic membranes in the 1970's rekindled the interest in convective therapy for ALF. These allowed larger molecule to pass through compared to the cuprophane alternatives. Opolon reported clinical improvement with the use of high-permeability membrane haemodialysis and haemofiltration in patients with ALF (159). Haemofiltration, as a form of renal support, is used in most liver critical care units as part of general supportive care and there is some evidence that increased convective exchange, with high volume (> 35 ml/kg/hr) haemofiltration, is associated with improved haemodynamic stability and improved encephalopathy scores (84,159).

Charcoal hemoperfusion has been extensively investigated. Initial trials were encouraging but latter larger randomized controlled trials were unable to show an improvement in outcome (77). Large volume plasma exchange showed some improvement in haemodynamics and other parameters in initial studies (160). The
therapy is logistically difficult to perform and like total exchange transfusion is an inefficient method of clearing the toxaemia of ALF.

In an attempt to improve the efficacy of dialysis techniques adsorbents have been added to the dialysis fluid to widen the range of molecules removed. The two most extensively studied are charcoal suspension in the BioLogic-DT[™] system and 20% albumin in the MARS system.

Both the BioLogic-DT and MARS have been shown to improve blood pressure, increase vascular resistance and improve short term encephalopathy scores in patients with acute on chronic liver failure (AOCLF). The results of studies into their utility in ALF is less clear cut with inconsistent results from small uncontrolled series and case reports. With MARS[™] therapy there appears to be an increase in peripheral vascular resistance and concomitant reduction in cardiac index in the short term. There does not appear to be any consistent effect on intracranial hypertension (161,162). Similar results have been reproduced with high volume hemofiltration pointing to the need for comparative randomized controlled trials (84). Meta-analysis of all randomized controlled trials in non-biological liver support concluded that there is an improvement in short term mortality in acute on chronic liver failure but that this could not be shown in ALF (163,164).

Liver transplantation

When and whom to transplant

Liver transplantation for ALF was used sporadically during the 1980's but gained pace from the late 80's and has a huge impact. It remains the only definitive form of therapy for some. Timing is important, and in those with severe liver injury there is a window of opportunity beyond which transplantation often becomes futile because of deteriorating organ function (165). It was recognized early in the history of transplantation for ALF that the challenge was to develop robust prognostic indicators. These have to be sensitive, early enough to provide maximum advantage to the patient and specific enough not to result in unnecessary transplants.

A "super-urgent" designation exists in the national transplant sharing scheme in the UK and a similar "category 1A" designation in the USA – see http://www.unos.org/ for details. These categories recognize the role of early transplantation in ALF and the detrimental effect of delay in this setting.

In the UK, the super-urgent designation (see table 5) is closely linked to the prognostic score developed in King's College Hospital in the late 80's using retrospective multivariate analysis with prospective validation (166). The prognostic criteria have been subsequently validated in other centres and shown to be robust (167). Other criteria have been developed (168).

The criteria are not perfect. Firstly, despite their good specificity i.e. if the patient achieves criteria they are likely to die, the sensitivity and negative predictive value are not as good and there is a substantial proportion of patients that will die without ever reaching transplant criteria. In addition awaiting positive criteria can lead to delay in listing and worsening of organ failure that often then precludes listing. This contributes to the fact that published rates of transplantation in those that reach criteria are only 50% following POD (169). Clinical practice has changed since this designation was first defined. For example, it is rare to see a patient following POD with a pH < 7.3 or a creatinine > 300 mmol/l because of improved resuscitation and

early renal support at the referring hospital. Because of these factors ongoing efforts to establish markers that increase sensitivity and occur even earlier in the course of the syndrome, while maintaining good specificity and not reducing the positive predictive value to unacceptable levels leading to unnecessary transplants, continue. Serum phosphate levels are higher in non-survivors following both POD and in other causes of ALF (60,170). However, there appears to be an unacceptable overlap and others have suggested the use of serum phosphate does not provide any additional benefit to existing markers (61,171,172). Other factors investigated include alpha-fetoprotein levels and NMR analysis of peripheral blood (60,173). Acute physiology scoring as a basis for prediction has also been utilized (174).

The liver plays a central role in lactate metabolism. In fact in patients with severe liver necrosis the liver changes from being a consumer of lactate to being a net producer (178). Arterial blood lactate levels have been shown to improve the sensitivity and maintain the specificity if added to the original KCH criteria and are achieved earlier in the course of the syndrome (119).

On the practical issue of actually managing patients with FHF some room for clinical interpretation has been included in the super-urgent listing rules. For example there is a group of patients that do not achieve KCH criteria but subsequently die - usually of cerebral oedema or multiple organ failure secondary to sepsis (109,111). These patients often have worse acute physiology scores compared to survivors (169,174). As a result the UK super-urgent criteria allow an assessment of deteriorating acute physiology based on cardiovascular, respiratory or cerebral pathology. Similarly the UNOS 1A criteria allow for patients "not expected to survive a further 7 days".



Outcome from transplantation

In Europe the one-year survival rate following transplantation for ALF is worse than that seen in chronic liver disease. The excess mortality is in the first month or so post transplant. This represents the severity of organ dysfunction seen prior to transplantation in ALF. Following this initial period, the curve flattens and the survival rate is actually better than that of patients with chronic liver disease [see Figure 5]. This probably represents a younger age group and less disease recurrence. There is a huge degree of heterogeneity in ALF and those transplanted with sero-negative hepatitis display a better survival profile than patients transplanted for other causes, although they exhibit a similar early mortality while in the intensive care unit (34).



Figure 7 Patient survival according to the first indication for liver transplant (http://www.eltr.org)

A tremendous amount of research effort has been put into the search for prognostic criteria on which to base the decision to transplant patients with ALF however, much less information is available about the prediction of mortality following transplantation. This is important, as decisions to withdraw from the waiting list based on severity are difficult.

There appears to be both recipient and donor factors that help predict the outcome from transplantation in ALF (34,169,175,176). In theory the severity of illness and organ dysfunction prior to transplantation should predict outcome. However, because unstable patients tend to be either not listed or withdrawn from the waiting list there is inherent bias in retrospective analysis. Age of the recipient is a significant factor – certainly for seronegative ALF, but also in POD where age is often used to exclude listing (169). In non-paracetamol ALF, serum creatinine at the time of transplantation

is a predictor of two-month survival. Following paracetamol overdose, time from ingestion to transplantation has been shown to be a good predictor of two-month survival, all patients transplanted later than six days from ingestion died. APACHE III score at transplantation and the severity of metabolic acidosis are also predictive (175).

Donor factors found to be important are the use of reduced size grafts in paracetamol induced ALF and evidence of early graft dysfunction as defined by a high AST or INR in the early postoperative period. In addition a high donor body mass index (BMI) is a risk factor for death in sero-negative hepatitis (34,169).

The conclusions from this data are difficult to interpret with confidence but suggest that older recipients with severe preoperative organ dysfunction are less able to tolerate poor early graft function, often seen with marginal grafts. Therefore, in order to achieve the best graft and patient survival there should be matching of the organ to the recipient, as has been suggested in both chronic liver disease and ALF (176,177). This is not often an option due to time constraints.

Auxiliary transplantation

Auxiliary partial liver transplantation has many theoretical advantages compared to standard orthotopic transplantation in ALF. It can be performed orthotopically i.e. in the same place as the original liver or heterotopically e.g. in the left iliac fossa. These days it is always performed as a partial orthotopic transplant with a native left lobe in situ in adults and a right lobe in children using an adult left lobe graft, depending on size.

It provides the potential to support the patient during the acute phase of liver failure enabling the regeneration of the native liver. This is attractive as in a number of patients immunosuppressive drugs can be withdrawn, allow the graft to atrophy or be removed and eliminate the risks associated with lifelong immunosuppression. Data on this procedure has been accumulating over the last 10 years. Initial reports suggested that the procedure was associated with a high incidence of technical problems, primary dysfunction and retransplantation. Later reports, however, suggest that many of these issues are resolving with greater experience, patient and graft selection. The best outcome has been seen in patients aged less than 40 years with either acute viral hepatitis or paracetamol hepatotoxicity where one year graft and patient survival is similar to standard transplantation for ALF. Withdrawal of immunosuppression can be achieved in 30 to 70 % of patients transplanted (178–180).

Living related lobe donation

In many countries the only chance of transplantation for ALF is in a living related donation of a liver lobe. This is most often performed in children where an adult left lobe can often be used. In adults a right lobe is usually required increasing the risk to the donor. With the worldwide shortage of donor organs living related transplantation for ALF is widely accepted in many countries but not all. There are significant issues related to living related transplantation in ALF including donor mortality of 1% and major morbidity of 40 - 60%. There are also ethical implications of adequately preparing the donor, medically and psychologically, in a time of acute crisis (181).

References

- 1. O'Grady JG, Schalm SW, Williams R. Acute liver failure: redefining the syndromes. Lancet. 1993 Jul;342(8866):273–5.
- 2. Lucke Baldu. THE FULMINANT FORM OF EPIDEMIC HEPATITIS. 1946 Sep 22;79.
- 3. Trey C, Davidson CS. The management of fulminant hepatic failure. Prog Liver Dis. 1970;3:282–98.
- Dhiman RK, Seth AK, Jain S, Chawla YK, Dilawari JB. Prognostic evaluation of early indicators in fulminant hepatic failure by multivariate analysis. Dig Dis Sci. 1998;43(6):1311–6.
- 5. Bernal W. Changing patterns of causation and the use of transplantation in the United kingdom. Semin Liver Dis. 2003 Aug;23(3):227–37.
- 6. Lee WM. Acute liver failure in the United States. Semin Liver Dis. 2003 Aug;23(3):217–26.
- 7. Ostapowicz G, Fontana RJ, Schiødt FV, Larson A, Davern TJ, Han SHB, et al. Results of a prospective study of acute liver failure at 17 tertiary care centers in the United States. Ann Intern Med. 2002 Dec;137(12):947–54.
- 8. Hawton K, Simkin S, Deeks J, Cooper J, Johnston A, Waters K, et al. UK legislation on analgesic packs: before and after study of long term effect on poisonings. BMJ. 2004 Nov;329(7474):1076.
- Schiødt FV, Balko J, Schilsky M, Harrison ME, Thornton A, Lee WM, et al. Thrombopoietin in acute liver failure. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2003 Mar;37(3):558– 61.
- 10. Jones A. Over-the-counter analgesics: a toxicology perspective. Am J Ther. 2002 Jun;9(3):245–57.
- 11. James LP, Mayeux PR, Hinson JA. Acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity. Drug Metab Dispos Biol Fate Chem. 2003 Dec;31(12):1499–506.
- 12. Bernal W, Donaldson P, Underhill J, Wendon J, Williams R. Tumor necrosis factor genomic polymorphism and outcome of acetaminophen (paracetamol)-induced acute liver failure. J Hepatol. 1998 Jul;29(1):53–9.
- 13. Makin AJ, Williams R. Acetominophen-induced liver failure. In: Acute Liver Failure. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1997. p. 32–42.
- Prescott LF, Illingworth RN, Critchley JA, Stewart MJ, Adam RD, Proudfoot AT. Intravenous N-acetylcystine: the treatment of choice for paracetamol poisoning. BMJ. 1979 Nov 3;2(6198):1097–100.
- 15. Lee WM. Drug-induced hepatotoxicity. N Engl J Med. 2003 Jul;349(5):474-85.

- 16. Keays R, Harrison PM, Wendon JA, Forbes A, Gove C, Alexander GJ, et al. Intravenous acetylcysteine in paracetamol induced fulminant hepatic failure: a prospective controlled trial. BMJ. 1991 Oct;303(6809):1026–9.
- 17. Jones AL. Recent advances in the management of late paracetamol poisoning. Emerg Med. 2000;12:14–21.
- 18. Sklar GE, Subramaniam M. Acetylcysteine treatment for non-acetaminopheninduced acute liver failure. Ann Pharmacother. 2004 Mar;38(3):498–500.
- 19. O'Grady JG. Acute liver failure. Postgrad Med J. 2005 Mar;81(953):148–54.
- 20. Schiødt FV, Davern TJ, Shakil AO, McGuire B, Samuel G, Lee WM. Viral hepatitis-related acute liver failure. Am J Gastroenterol. 2003 Feb;98(2):448–53.
- Chadha MS, Walimbe AM, Chobe LP, Arankalle VA. Comparison of etiology of sporadic acute and fulminant viral hepatitis in hospitalized patients in Pune, India during 1978-81 and 1994-97. Indian J Gastroenterol Off J Indian Soc Gastroenterol. 2003 Jan;22(1):11–5.
- 22. Schiff ER. Atypical clinical manifestations of hepatitis A. Vaccine. 1992;10:S18– 20.
- Fagan E, Yousef G, Brahm J, Garelick H, Mann G, Wolstenholme A, et al. Persistence of hepatitis A virus in fulminant hepatitis and after liver transplantation. J Med Virol. 1990 Feb;30(2):131–6.
- 24. Liaw YF, Yang CY, Chu CM, Huang MJ. Appearance and persistence of hepatitis A IgM antibody in acute clinical hepatitis A observed in an outbreak. Infection. 1986 Jul;14(4):156–8.
- 25. Sato S. Hepatitis B Virus Strains with Mutations in the Core Promoter in Patients with Fulminant Hepatitis. Ann Intern Med. 1995 Feb 15;122(4):241.
- Garfein RS, Bower WA, Loney CM, Hutin YJF, Xia G-L, Jawanda J, et al. Factors associated with fulminant liver failure during an outbreak among injection drug users with acute hepatitis B. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2004 Oct;40(4):865–73.
- 27. Farci P, Alter HJ, Shimoda A, Govindarajan S, Cheung LC, Melpolder JC, et al. Hepatitis C virus-associated fulminant hepatic failure. N Engl J Med. 1996 Aug;335(9):631–4.
- Vogt M, Zeller A, Wiebecke B. Prevalence and Clinical Outcome of Hepatitis C Infection in Children Who Underwent Cardiac Surgery before the Implementation of Blood-Donor Screening. N Engl J Med. 1999;5.
- 29. Acharya SK, Panda SK, Saxena A, Gupta SD. Acute hepatic failure in India: a perspective from the East. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2000 May;15(5):473–9.

- Cheng VCC, Lo C, Lau GKK. Current issues and treatment of fulminant hepatic failure including transplantation in Hong Kong and the Far East. Semin Liver Dis. 2003 Aug;23(3):239–50.
- 31. Emerson SU, Purcell RH. Running like water–the omnipresence of hepatitis E. N Engl J Med. 2004 Dec;351(23):2367–8.
- 32. Wu JC, Chen CM, Chiang TY, Sheen IJ, Chen JY, Tsai WH, et al. Clinical and epidemiological implications of swine hepatitis E virus infection. J Med Virol. 2000 Feb;60(2):166–71.
- 33. Gow P, Hathaway M, Gunson B, Heward J, Mutimer D. Association of fulminant non-A non-B hepatitis with homozygosity for HLA A1-B8-DR3. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2005 Apr;20(4):555–61.
- Wigg AJ, Gunson BK, Mutimer DJ. Outcomes following liver transplantation for seronegative acute liver failure: experience during a 12-year period with more than 100 patients. Liver Transplant Off Publ Am Assoc Study Liver Dis Int Liver Transplant Soc. 2005 Feb;11(1):27–34.
- 35. Manns MP, Vogel A. Autoimmune hepatitis, from mechanisms to therapy. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2006 Feb;43(2 Suppl 1):S132-44.
- Vergani D, Alvarez F, Bianchi FB, Cançado ELR, Mackay IR, Manns MP, et al. Liver autoimmune serology: a consensus statement from the committee for autoimmune serology of the International Autoimmune Hepatitis Group. J Hepatol. 2004 Oct;41(4):677–83.
- 37. Bissell DM, Gores GJ, Laskin DL, Hoofnagle JH. Drug-induced liver injury: mechanisms and test systems. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2001 Apr;33(4):1009–13.
- Devlin J, O'Grady JG. Indications for referral and assessment in adult liver transplantation: a clinical guideline. British Society of Gastroenterology. Gut. 1999 Nov;45 Suppl 6:VI1–22.
- Ibdah JA, Bennett MJ, Rinaldo P, Zhao Y, Gibson B, Sims HF, et al. A fetal fatty-acid oxidation disorder as a cause of liver disease in pregnant women. N Engl J Med. 1999 Jun;340(22):1723–31.
- 40. Guntupalli SR, Steingrub J. Hepatic disease and pregnancy: an overview of diagnosis and management. Crit Care Med. 2005 Oct;33(10 Suppl):S332-9.
- 41. Hamid SS, Jafri SM, Khan H, Shah H, Abbas Z, Fields H. Fulminant hepatic failure in pregnant women: acute fatty liver or acute viral hepatitis? J Hepatol. 1996 Jul;25(1):20–7.
- Castro MA, Fassett MJ, Reynolds TB, Shaw KJ, Goodwin TM. Reversible peripartum liver failure: A new perspective on the diagnosis, treatment, and cause of acute fatty liver of pregnancy, based on 28 consecutive cases. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1999 Aug;181(2):389–95.

- 43. Brewer GJ, Askari FK. Wilson's disease: clinical management and therapy. J Hepatol. 2005 Jan;42 Suppl(1):S13-21.
- Darwish Murad S, Valla D-C, de Groen PC, Zeitoun G, Hopmans JAM, Haagsma EB, et al. Determinants of survival and the effect of portosystemic shunting in patients with Budd-Chiari syndrome. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2004 Feb;39(2):500–8.
- 45. Menon KVN, Shah V, Kamath PS. The budd-chiari syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2004 Feb;350(6):578–85.
- 46. Slakey DP, Klein AS, Venbrux AC, Cameron JL. Budd-Chiari Syndrome: Current Management Options. Ann Surg. 2001;233(4):6.
- Mancuso A, Fung K, Mela M, Tibballs J, Watkinson A, Burroughs AK, et al. TIPS for acute and chronic Budd-Chiari syndrome: a single-centre experience. J Hepatol. 2003 Jun;38(6):751–4.
- 48. Mentha G, Giostra E, Majno PE, Bechstein WO, Neuhaus P, O'Grady JG, et al. Liver transplantation for Budd-Chiari syndrome: A European study on 248 patients from 51 centres. J Hepatol. 2006 Mar;44(3):520–8.
- McDonald GB. Veno-occlusive Disease of the Liver and Multiorgan Failure after Bone Marrow Transplantation: A Cohort Study of 355 Patients. Ann Intern Med. 1993 Feb 15;118(4):255.
- MacQuillan GC, Mutimer D. Fulminant liver failure due to severe veno-occlusive disease after haematopoietic cell transplantation: a depressing experience. QJM Mon J Assoc Physicians. 2004 Sep;97(9):581–9.
- 51. Baron F, Deprez M, Beguin Y. The veno-occlusive disease of the liver. Haematologica. 1997 Dec;82(6):718–25.
- 52. Naschitz JE, Slobodin G, Lewis RJ, Zuckerman E, Yeshurun D. Heart diseases affecting the liver and liver diseases affecting the heart. Am Heart J. 2000 Jul;140(1):111–20.
- Hadad E, Ben-Ari Z, Heled Y, Moran DS, Shani Y, Epstein Y. Liver transplantation in exertional heat stroke: a medical dilemma. Intensive Care Med. 2004 Jul;30(7):1474–8.
- 54. Diaz JH. Syndromic diagnosis and management of confirmed mushroom poisonings. Crit Care Med. 2005 Feb;33(2):427–36.
- 55. Atillsoy E, Berk P. Extracorporeal liver support: historical background and critical analysis. In: Acute Liver Failure. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1997. p. 32–42.
- 56. Tofteng F, Jorgensen L, Hansen BA, Ott P, Kondrup J, Larsen FS. Cerebral microdialysis in patients with fulminant hepatic failure. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2002 Dec;36(6):1333–40.

- 57. Atterbury CE, Maddrey WC, Conn HO. Neomycin-sorbitol and lactulose in the treatment of acute portal-systemic encephalopathy: A controlled, double-blind clinical trial. Am J Dig Dis. 1978 May;23(5):398–406.
- 58. Vaquero J, Chung C, Cahill ME, Blei AT. Pathogenesis of hepatic encephalopathy in acute liver failure. Semin Liver Dis. 2003 Aug;23(3):259–69.
- 59. Murphy ND, Auzinger G, Bernel W, Wendon JA. The effect of hypertonic sodium chloride on intracranial pressure in patients with acute liver failure. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2004 Feb;39(2):464–70.
- Schmidt LE, Dalhoff K. Serum phosphate is an early predictor of outcome in severe acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2002 Sep;36(3):659–65.
- 61. Macquillan GC, Seyam MS, Nightingale P, Neuberger JM, Murphy ND. Blood lactate but not serum phosphate levels can predict patient outcome in fulminant hepatic failure. Liver Transplant Off Publ Am Assoc Study Liver Dis Int Liver Transplant Soc. 2005 Sep;11(9):1073–9.
- Yamaguchi M, Gabazza EC, Taguchi O, Yano Y, Ikoma J, Kaito M, et al. Decreased protein C activation in patients with fulminant hepatic failure. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2006 Mar;41(3):331–7.
- 63. Polson J, Lee WM. AASLD position paper: the management of acute liver failure. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2005 Apr;41(5):1179–97.
- 64. O'Grady J. Acute liver failure. J R Coll Physicians Lond. 1997 Dec;31(6):603-7.
- 65. Wendon JA, Harrison PM, Keays R, Williams R. Cerebral blood flow and metabolism in fulminant liver failure. Hepatology. 1994 Jun;19(6):1407–13.
- 66. Strauss GI, Høgh P, Møller K, Knudsen GM, Hansen BA, Larsen FS. Regional cerebral blood flow during mechanical hyperventilation in patients with fulminant hepatic failure. Hepatol Baltim Md. 1999 Dec;30(6):1368–73.
- 67. Ellis A, Wendon J. Circulatory, Respiratory, Cerebral, and Renal Derangements in Acute Liver Failure: Pathophysiology and Management. Semin Liver Dis. 1996;16(04):379–88.
- McCormick PA, Treanor D, McCormack G, Farrell M. Early death from paracetamol (acetaminophen) induced fulminant hepatic failure without cerebral oedema. J Hepatol. 2003 Oct;39(4):547–51.
- 69. Landry DW, Levin HR, Gallant EM, Ashton RC, Seo S, D'Alessandro D, et al. Vasopressin Deficiency Contributes to the Vasodilation of Septic Shock. Circulation. 1997 Mar 4;95(5):1122–5.
- Dünser MW, Mayr AJ, Ulmer H, Knotzer H, Sumann G, Pajk W, et al. Arginine vasopressin in advanced vasodilatory shock: a prospective, randomized, controlled study. Circulation. 2003 May;107(18):2313–9.

- Shawcross D, Davies NA, Mookerjee RP, Hayes PC, Williams R, Lee A, et al. Worsening of cerebral hyperemia by the administration of terlipressin in acute liver failure with severe encephalopathy. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2004 Feb;39(2):471–5.
- 72. Marik PE. Adrenal-exhaustion syndrome in patients with liver disease. Intensive Care Med. 2006 Feb;32(2):275–80.
- 73. Tsai M-H, Peng Y-S, Chen Y-C, Liu N-J, Ho Y-P, Fang J-T, et al. Adrenal insufficiency in patients with cirrhosis, severe sepsis and septic shock. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2006 Apr;43(4):673–81.
- 74. Harry R, Auzinger G, Wendon JA. The clinical importance of adrenal insufficiency in acute hepatic dysfunction. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2002 Aug;36(2):395–402.
- 75. Annane D. Glucocorticoids in the treatment of severe sepsis and septic shock. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2005 Oct;11(5):449–53.
- Harry R, Auzinger G, Wendon JA. The effects of supraphysiological doses of corticosteroids in hypotensive liver failure. Liver Int Off J Int Assoc Study Liver. 2003 Apr;23(2):71–7.
- 77. O'Grady JG, Gimson AES, O'Brien CJ, Pucknell A, Hughes RD, Williams R. Controlled trials of charcoal hemoperfusion and prognostic factors in fulminant hepatic failure. Gastroenterology. 1988 May;94(5):1186–92.
- 78. Trumper L, Coux G, Monasterolo LA, Molinas S, García VMC, Elías MM. Effect of acetaminophen on the membrane anchoring of Na+, K+ATPase of rat renal cortical cells. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2005 Jun;1740(3):332–9.
- Cobden I, Record CO, Ward MK, Kerr DN. Paracetamol-induced acute renal failure in the absence of fulminant liver damage. BMJ. 1982 Jan 2;284(6308):21–2.
- Bellomo R, Ronco C, Kellum JA, Mehta RL, Palevsky P, Unknown. Acute renal failure - definition, outcome measures, animal models, fluid therapy and information technology needs: the Second International Consensus Conference of the Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative (ADQI) Group. Crit Care Lond Engl. 2004 Aug;8(4):R204-12.
- Bal C, Longkumer T, Patel C, Gupta SD, Acharya SK. Renal function and structure in subacute hepatic failure. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2000 Nov;15(11):1318–24.
- 82. Davenport A. The management of renal failure in patients at risk of cerebral edema/hypoxia. New Horiz Baltim Md. 1995 Nov;3(4):717–24.
- Honore PM, Joannes-Boyau O, Merson L, Boer W, Piette V, Galloy A-C, et al. The Big Bang of Hemofiltration: The Beginning of a New Era in the Third Millennium for Extra-Corporeal Blood Purification! Int J Artif Organs. 2006 Jul;29(7):649–59.

- Bernal W, Wong T, Wendon J. High-volume continuous veno-venous haemofiltration in hyper-acute liver failure: a pilot study. Crit Care. 2000 Mar 16;3(1):P212.
- Davenport A, Will EJ, Davison AM. Hyperlactataemia and Metabolic Acidosis during Haemofiltration Using Lactate-Buffered Fluids. Nephron. 1991;59(3):461–5.
- 86. Bernal W, Donaldson N, Wyncoll D, Wendon JA. Blood lactate as an early predictor of outcome in paracetamol-induced acute liver failure: a cohort study. Lancet. 2002 Feb;359(9306):558–63.
- 87. Davenport A. Dialysate and substitution fluids for patients treated by continuous forms of renal replacement therapy. Contrib Nephrol. 2001;(132):313–22.
- 88. Ware AJ, D'Agostino AN, Combes B. Cerebral Edema: A Major Complication of Massive Hepatic Necrosis. Gastroenterology. 1971 Dec;61(6):877–84.
- Hanid MA, Mackenzie RL, Jenner RE, Chase RA, Mellon PJ, Trewby PN, et al. Intracranial pressure in pigs with surgically induced acute liver failure. Gastroenterology. 1979 Jan;76(1):123–31.
- 90. Wendon JA, Larsen FS. Intracranial pressure monitoring in acute liver failure. A procedure with clear indications. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2006 Aug;44(2):504–6.
- 91. Bernuau J, Durand F. Intracranial pressure monitoring in patients with acute liver failure: a questionable invasive surveillance. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2006 Aug;44(2):502–4.
- 92. Blei AT. The pathophysiology of brain edema in acute liver failure. Neurochem Int. 2005 Jul;47(1–2):71–7.
- 93. Norenberg MD, Rao KVR, Jayakumar AR. Mechanisms of ammonia-induced astrocyte swelling. Metab Brain Dis. 2005 Dec;20(4):303–18.
- 94. Clemmesen JO, Larsen FS, Kondrup J, Hansen BA, Ott P. Cerebral herniation in patients with acute liver failure is correlated with arterial ammonia concentration. Hepatol Baltim Md. 1999 Mar;29(3):648–53.
- 95. Bhatia V, Singh R, Acharya SK. Predictive value of arterial ammonia for complications and outcome in acute liver failure. Gut. 2006 Jan;55(1):98–104.
- Traber PG, Canto MD, Ganger DR, Blei AT. Electron microscopic evaluation of brain edema in rabbits with galactosamine-induced fulminant hepatic failure: Ultrastructure and integrity of the blood-brain barrier. Hepatology. 1987 Nov;7(6):1272–7.
- 97. Kato M, Hughes RD, Keays RT, Williams R. Electron microscopic study of brain capillaries in cerebral edema from fulminant hepatic failure. Hepatology. 1992 Jun;15(6):1060–6.

- 98. Takahashi H, Koehler RC, Brusilow SW, Traystman RJ. Inhibition of brain glutamine accumulation prevents cerebral edema in hyperammonemic rats. Am J Physiol. 1991 Sep;261(3 Pt 2):H825-829.
- Córdoba J, Gottstein J, Blei AT. Glutamine, *myo* -inositol, and organic brain osmolytes after portocaval anastomosis in the rat: Implications for ammoniainduced brain edema: Glutamine, *myo* -inositol, and organic brain osmolytes after portocaval anastomosis in the rat: Implications for ammonia-induced brain edema. Hepatology. 1996 Oct;24(4):919–23.
- 100. Zwingmann C. Selective increase of brain lactate synthesis in experimental acute liver failure: Results of a [1H-13C] nuclear magnetic resonance study. Hepatology. 2003 Feb;37(2):420–8.
- 101. Jayakumar AR, Rao KVR, Murthy CRK, Norenberg MD. Glutamine in the mechanism of ammonia-induced astrocyte swelling. Neurochem Int. 2006 May;48(6–7):623–8.
- 102. Blei AT, Larsen FS. Pathophysiology of cerebral edema in fulminant hepatic failure. J Hepatol. 1999 Oct;31(4):771–6.
- 103. Larsen FS, Adel Hansen B, Pott F, Ejlersen E, Secher NH, Paulson OB, et al. Dissociated cerebral vasoparalysis in acute liver failure. A hypothesis of gradual cerebral hyperaemia. J Hepatol. 1996 Aug;25(2):145–51.
- 104. Aggarwal S, Obrist W, Yonas H, Kramer D, Kang Y, Scott V, et al. Cerebral hemodynamic and metabolic profiles in fulminant hepatic failure: relationship to outcome. Liver Transplant Off Publ Am Assoc Study Liver Dis Int Liver Transplant Soc. 2005 Oct;11(11):1353–60.
- 105. Strauss G, Hansen BA, Kirkegaard P, Rasmussen A, Hjortrup A, Larsen FS. Liver function, cerebral blood flow autoregulation, and hepatic encephalopathy in fulminant hepatic failure. Hepatol Baltim Md. 1997 Apr;25(4):837–9.
- 106. Tofteng F, Larsen FS. The effect of indomethacin on intracranial pressure, cerebral perfusion and extracellular lactate and glutamate concentrations in patients with fulminant hepatic failure. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab Off J Int Soc Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2004 Jul;24(7):798–804.
- 107. Tofteng F, Larsen FS. Management of patients with fulminant hepatic failure and brain edema. Metab Brain Dis. 2004 Nov;19(3–4):207–14.
- 108. Bernal W, Wendon. Intracranial Hypertension In Acute Liver Failure; Prevalence And Risk Factors For Development. Hepatology. 2004 Oct;40(S4):162A-266A.
- 109. Boeckx NK, Haydon G, Rusli F, Murphy N. Multiorgan failure is the commonest cause of death in fulminant hepatic failure: a single centre experience. Liver Int. 2004;24(6):702–3.
- 110. Jalan R. Intracranial hypertension in acute liver failure: pathophysiological basis of rational management. Semin Liver Dis. 2003 Oct;23(3):271–82.

- 111. Makin AJ, Wendon J, Williams R. A 7-Year Experience of Severe Acetaminophen-Induced Hepatotoxicity (1987-1993). 1995;10.
- 112. Tofteng F, Hauerberg J, Hansen BA, Pedersen CB, Jørgensen L, Larsen FS. Persistent arterial hyperammonemia increases the concentration of glutamine and alanine in the brain and correlates with intracranial pressure in patients with fulminant hepatic failure. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab Off J Int Soc Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2006 Jan;26(1):21–7.
- 113. Wijdicks EF, Plevak DJ, Rakela J, Wiesner RH. Clinical and radiologic features of cerebral edema in fulminant hepatic failure. Mayo Clin Proc Mayo Clin. 1995 Feb;70(2):119–24.
- 114. Muñoz SJ, Robinson M, Northrup B, Bell R, Moritz M, Jarrell B, et al. Elevated intracranial pressure and computed tomography of the brain in fulminant hepatocellular failure. Hepatology. 1991 Feb;13(2):209–12.
- 115. Ranjan P, Mishra AM, Kale R, Saraswat VA, Gupta RK. Cytotoxic edema is responsible for raised intracranial pressure in fulminant hepatic failure: in vivo demonstration using diffusion-weighted MRI in human subjects. Metab Brain Dis. 2005 Sep;20(3):181–92.
- 116. Nortje J, Gupta AK. The role of tissue oxygen monitoring in patients with acute brain injury. Br J Anaesth. 2006 Jul;97(1):95–106.
- 117. Ellis AJ, Wendon JA, Williams R. Subclinical seizure activity and prophylactic phenytoin infusion in acute liver failure: a controlled clinical trial. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2000 Sep;32(3):536–41.
- 118. Nielsen HB, Tofteng F, Wang LP, Larsen FS. Cerebral oxygenation determined by near-infrared spectrophotometry in patients with fulminant hepatic failure. J Hepatol. 2003 Feb;38(2):188–92.
- 119. Strauss GI, Møller K, Holm S, Sperling B, Knudsen GM, Larsen FS. Transcranial Doppler sonography and internal jugular bulb saturation during hyperventilation in patients with fulminant hepatic failure. Liver Transplant Off Publ Am Assoc Study Liver Dis Int Liver Transplant Soc. 2001 Apr;7(4):352–8.
- Blei AT, Olafsson S, Webster S, Levy R. Complications of intracranial pressure monitoring in fulminant hepatic failure. The Lancet. 1993 Jan;341(8838):157–8.
- 121. Vaquero J, Fontana RJ, Larson AM, Bass NMT, Davern TJ, Shakil AO, et al. Complications and use of intracranial pressure monitoring in patients with acute liver failure and severe encephalopathy. Liver Transplant Off Publ Am Assoc Study Liver Dis Int Liver Transplant Soc. 2005 Dec;11(12):1581–9.
- 122. Shami VM, Caldwell SH, Hespenheide EE, Arseneau KO, Bickston SJ, Macik BG. Recombinant activated factor VII for coagulopathy in fulminant hepatic failure compared with conventional therapy. Liver Transplant Off Publ Am Assoc Study Liver Dis Int Liver Transplant Soc. 2003 Feb;9(2):138–43.

- 123. Keays RT, Alexander GJM, Williams R. The safety and value of extradural intracranial pressure monitors in fulminant hepatic failure. J Hepatol. 1993 Jan;18(2):205–9.
- 124. Tandon BN, Joshi YK, Tandon M. Acute Liver Failure: Experience with 145 Patients. J Clin Gastroenterol. 1986 Dec;8(6):664–8.
- 125. Murphy N, Wendon JA. Serum sodium is inversely proportional to intracranial pressure in acute liver failure. 2000;3:1–1.
- 126. Brain Trauma Foundation. Guidelines for Cerebral Perfusion Pressure. J Neurotrauma. 2000 Jun;17(6 7):507–11.
- 127. Jalan R, Olde Damink SW, Deutz NE, Hayes PC, Lee A. Restoration of cerebral blood flow autoregulation and reactivity to carbon dioxide in acute liver failure by moderate hypothermia. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2001 Jul;34(1):50–4.
- 128. Davies MH, Mutimer D, Lowes J, Elias E, Neuberger J. Recovery despite impaired cerebral perfusion in fulminant hepatic failure. Lancet. 1994 May;343(8909):1329–30.
- 129. Jalan R, Olde Damink SWM, Deutz NEP, Hayes PC, Lee A. Moderate hypothermia in patients with acute liver failure and uncontrolled intracranial hypertension. Gastroenterology. 2004 Nov;127(5):1338–46.
- 130. Wijdicks EFM, Nyberg SL. Propofol to control intracranial pressure in fulminant hepatic failure. TPS. 2002 Jun;34(4):1220–2.
- 131. Strauss GI, Møller K, Larsen FS, Kondrup J, Knudsen GM. Cerebral glucose and oxygen metabolism in patients with fulminant hepatic failure. Liver Transplant Off Publ Am Assoc Study Liver Dis Int Liver Transplant Soc. 2003 Dec;9(12):1244–52.
- 132. Brain Trauma Foundation. Intracranial Pressure Treatment Threshold. J Neurotrauma. 2000 Jun;17(6 7):493–5.
- 133. Canalese J, Gimson AE, Davis C, Mellon PJ, Davis M, Williams R. Controlled trial of dexamethasone and mannitol for the cerebral oedema of fulminant hepatic failure. Gut. 1982 Jul;23(7):625–9.
- 134. Ede RJ, Gimson AES, Bihari D, Williams R. Controlled hyperventilation in the prevention of cerebral oedema in fulminant hepatic failure. J Hepatol. 1986 Jan;2(1):43–51.
- 135. Bhatia V, Batra Y, Acharya SK. Prophylactic phenytoin does not improve cerebral edema or survival in acute liver failure–a controlled clinical trial. J Hepatol. 2004 Jul;41(1):89–96.
- 136. Rolando N, Philpott-Howard J, Williams R. Bacterial and Fungal Infection in Acute Liver Failure. Semin Liver Dis. 1996;16(04):389–402.

- 137. Rolando N, Wade J, Davalos M, Wendon JA, Philpott-Howard J, Williams R. The systemic inflammatory response syndrome in acute liver failure. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2000 Oct;32(4 Pt 1):734–9.
- 138. Rolando N, Gimson A, Wade J, Philpott-Howard J, Casewell M, Williams R. Prospective controlled trial of selective parenteral and enteral antimicrobial regimen in fulminant liver failure. Hepatology. 1993 Feb;17(2):196–201.
- Wade J, Rolando N, Philpott-Howard J, Wendon JA. Timing and aetiology of bacterial infections in a liver intensive care unit. J Hosp Infect. 2003 Feb;53(2):144–6.
- 140. Gramlich L, Kichian K, Pinilla J, Rodych NJ, Dhaliwal R, Heyland DK. Does enteral nutrition compared to parenteral nutrition result in better outcomes in critically ill adult patients? A systematic review of the literature. Nutrition. 2004 Oct;20(10):843–8.
- 141. Schutz T. Clinical practice of nutrition in acute liver failure?a European survey. Clin Nutr. 2004 Oct;23(5):975–82.
- 142. Walsh TS, Wigmore SJ, Hopton P, Richardson R, Lee A. Energy expenditure in acetaminophen-induced fulminant hepatic failure. Crit Care Med. 2000 Mar;28(3):649–54.
- 143. Murphy ND, Kodakat SK, Wendon JA, Jooste CA, Muiesan P, Rela M, et al. Liver and intestinal lactate metabolism in patients with acute hepatic failure undergoing liver transplantation. Crit Care Med. 2001 Nov;29(11):2111–8.
- 144. Walsh TS, McLellan S, Mackenzie SJ, Lee A. Hyperlactatemia and pulmonary lactate production in patients with fulminant hepatic failure. Chest. 1999 Aug;116(2):471–6.
- 145. Clark S. Temporal changes in insulin sensitivity following the development of acute liver failure secondary to acetaminophen. Hepatology. 2001 Jul;34(1):109–15.
- 146. Strauss GI, Knudsen GM, Kondrup J, Møller K, Larsen FS. Cerebral metabolism of ammonia and amino acids in patients with fulminant hepatic failure. Gastroenterology. 2001 Nov;121(5):1109–19.
- 147. Kircheis G, Wettstein M, vom Dahl S, Häussinger D. Clinical efficacy of Lornithine-L-aspartate in the management of hepatic encephalopathy. Metab Brain Dis. 2002 Dec;17(4):453–62.
- 148. Rose C, Michalak A, Rao KV, Quack G, Kircheis G, Butterworth RF. Lornithine-L-aspartate lowers plasma and cerebrospinal fluid ammonia and prevents brain edema in rats with acute liver failure. Hepatol Baltim Md. 1999 Aug;30(3):636–40.
- 149. Alba L, Hay JE, Angulo P, Lee WM. Lactulose therapy in acute liver failure. J Hepatol. 2002 Apr 1;36:33.

- 150. Shirabe K, Shimada M, Gion T, Hasegawa H, Takenaka K, Utsunomiya T, et al. Postoperative liver failure after major hepatic resection for hepatocellular carcinoma in the modern era with special reference to remnant liver volume. J Am Coll Surg. 1999 Mar;188(3):304–9.
- 151. Kobayashi N, Noguchi H, Totsugawa T, Watanabe T, Matsumura T, Fujiwara T, et al. Insertion of a suicide gene into an immortalized human hepatocyte cell line. Cell Transplant. 2001;10(4–5):373–6.
- 152. Selden C, Hodgson H. Cellular therapies for liver replacement. Transpl Immunol. 2004 Apr;12(3–4):273–88.
- 153. Demetriou AA, Brown RS, Busuttil RW, Fair J, McGuire BM, Rosenthal P, et al. Prospective, Randomized, Multicenter, Controlled Trial of a Bioartificial Liver in Treating Acute Liver Failure. Ann Surg. 2004 May;239(5):660–70.
- 154. Ellis AJ, Hughes RD, Wendon JA, Dunne J, Langley PG, Kelly JH, et al. Pilotcontrolled trial of the extracorporeal liver assist device in acute liver failure. Hepatol Baltim Md. 1996 Dec;24(6):1446–51.
- 155. Millis M, et al. Results of phase I trial of the extracorporeal liver assist device for patients with fulminant hepatic failure. Am J Transplant. 2001;1(S1):47–476.
- 156. Van De Kerkhove M-P, Di Florio E, Scuderi V, Mancini A, Belli A, Bracco A, et al. Phase I Clinical Trial with the AMC-Bioartificial Liver. Int J Artif Organs. 2002 Oct;25(10):950–9.
- 157. Sauer IM, Kardassis D, Zeillinger K, Pascher A, Gruenwald A, Pless G, et al. Clinical extracorporeal hybrid liver support - phase I study with primary porcine liver cells: **Hybrid liver support**. Xenotransplantation. 2003 Sep;10(5):460–9.
- 158. Samuel D, Ichai P, Feray C, Saliba F, Azoulay D, Arulnaden JL, et al. NEUROLOGICAL IMPROVEMENT DURING BIOARTIFICIAL LIVER SESSIONS IN PATIENTS WITH ACUTE LIVER FAILURE AWAITING TRANSPLANTATION. Transplantation [Internet]. 2002;73(2). Available from: https://journals.lww.com/transplantjournal/Fulltext/2002/01270/NEUROLOGICA L IMPROVEMENT DURING BIOARTIFICIAL.19.aspx
- 159. Opolon P. High-Permeability Membrane Hemodialysis and Hernofiltration in Acute Hepatic Coma: Experimental and Clinical Results. Artif Organs. 1979 Nov 12;3(4):354–60.
- Larsen FS, Hansen BA, Jørgensen LG, Secher NH, Kirkegaard P, Tygstrup N. High-volume plasmapheresis and acute liver transplantation in fulminant hepatic failure. Transplant Proc. 1994 Jun;26(3):1788.
- 161. Lai WK, Haydon G, Mutimer D, Murphy ND. The effect of molecular adsorbent recirculating system on pathophysiological parameters in patients with acute liver failure. Intensive Care Med. 2005 Nov;31(11):1544–9.
- 162. Schmidt LE, Wang LP, Hansen BA, Larsen FS. Systemic hemodynamic effects of treatment with the molecular adsorbents recirculating system in

patients with hyperacute liver failure: a prospective controlled trial. Liver Transplant Off Publ Am Assoc Study Liver Dis Int Liver Transplant Soc. 2003 Mar;9(3):290–7.

- Liu JP, Gluud LL, Als-Nielsen B, Gluud C. Artificial and bioartificial support systems for liver failure. Cochrane Database Syst Rev Online. 2004 Feb;(1):CD003628.
- 164. Khuroo MS, Khuroo MS, Farahat KLC. Molecular adsorbent recirculating system for acute and acute-on-chronic liver failure: a meta-analysis. Liver Transplant Off Publ Am Assoc Study Liver Dis Int Liver Transplant Soc. 2004 Sep;10(9):1099–106.
- 165. O'Grady JG, Wendon J, Tan KC, Potter D, Cottam S, Cohen AT, et al. Liver transplantation after paracetamol overdose. 1991;303:3.
- O'Grady JG, Alexander GJM, Hayllar KM, Williams R. Early indicators of prognosis in fulminant hepatic failure. Gastroenterology. 1989 Aug;97(2):439– 45.
- 167. Anand AC, Nightingale P, Neuberge JM. Early indicators of prognosis in fulminant hepatic failure: an assessment of the King's criteria. 1997;7.
- Bernuau J, Goudeau A, Poynard T, Dubois F, Lesage G, Yvonnet B, et al. Multivariate analysis of prognostic factors in fulminant hepatitis B. Hepatology. 1986 Jul;6(4):648–51.
- Bernal W, Wendon JA, Rela M, Heaton N, Williams R. Use and outcome of liver transplantation in acetaminophen-induced acute liver failure. Hepatol Baltim Md. 1998 Apr;27(4):1050–5.
- 170. Baquerizo A, Anselmo D, Shackleton C, Chen T-W, Cao C, Weaver M, et al. PHOSPHORUS AS AN EARLY PREDICTIVE FACTOR IN PATIENTS WITH ACUTE LIVER FAILURE. 2003;75(12):8.
- 171. Bernal W, Wendon JA. More on serum phosphate and prognosis of acute liver failure. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2003 Aug;38(2):533–4.
- 172. Ng KL, Davidson JS, Bathgate AJ. Serum phosphate is not a reliable early predictor of outcome in paracetamol induced hepatotoxicity. Liver Transplant Off Publ Am Assoc Study Liver Dis Int Liver Transplant Soc. 2004 Feb;10(1):158–9.
- 173. Dabos KJ, Newsome PN, Parkinson JA, Mohammed HH, Sadler IH, Plevris JN, et al. Biochemical prognostic markers of outcome in non-paracetamolinduced fulminant hepatic failure. Transplantation. 2004 Jan;77(2):200–5.
- 174. Mitchell I, Bihari D, Chang R, Wendon J, Williams R. Earlier identification of patients at risk from acetaminophen-induced acute liver failure: Crit Care Med. 1998 Feb;26(2):279–84.

- 175. Devlin J, Wendon JA, Heaton N, Tan KC, Williams R. Pretransplantation clinical status and outcome of emergency transplantation for acute liver failure. Hepatol Baltim Md. 1995 Apr;21(4):1018–24.
- 176. Haydon GH, Hiltunen Y, Lucey MR, Collett D, Gunson B, Murphy ND, et al. Self-organizing maps can determine outcome and match recipients and donors at orthotopic liver transplantation. Transplant J. 2005 Jan;79(2):213–8.
- 177. Haydon G, Hiltunen Y. A New Model to Maximise the utility of Liver allografts in Patients with Fulminant Non-A Non-B Hepatitis. Hepatology. 2004 Oct;40(S4):474A-573A.
- 178. Chenard-Neu M, Boudjema K, Bernuau J, Degott C, Belghiti J, Cherqui D, et al. Auxiliary liver transplantation: Regeneration of the native liver and outcome in 30 patients with fulminant hepatic failure-a multicenter European study. Hepatology. 1996 May;23(5):1119–27.
- 179. Girlanda R, Vilca-Melendez H, Srinivasan P, Muiesan P, O'Grady JG, Rela M, et al. Immunosuppression Withdrawal After Auxiliary Liver Transplantation for Acute Liver Failure. Transplant Proc. 2005 May;37(4):1720–1.
- van Hoek B, Boer J de, Boudjema K, Williams R, Corsmit O, Terpstra OT. Auxiliary versus orthotopic liver transplantation for acute liver failure. J Hepatol. 1999 Apr;30(4):699–705.
- 181. Neuberger J. Role of living liver donation in the United Kingdom. BMJ. 2003 Sep 20;327(7416):676–9.

Chapter 2 Pathophysiology of ALF

Liver and intestinal lactate metabolism in patients with acute hepatic failure undergoing liver transplantation.

Nick D Murphy FRCA DipICM§

Sadik K Kodakat FRCA[¶]

Julia A Wendon FRCP?*

Charl A Jooste FRCA[¶]

Paolo Muiesan MD?

Mohamed Rela MS FRCS?

Nigel D Heaton FRCS?

To whom all correspondence should be addressed*

Institute of Liver Studies§

Kings College Hospital

Bessemer Road

Denmark Hill

London SE5 9PJ

Department of Anaesthetics[¶]

Kings College Hospital

Bessemer Road

Denmark Hill

London SE5 9PJ

Liver Transplant Surgical Services?

Kings College Hospital

Bessemer Road

Denmark Hill

London SE5 9PJ

Objective: To determine the relative contribution of the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) and the liver in lactate metabolism in patients with acute liver failure (ALF) and the effect of liver transplantation upon this. We hypothesised that the liver and gut are net producers of lactate in ALF and that this is reversed following liver transplantation.

Setting: A university affiliated specialist liver transplant operating theatre.

Subjects: Eleven patients with acute liver failure (ALF) undergoing liver transplantation.

Measurements and Interventions: Following ethical approval, eleven patients with ALF listed for orthotopic hepatic transplantation (OLT) were studied. Whole blood was analysed for lactate concentration from radial artery (RA) catheter, portal vein (PV) and hepatic vein (HV) during the dissection phase and was repeated post reperfusion of the liver graft. Gradients across the gut and the liver were calculated to see if there was net production or consumption.

Results: HV lactate was significantly higher than arterial (p=0.028) in patients with ALF before liver transplantation suggesting splanchnic production of lactate. Total splanchnic lactate gradient (HV-RA) is positive in ALF. Both the gut (PV-RA) and the liver (HV-PV) were net producers of lactate. Following liver transplantation hepatic venous lactate falls below arterial levels but not significantly. The gradient across the gut (PV-RA) remained positive, but the trans-hepatic gradient (HV-PV) became significantly negative showing consumption by the graft (p=0.021). The magnitude of lactate concentration (p=0.029) and inversely with graft cold ischaemic time (p=0.007)

Conclusion: The liver is a net producer of lactate in acute liver failure. Following liver transplantation the graft becomes a consumer of lactate as shown by the negative lactate gradient. The degree of consumption is dependent on portal venous lactate concentration and cold ischaemic time.

Key words: Lactate; acidosis; liver transplant; acute liver failure; critical illness; splanchnic; liver; gut; lactate consumption; lactate production

Introduction

Hyperlactataemia is common in critical illness and has been shown to have prognostic significance in septic, trauma and patients with acute liver failure (ALF) (1–4). The cause of hyperlactataemia in critical illness is incompletely understood but recent evidence has challenged the view that lactic acidosis is always the result of cellular hypoxia or hypoperfusion with resulting anaerobic metabolism particularly in patients with sepsis or the systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) (5).

Under normal conditions lactic acid is produced in the periphery (muscle, skin, brain, red blood cells) and is metabolised, following systemic circulation, to pyruvate predominantly in the liver and kidney, in the presence of oxygen, into glucose. Lactate build-up may be seen if pyruvate production increases. This may be caused by several reasons. I) The redox state of the cell, which depends on adequate oxygen supplies. II) Respiratory chain poisons such as biguanides or cyanide can also compromise it. III) An increase in glycolysis, independent of the redox state of the cell, may also induce an increase in lactate production (6) as may be observed following catacholamine therapy. IV) Hyperlactataemia may also be caused by a failure of consumption of lactate.

Hyperlactataemia is a prominent feature of acute liver failure and but it is unclear as to whether there is increased production which exceeds the capacity for metabolic clearance or whether reduced clearance on its own is responsible. In patients with sepsis and multiple organ dysfunction an increase in hepatic venous lactate has been noted but whether this is due to increased gut production, decreased liver extraction or a combination of both is unclear (7). In acute liver failure the capacity of the liver to metabolise lactate may be compromised (8). Indeed the liver may become a net producer of lactate during acute liver failure as has been shown in hypoxic and ischaemic models of acute liver injury (9–11).

The aims of this study were to investigate total splanchnic lactate gradient in patients with acute liver failure undergoing liver transplantation and to characterise the contribution of both the gut and the liver to the hyperlactataemic state by the simultaneous sampling of portal venous, radial arterial and hepatic venous blood.

Methods

Following approval from our hospital ethical committee eleven patients with ALF proceeding to liver transplantation were prospectively enrolled into the study (12). The nature of the illness precluded consent from the patients and so written informed assent was obtained from the patients' relatives. Nine females and three male patients were studied. The aetiology of ALF was acetaminophen toxicity in seven patients; one patient hepatitis B; one seronegative hepatitis; one pregnancy induced acute liver failure and one an acute drug reaction to the recreational drug "ecstasy" (3,4 methylenedioxymetamphetamine). All patients had grade III or IV encephalopathy, were intubated and ventilated and sedated with midazolam and fentanyl.

All patients were managed in intensive care in a university-affiliated hospital and transplanted in a specialist liver transplant theatre. Anaesthetic management was similar in all patients. On arrival in the operating theatre all patients were converted to inhalational anaesthesia with isoflurane in air and oxygen and the fentanyl infusion was continued. Vascular access included two 6 fr introducers in the right internal jugular vein, triple lumen central line and radial arterial line. Further invasive monitoring varied between patients. All patients were supported with catacholamines to maintain MAP at approximately 60 mmHg. Seven of the eleven patients received noradrenaline, one boluses of adrenaline. Nine of the eleven received dopamine and two patients dopexamine. The doses varied between patients and during the procedure. No correlation could be found between catacholamine dosage and baseline lactate levels.

Blood products and fluids were given as indicated throughout the surgical procedure to maintain a haemoglobin concentration of approximately 10 g/dl and an international normalised ratio (INR) of less than two. Whole blood lactate was sampled from radial artery, portal vein and hepatic vein simultaneously during the dissection phase of the operative procedure and analysed immediately. The three blood samples were repeated following hepatic transplantation toward the end of the procedure. All samples were obtained off veno-venous bypass. The initial samples were taken on exposure of the native liver before any clamping of vessels took place. The second set of samples were taken following reperfusion and haemostasis and following restoration of native circulation.

To measure lactate production or consumption by the gut and liver both before and following hepatic transplantation gradients were calculated. Total splanchnic lactate gradient was calculated as hepatic venous lactate (HV) minus radial arterial lactate (RA) in mmol/L. Gastrointestinal lactate gradient was calculated as portal venous (PV) minus RA in mmol/L. Hepatic lactate gradient was the sum of HV minus PV lactate in mmol/L. Changes in lactate gradients are expressed in tabular form and graphically. Grafts were assessed grossly by the surgeon performing the transplant into moderately fatty, mildly fatty or normal. Biopsies of the graft were undertaken at the discretion of the operating surgeon and were not part of the experimental protocol.

Whole blood lactate was measured using an analyser (YSI 2300 Stat Plus; Yellow Springs Instrument Co; Yellow Springs, OH) that employs a technique based on membrane-bound enzyme electrode methodology (13). Instrument performance was checked against standards on a daily basis. The machine self-calibrates every five samples. Repeatability of whole blood lactate measurements in critically ill patients was tested, as has been reported previously (14).

Results are reported as median and inter-quartile range. Intrapatient comparisons were performed using nonparametric analysis of variance (Friedman's two-way ANOVA). Pairwise comparison was with Tukey's honestly significant difference test. Paired data before and following liver transplantation are compared with Wilcoxon sign rank test. Correlation between data was tested with Spearman's' rank correlation. P is considered significant at 0.05.

Results

Pre-transplant

Hepatic venous (HV) whole blood lactate (5.44 \pm 0.8 mmol/L) was significantly higher than radial arterial (RA) lactate (5.11 \pm 0.92 mmol/L) in ten of the eleven patients studied with acute hepatic failure (p = 0.006). Portal venous (PV) lactate was higher than RA lactate but not significantly. Total splanchnic lactate gradient (HV-RA) was positive in all but one patient in acute liver failure (0.12 \pm 0.165 mmol/L). Both the gut (PV-RA) and the liver (HV-PV) were net producers of lactate (0.06 \pm 0.05, 0.08 \pm 0.14 mmol/L respectively). Table 1 & 3. One patient died during the operative procedure following hepatic reperfusion and so the second part of the study could not be completed. This patients result were included in the analysis of splanchnic lactate gradients in ALF but not in the analysis of change in gradients following transplantation.

No correlation could be found between noradrenaline dose at the start of the procedure and whole blood lactate. There was not any correlation between noradrenaline dose and total splanchnic or transhepatic lactate gradient in those receiving it.

Post-transplantation

In the ten patients that completed the study whole blood portal venous lactate rose significantly following hepatic transplantation compared to pretransplant levels (6.44 \pm 1.14, 5.34 \pm 0.91 mmol/L, p = 0.021) and radial artery to portal venous lactate gradient remained positive (0.04 \pm 0.135 mmol/L). When compared with pretransplant, total splanchnic lactate gradient remained unchanged overall following reperfusion, but the majority of patients show either consumption or a decrease in

production of lactate. Overall the gut continues to produce lactate and so the gradients do not change significantly.

Hepatic lactate gradient changed significantly from pretransplant gradient with the graft consuming lactate rather than producing lactate (-0.07 \pm 0.135 mmol/L, p = 0.014). See figures 1, 2 & 3. In two of the patients (patient 5 and patient 2) hepatic lactate gradient increased in the initial post transplantation period suggesting lactate production by the graft possibly related to graft dysfunction. Because of the gross appearance of the graft transplanted in patient 2 a pre-operative biopsy was performed which showed microvesicular steatosis. Patient 1 received an auxiliary graft thus retaining an injured lobe with possible continued production of lactate. After insertion of the auxiliary graft, the trans-hepatic lactate gradient falls to zero, suggesting either a decreased production of lactate by the necrotic lobe or consumption by the graft or both. Despite the partial transplant, there is an overall improvement in lactate metabolism. If patient 1's results are excluded from the analysis the change in gradients following transplantation remains significant (p=0.02 Wilcoxon sign rank test).

The hepatic lactate gradient following transplantation correlates inversely with portal venous lactate concentration in all but one patient (patient 1) $r^2 = 0.37$, p = 0.029, figure 4. If this patient is excluded from the regression analysis, then $r^2 = 0.81$, p = 0.0005, figure 2. Examination of hepatic lactate consumption showed it to decease with increasing cold ischaemic time $r^2 = 0.54$, p = 0.007, figure 5.

The terms *veno-venous (V-V), auxiliary* and *piggyback* were used to describe the operative technique used to see if this had any effect on liver or gut lactate production following transplantation. Piggyback transplantation involves side

clamping the vena cava and clamping the portal vein; it avoids veno-venous bypass. It was hypothesised that this may have caused gut ischaemia during the procedure because of venous stasis. The term V-V (Veno-venous bypass) was used to denote insertion of graft plus a section of vena cava. This technique requires isolation of a portion of native vena cava. During this procedure, the cava is clamped above and below the anastomosis and venous return is provided via the bypass technique. The use of bypass provides venous drainage to the splanchnic circulation and so potentially reduced venous stasis. The type of operative procedure did not influence post-transplant portal vein lactate.

Repeatability of whole blood lactate was examined by plotting the mean of three blood lactate concentrations against their standard deviation from 30 critically ill patients. The samples were analysed in the same accredited intensive care laboratory that performed the assays for the study. Although it can be seen that reproducibility declined with increasing lactate concentration as previously reported (14), the measured variation between samples was small throughout the range of lactate tested, figure 6.

Discussion

The main findings of the study are that both the gut and the liver are net producers of lactate in patients with ALF who fulfilled criteria for liver transplantation. After transplantation, the gastrointestinal tract continues to produce lactate in the immediate postreperfusion period while the liver graft consumes lactate. The lactate gradient across the liver after transplantation correlates positively with the PV lactate concentration and inversely with the length of cold ischemic time.

ALF describes a constellation of clinical symptoms associated with sudden cessation of normal hepatic function. The defining state is hepatic encephalopathy and the development of a coagulopathy with subsequent jaundice (15). The systemic inflammatory response syndrome that accompanies ALF is similar to sepsis in that vasoparesis leading to hypotension and an increased cardiac output are common and progression to multiple organ failure is characteristic.

Hyperlactatemia is prominent in both sepsis and ALF but whole blood levels tend to be higher in ALF.

In critical illness, lactic acidosis has traditionally been explained on the basis of cellular hypoxia. However, efforts to prove this have been difficult and evidence that has emerged over the last 10 years suggests that the causes are more complex and not just to do with simple substrate limitation. On the contrary, global oxygen delivery is increased in both the systemic inflammatory response syndrome and ALF, and efforts to increase oxygen delivery do not have predictable effects on lactate levels (16). Attempts to find evidence of regional anaerobic metabolism caused by ischemia or hypoxia have not proven fruitful in either animal or human experiments. Indeed, tissue oxygen content has tended to be higher than normal in both septic patients and animal models (17,18).

Early studies in ALF inversely correlated mixed venous lactate concentrations with mean arterial pressure, systemic vascular resistance and oxygen extraction ratio (4). The explanation ascribed to these phenomena was that the lactic acidosis seen was, in part, the consequence of tissue hypoxia developing because of arteriovenous shunting, reflected in the reduction in systemic vascular resistance. However, the increases found in oxygen consumption associated with the augmentation of oxygen delivery may have been the result of mathematical coupling rather than any real effect (19). A recent comparison of the Fick method and indirect calorimetry for the measurement of oxygen consumption in ALF failed to show a good correlation between methods and poor reproducibility of the Fick method in the calculation of oxygen consumption (20).

If anaerobic metabolism resulting from global or regional supply-dependent oxygen consumption is not the predominant cause of hyperlactatemia in patients with ALF, then what are the alternatives? There is evidence for both increased production and decreased clearance. Energy expenditure is increased in both ALF and the systemic inflammatory response syndrome (21,22). This increase in metabolic rate may stimulate lactate production even in the absence of anaerobic metabolism (13). Catecholamine infusions increase lactate production by stimulating glycolysis. This increases the production of pyruvate that is converted to lactate by mass effect via the enzyme lactate dehydrogenase (13,23).

Recent studies designed to detect individual organ production of lactate have shown increased lactate production in the lung of both patients with acute lung injury and in patients without acute lung injury but with ALF (14,24). In the patients with acute lung injury, lactate production was proportional to the severity of injury (25). Others have also demonstrated pulmonary lactate production and have ruled out tissue hypoxia as the cause (26). Douzinas et al. (7) suggested the organs with the most severe dysfunction in a group of patients with multiple organ failure were the site of increased lactate production as measured by organ lactate fluxes. De Jonghe et al. (27) have shown in a group of 92 patients with acute circulatory failure that early hepatic dysfunction (defined as a serum bilirubin >60 µmol/L or serum glutamic-oxaloacetic transaminase >100 IU/L) was associated with an elevated serum lactate
concentration. They did not however, distinguish between increased production or impaired clearance as the cause. A recent study addressed this question in stable septic patients by the analysis of infused lactate kinetics. The group with an elevated baseline blood lactate concentration showed reduced clearance compared with the group with normal blood lactate levels. Production was the same in both groups (28). Further evidence suggesting hepatic dysfunction to be important in the aetiology of hyperlactatemia comes from studies of lactate elimination in patients with hepatic cirrhosis. Woll and Record (29) compared lactate clearance between cirrhotics and normal volunteers and found a prolonged lactate elimination half-life. Forearm clearance was the same in both groups. Almenoff et al. (30) showed that lactate was eliminated three times more slowly after exercise in cirrhotic patients compared with healthy aged-matched volunteers. Chiolero et al. (31) studied the effect of major hepatic resection on lactate metabolism compared with healthy controls. They found similar basal lactate levels and similar clearance and endogenous production but a prolonged terminal half-life. They suggested that this might be caused by decreased hepatic uptake and conversion into glucose by the liver. The normal basal lactate concentration in patients after the loss of about 50% of liver mass suggests a large reserve of hepatic clearance. This implies that, with normal levels of production, loss of metabolic capacity needs to be greater to result in raised basal lactate levels. However, the loss of functional hepatocytes may be >50% in some patients with ALF.

Lactate kinetics have also been studied in ALF. Record et al. (8), using a lactate infusion load test, found that lactate elimination was markedly reduced in patients with paracetamol-induced liver damage whereas forearm clearance was increased. They suggested that decreased clearance by the liver was the cause of raised basal

lactate levels in the patients with paracetamol-induced hepatotoxicity. We found that overall there was net production of lactate from the liver in ALF when HV concentrations were compared with PV and RA concentrations.

The cause of splanchnic lactate production in ALF has been investigated recently. Clemmesen et al. (32), using hepatic venous catheters, found that lactate was released from the splanchnic circulation in patients with ALF compared with consumption in controls. They suggested that increased lactate production was not the result of hypoxia within the splanchnic region because of the normal HV lactate to pyruvate ratio found. The lactate to pyruvate ratio is a marker of the redox status of the cell and describes the adequacy of cellular oxygenation. They speculated that lactate production was the result of accelerated glycolysis within the splanchnic region stimulated possibly by catecholamines. They did not, however, differentiate between the liver and intestine as the source of increased production. In our study, we did not find any correlation between catecholamine dose and whole blood lactate at the beginning of the procedure or between lactate gradients across either the gut or liver.

The fall in lactate from the HV to the RA found in our study could be interpreted as pulmonary consumption of lactate; however, all studies in critically ill patients including ALF, looking at lactate gradients across the lungs, have shown lactate production. This suggests that there must be consumption of lactate in sites other than the liver, lungs, and gut. An increase in muscle consumption of lactate has been reported in ALF and this fact may explain the HV-RA lactate gradient both pre- and post-transplant (8).

Lactate flux was not calculated, as liver blood flow was not measured in our study. Liver blood flow is difficult to measure with accuracy in ALF because the standard methodology relies on the Fick principle and hepatic clearance of the usual marker (indocyanine green) is reduced (33). Recent reports using sorbitol clearance have suggested that liver blood flow is increased in ALF. Clemmesen et al. (34) estimated hepatic blood flow at 1.78 - 0.78 L/min in 14 patients with ALF. This combined with the range of hepatic lactate gradients from our study would give a hepatic lactate flux ranging from production of lactate at a rate of 42 mmol/hr pretransplant to consumption at a rate of 80 mmol/hr post-transplant.

The gut has received attention as a focus for organ dysfunction early in critical illness, however, its reported contribution to hyperlactatemia is conflicting. Bellomo et al. (35), investigating the effects of early endotoxemia on transvisceral lactate fluxes in dogs, found consumption of lactate in the gut with the lungs the main contributor to hyperlactatemia. We found a positive gradient across the gastrointestinal tract (PV-RA) in the majority of patients with ALF and this persisted post-transplant regardless of whether veno-venous bypass or portal venous side-clamping was used; there was marked interindividual variation, however.

After orthotopic liver transplantation, the majority of hepatic lactate gradients fell, with most grafts consuming lactate. Consumption of lactate correlated with PV lactate concentration, suggesting flow limited kinetics within the grafts. This correlation, however, did not hold for the patient that received an auxiliary right hepatic lobe, possibly because of continued production of lactate by the retained injured lobe. If graft factors are analysed, cold ischemic time can be seen to correlate inversely with lactate consumption. The association of cold ischemic time to lactate consumption after liver transplantation has been shown previously in an experimental model. Two

groups of pigs were transplanted with livers differentiated by cold ischemic time—the first <4 hrs, the second >25 hrs. The group with the prolonged preservation time not only ceased to metabolize lactate, but they generated lactate (36). We observed similar findings with grafts following long cold ischemic times.

The causes of hyperlactatemia in ALF are complex, with increased production shown in the lungs (14), gut, and liver and a decrease in total body clearance (8). We have shown that not only is there reduced hepatic clearance of lactate in ALF, as would be expected, but that there is hepatic production. What is the site of this increased production within the liver? The data from Clemmesen and colleagues (32)-lactate production from the splanchnic bed with a normal hepatic venous lactate to pyruvate ratio-suggest the source of the lactate is an increase in aerobic metabolic activity within the liver. In animal models of early sepsis, mapping of glucose and lactate metabolism show the sites of highest turnover to be areas associated with inflammatory cell populations such as the spleen and the lungs. Given that the sites of inflammation correlate to the sites of glucose utilization and lactate production, the implication is that the inflammatory cells themselves are the source of this excess production. The respiratory burst of phagocytic cells accounts for this increase in metabolic activity and is independent of mitochondrial electron transport. Instead, the energy for this comes from an increase in glycolysis through the hexose monophosphate shunt (37). Haji-Michael and colleagues (38) have shown that peritoneal leukocytes taken from a polymicrobial sepsis model have a higher basal lactate production compared with sham animals and that this is a result of glycolysis. They suggest that little of the lactate produced by leukocytes is channelled into the Krebs cycle and that the majority of the pyruvate produced from glycolysis is diverted away from oxidative metabolism within the cell and transported via the blood pool as

lactate in the Cori cycle. In addition, they report that during sepsis the leukocytes are, on a weight-for-weight basis, the single largest source of lactate within the body. Others have shown that glucose utilization by the liver in an endotoxin rat model is predominantly by nonparenchymal cells. They have also shown the rate of glucose utilization is enhanced 6.7-fold in endotoxin- stimulated Kupffer cells (39).

The conclusion that can be drawn from our work and the studies described is that the inflammatory process within the liver and other organs as a by-product of the increased metabolic rate produces lactate as a result of enhanced glycolysis. This, coupled with reduced clearance, contributes to the high whole blood lactate levels seen in ALF. After liver transplantation, the transhepatic lactate gradient is reversed. The degree of reversal is dependent on host factors, the substrate load (PV lactate concentration), and graft factors, one of which is cold ischemic time.

Tables

Pre transplantation

Patient	Diagnosis	рН	Bilirubin	Creatinine	INR	RA	PV	HV ^a
1	POD	7.50	3.3(57)	1.6(142)	>15	10.1	10.2	10.6
2	NANB	7.09	20.8(356)	1.5(140)	2.9	4.91	4.96	4.79
3	POD	7.29	7.1(123)	3.6(325)	>15	6.21	6.28	6.33
4	POD	7.30	1.6(29)	1.9(168)	>15	5.21	5.18	5.44
5	POD	7.20	2.5(43)	6.3(563)	5.9	1.68	1.74	1.73
6	Pregnancy	6.98	5.0(87)	2.0(181)	1.88	6.3	6.19	6.42
7	POD	7.21	6.6(113)	2.2(201)	5	5	5.5	5.6
8	Нер В	7.33	30.8(527)	1.4(128)	6.8	6.88	6.93	6.91
9	Ecstasy	7.37	19.6(366)	0.9(83)	8.7	3.72	3.83	3.91
10	POD	7.36	8.7(149)	4.3(382)	6.9	4.46	4.46	4.82
11	POD	7.06	2.8(49)	1.5(133)	7.2	5.11	5.24	5.13

INR = international normalised ratio; RA = radial artery; PV = portal vein; HV =

hepatic vein

Units: lactate mmol/L; Bilirubin mg/dl (µmol/L); Creatinine mg/dl (µmol/L)

^a p = 0.006 compared to RA (Friedman two way ANOVA)

Table 1: Patient characteristics and dissection phase lactate concentrations

Post transplant

Patient	Graft	CIT	Ор	RA	PV ^a	HA	INR-24	INR-48
1	mild fatty	12.2	Aux	11.9	11.7	11.7	1.57	1.39
2	good	14.5	VV	4.6	4.6	4.6	1.18	1.15
3	fatty	8.85	PB	6.48	6.82	6.5	1.14	1.04
4	good	10.3	PB	5	5.33	5.4	1.35	1.00
5	fatty	11	PB	2.41	2.52	2.63	1.34	1.17
6	mild fatty	17	VV	6.38	6.38	6.32	1.24	1.18
7	good	5.08	PB	6.5	6.5	6.3	1.23	0.90
8	good	4.08	VV	7.01	7.09	6.61	1.80	1.36
9	good	6.59	PB	7.72	7.42	6.97	1.37	1.05
10	mild fatty	9.4	VV	4.55	4.82	4.74	1.57	1.19

Cold IT = graft cold ischaemic time in hours; RA = radial artery; PV = portal vein; INR

= international normalised ratio; Op type = operative technique, (Aux = auxiliary; VV

= veno-venous bypass; PB = piggy back)

a, p = 0.021 compared to pre transplant (Wilcoxan sign rank test)

Lactate concentrations are in mmol/L

 Table 2: Graft characteristics, post reperfusion lactate concentrations, day one

 and two INR post transplant

Lactate gradients

Patient	Pre HV-PV	Pre PV-RA	Pre HV-RA	Post HV-PV ^a	Post PV-RA	Post HV-RA
1	0.4	0.1	0.5	0	-0.2	-0.2
2	-0.17	0.05	-0.12	0	0	0
3	0.05	0.07	0.12	-0.32	0.34	0.02
4	0.26	-0.03	0.23	0.07	0.33	0.4
5	-0.01	0.06	0.05	0.11	0.11	0.22
6	0.23	-0.11	0.12	-0.06	0	-0.06
7	0.1	0.5	0.6	-0.2	0	-0.2
8	-0.02	0.05	0.03	-0.48	0.08	-0.4
9	0.08	0.11	0.19	-0.45	-0.3	-0.75
10	0.36	0	0.36	-0.08	0.27	0.19

Pre = dissection phase; Post = post reperfusion.

a, p = 0.014 compared to dissection phase (Wilcoxan sign rank test)

Lactate concentrations are in mmol/L

 Table 3: Total splanchnic, gastrointestinal and hepatic lactate gradients during

 the dissection phase and following liver transplantation

Figures



Figure 1: Total splanchnic lactate gradient (HV-RA) pre and post liver transplant for the 10 patients. A trans splanchnic lactate gradient of greater than zero represents lactate production; a splanchnic lactate gradient of less than zero represents consumption. Change in splanchnic lactate gradient was not significant.



Figure 2: Gastrointestinal lactate gradient (PV-RA) pre and post liver transplant for the 10 patients. A gut lactate gradient of greater than zero represents production; a gut lactate gradient of less than zero represents consumption. Change in lactate gradient was not significant.



Figure 3: Trans hepatic lactate gradient (HV-PV) pre and post liver transplant for the 10 patients. A hepatic lactate gradient of greater than zero represents production; a hepatic lactate gradient of less than zero represents consumption. Change in lactate gradient from dissection phase to post reperfusion was significant (p = 0.014, Wilcoxon sign rank test)



Figure 4: Post reperfusion hepatic lactate gradient (HV-PV) verses portal venous lactate concentration (PV) for the 10 patients. Hepatic lactate consumption increases significantly as PV lactate concentration increases ($r^2 = 0.37$, p = 0.029). The relationship does not hold for the patient following auxilary transplant, if this patient is excluded from the analysis the relationship is stronger ($r^2 = 0.81$, p = 0.0005, Spearman rank correlation)



Figures 5: Post reperfusion hepatic lactate gradient (HV-PV) verses graft cold ischaemic time in hours for the 10 patients. The graft lactate consumption increases significantly the shorter the cold ischaemic time, ($r^2 = 0.54$, p = 0.007, Spearman rank correlation).



Figure 6: The precision of arterial whole-blood lactate measurements from 30 critically ill patients. For each data point, the mean and standard deviation of three measurements on the same 2 ml sample are plotted. Reliability decreases with increasing lactate concentration, ($r^2 = 0.4$).

- 1. Bakker J, Coffernils M, Leon M, Gris P, Vincent J-L. Blood Lactate Levels Are Superior to Oxygen-Derived Variables in Predicting Outcome in Human Septic Shock. Chest. 1991 Apr;99(4):956–62.
- Manikis P, Jankowski S, Zhang H, Kahn RJ, Vincent J-L. Correlation of Serial Blood Lactate Levels to Organ Failure and Mortality After Trauma. Am J Emerg Med. 1995;13(6):4.
- 3. Bernardin G, Pradier C, Tiger F, Deloffre P, Mattei M. Blood pressure and arterial lactate level are early indicators of short-term survival in human septic shock. Intensive Care Med. 1996 Jan;22(1):17–25.
- 4. Bihari D, Gimson AES, Lindridge J, Williams R. Lactic acidosis in fulminant hepatic failure. J Hepatol. 1985 Jan;1(4):405–16.
- 5. Subramanian S, Kellum JA. The meaning of lactate. In: Yearbook of Intensive Care and Emergency Medicine. Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2000. p. 743–51.
- James JH, Luchette FA, McCarter FD, Fischer JE. Lactate is an unreliable indicator of tissue hypoxia in injury or sepsis. Lancet. 1999 Aug;354(9177):505– 8.
- Douzinas EE, Tsidemiadou PD, Pitaridis MT, Andrianakis I, Bobota-Chloraki A, Katsouyanni K, et al. The regional production of cytokines and lactate in sepsisrelated multiple organ failure. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1997 Jan;155(1):53– 9.
- 8. Record CO, Chase RA, Williams R, Appleton D. Disturbances in lactate metabolism in patients with liver damage due to paracetamol overdose. Metabolism. 1981 Jul;30(7):638–43.
- Samsel RW, Cherqui D, Pietrabissa A, Sanders WM, Roncella M, Emond JC, et al. Hepatic oxygen and lactate extraction during stagnant hypoxia. J Appl Physiol. 1991 Jan 1;70(1):186–93.
- 10. Schlichtig R, Klions HA, Kramer DJ, Nemoto EM. Hepatic dysoxia commences during O2 supply dependence. J Appl Physiol. 1992 Apr 1;72(4):1499–505.
- Fahey JT, Lister G, Sanfilippo DJ, Edelstone DIE. Hepatic and Gastrointestinal Oxygen and Lactate Metabolism during Low Cardiac Output in Lambs. Pediatr Res. 1997 Jun;41(6):842–51.
- O'Grady JG, Alexander GJM, Hayllar KM, Williams R. Early indicators of prognosis in fulminant hepatic failure. Gastroenterology. 1989 Aug;97(2):439– 45.
- 13. Clark LC, Noyes LK, Grooms TA, Moore MS. Rapid micromeasurement of lactate in whole blood: Crit Care Med. 1984 May;12(5):461–4.
- 14. Walsh TS, McLellan S, Mackenzie SJ, Lee A. Hyperlactatemia and pulmonary lactate production in patients with fulminant hepatic failure. Chest. 1999 Aug;116(2):471–6.

- 15. Williams R. Classification and clinical syndromes of acute liver failure. In: Acute Liver Failure. Cambridge University Press; 1997. p. 1–10.
- 16. Silverman HJ. Lack of a Relationship between Induced Changes in Oxygen Consumption and Changes in Lactate Levels. Chest. 1991 Oct;100(4):1012–5.
- 17. Hotchkiss RS. Reevaluation of the Role of Cellular Hypoxia and Bioenergetic Failure in Sepsis. JAMA J Am Med Assoc. 1992 Mar 18;267(11):1503.
- Boekstegers P, Weidenhöfer S, Kapsner T, Werdan K. Skeletal muscle partial pressure of oxygen in patients with sepsis: Crit Care Med. 1994 Apr;22(4):640– 50.
- 19. Gasman JD, Ruoss SJ, Fishman RS, Rizk NW, Raffin TA. Hazards with both determining and utilizing oxygen consumption measurements in the management of critically ill patients: Crit Care Med. 1996 Jan;24(1):6–9.
- 20. Walsh TS, Hopton P, Lee A. A comparison between the Fick method and indirect calorimetry for determining oxygen consumption in patients with fulminant hepatic failure: Crit Care Med. 1998 Jul;26(7):1200–7.
- Kreymann G, Grosser S, Buggisch P, Gottschall C, Matthaei S, Greten H. Oxygen consumption and resting metabolic rate in sepsis, sepsis syndrome, and septic shock: Crit Care Med. 1993 Jul;21(7):1012–9.
- 22. Walsh TS, Wigmore SJ, Hopton P, Richardson R, Lee A. Energy expenditure in acetaminophen-induced fulminant hepatic failure. Crit Care Med. 2000 Mar;28(3):649–54.
- 23. Håkanson E, Rutberg H, Jorfeldt L. Effect of adrenaline on exchange of glucose in leg tissues and splanchnic area. A comparison with the metabolic response to surgical stress. Clin Physiol. 1986 Oct;6(5):439–51.
- 24. De Backer D, Creteur J, Zhang H, Norrenberg M, Vincent J-L. Lactate Production by the Lungs in Acute Lung Injury. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1997 Oct;156(4):1099–104.
- 25. Kellum JA, Kramer DJ, Lee K, Mankad S, Bellomo R, Pinsky MR. Release of Lactate by the Lung in Acute Lung Injury. Chest. 1997 May;111(5):1301–5.
- Routsi C, Bardouniotou H, Delivoria-loannidou V, Kazi D, Roussos C, Zakynthinos S. Pulmonary lactate release in patients with acute lung injury is not attributable to lung tissue hypoxia: Crit Care Med. 1999 Nov;27(11):2469– 73.
- 27. De Jonghe B, Cheval C, Misset B, Timsit J-F, Garrouste M, Montuclard L, et al. Relationship between blood lactate and early hepatic dysfunction in acute circulatory failure. J Crit Care. 1999 Mar;14(1):7–11.
- 28. Levraut J, Ciebiera J-P, Chave S, Rabary O, Jambou P, Carles M, et al. Mild Hyperlactatemia in Stable Septic Patients Is Due to Impaired Lactate Clearance

Rather Than Overproduction. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1998 Apr;157(4):1021–6.

- 29. Woll PJ, Record CO. Lactate elimination in man: effects of lactate concentration and hepatic dysfunction. Eur J Clin Invest. 1979 Oct;9(5):397–404.
- Almenoff PL, Leavy J, Weil MH, Goldberg NB, Vega D, Rackow EC. Prolongation of the half-life of lactate after maximal exercise in patients with hepatic dysfunction: Crit Care Med. 1989 Sep;17(9):870–3.
- Chioléro R, Tappy L, Gillet M, Revelly J-P, Roth H, Cayeux C, et al. Effect of Major Hepatectomy on Glucose and Lactate Metabolism: Ann Surg. 1999 Apr;229(4):505–13.
- 32. Clemmesen JO, Høy CE, Kondrup J, Ott P. Splanchnic metabolism of fuel substrates in acute liver failure. J Hepatol. 2000 Dec;33(6):941–8.
- 33. Ott P, Clemmesen O, Keiding S. Interpretation of simultaneous measurements of hepatic extraction fractions of indocyanine green and sorbitol: evidence of hepatic shunts and capillarization? Dig Dis Sci. 2000;45(2):359–65.
- Clemmesen JO, Gerbes AL, Gülberg V, Hansen BA, Larsen FS, Skak C, et al. Hepatic blood flow and splanchnic oxygen consumption in patients with liver failure. Effect of high-volume plasmapheresis. Hepatol Baltim Md. 1999 Feb;29(2):347–55.
- 35. Bellomo R, Kellum JA, Pinsky MR. Transvisceral Lactate Fluxes During Early Endotoxemia. Chest. 1996 Jul;110(1):198–204.
- Munoz-Bonet JI, Lopez-Santamaria M, Ruza-Tarrio F, Paz-Cruz JA, Roque J, Gamez M, et al. Oxygen consumption, lactate metabolism, and gastric intramucosal pH in an experimental liver transplantation model: Crit Care Med. 1998 Nov;26(11):1850–6.
- 37. Vlessis AA, Goldman RK, Trunkey DD. New concepts in the pathophysiology of oxygen metabolism during sepsis. Br J Surg. 1995;82(7):870–6.
- Haji-Michael PG, Ladrière L, Sener A, Vincent JL, Malaisse WJ. Leukocyte glycolysis and lactate output in animal sepsis and ex vivo human blood. Metabolism. 1999 Jun;48(6):779–85.
- 39. Meszaros K, Bojta J, Bautista AP, Lang CH, Spitzer JJ. Glucose utilization by Kupffer cells, endothelial cells, and granulocytes in endotoxemic rat liver. Am J Physiol-Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 1991 Jan 1;260(1):G7–12.

The regulation of T-cell recruitment to the human liver during acute liver failure

Ceren Tuncer¹,

Ye H. Oo^{1,2},

Nick Murphy2,

David H. Adams^{1,2}

Patricia F. Lalor¹

1 NIHR Biomedical Research Unit and Centre for Liver Research, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, UK

2 The Liver Unit, Queen Elizabeth Hospital Birmingham, Birmingham, UK

Abstract

Background & Aims: Acute liver failure (ALF) is a rare clinical syndrome with high mortality resulting from hepatocellular necrosis and loss of function. In seronegative hepatitis (SNH), a T-cell-rich infiltrate leads to immune mediated hepatocyte destruction, whereas in paracetamol poisoning, toxic metabolites induce hepatocyte necrosis, followed by a macrophage-rich, lymphocytic infiltrate that is an important factor in driving repair and regeneration. The nature of the hepatic inflammatory infiltrate, key to ALF pathogenesis and outcome, is determined by the recruitment of effector cells from blood, but the molecular basis of recruitment is poorly understood. To determine the phenotype of circulating and hepatic lymphocytes in patients with

ALF secondary to paracetamol overdose (POD) or SNH and investigate the molecular basis of lymphocyte recruitment. Methods: We used FACS, immunohistochemistry and flow-based adhesion assays to determine the regulation of lymphocyte adhesion. Results: SNH and POD intrahepatic lymphocytes were $\alpha L\beta 2^{h}$, CD69^h and CD38^h with a distinct homing phenotype being L-selectin^o, CXCR3^h and CCR5⁺. Expression of chemokine ligands for the receptors CCR5, CXCR3 and CXCR6 and the adhesion molecules ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and VAP-1 was markedly increased in the liver in ALF. Lymphocytes isolated from the livers of patients with SNH showed enhanced chemokine-dependent adhesion and transmigration across the human hepatic endothelium in vitro under flow and used a combination of $\beta 1$ and $\beta 2$ integrins to adhere to endothelium and $\beta 2$ integrins, CD31 and VAP-1 to transmigrate. Conclusion: Aetiology-dependent combinations of adhesion molecules and chemokines expressed within tissue during ALF recruit lymphocytes with a distinct homing phenotype.

Introduction

Acute liver failure (ALF) is a rare clinical syndrome resulting in severe hepatic injury and loss of normal liver function in the absence of previous liver disease (1, 2). The aetiology of ALF varies with geographical location; hepatitis viruses are the major cause in developing countries, whereas drug-induced hepatotoxicity secondary to paracetamol overdose (POD) is the predominant cause in the UK. In the UK, approximately 20% of cases are caused by fulminant hepatitis of unknown causation, the so-called seronegative hepatitis (SNH). The clinical features are similar to ALF induced by viral hepatitis, but no aetiological agent has been defined (1). SNH is associated with a lymphocytic infiltrate of effector T cells, NK cells and to a lesser extent B cells which drive immune-mediated cytotoxic damage to hepatocytes as a consequence of the activation of several cell death pathways (1, 3-5). If this persists, it leads to massive hepatic necrosis and liver failure. This contrasts with the pathogenesis of paracetamol toxicity, where toxic metabolites of paracetamol induce direct hepatocyte damage and necrosis which activates innate immune pathways (6) and a secondary inflammatory response involving the recruitment of monocytes, macrophages and to a lesser extent lymphocytes. The recruited immune cells themselves can then contribute to further hepatocyte damage mediated via direct activation of death receptors or the secretion of cytokines (1, 7). Thus, mechanisms designed to orchestrate liver regeneration and tissue repair can further amplify liver injury and the progression of liver failure (8, 9). To date, the mechanisms that lead to the recruitment of disease modifying, immune cell populations in human ALF have not been well described. A clear understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying lymphocyte recruitment and how this contributes to the pathogenesis of ALF would facilitate the development of targeted anti-adhesive therapies, which may reduce the need for transplantation in patients with fulminant hepatitis. The nature of the inflammatory stimulus determines whether portal inflammation or lobular hepatitis is predominant and this is regulated by the differential expression of adhesion molecules and chemokines on vascular and sinusoidal endothelium which act together to compartmentalize infiltrating lymphocytes. Vessels in the normal liver express low levels of adhesion molecules and chemokines, which are induced and/or upregulated in response to injury and liver inflammation. These include CC- and CXC-chemokines associated with T helper (Th)-1 immunity and classical adhesion molecules such as intercellular

adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1 and vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM)-1 as well as the atypical adhesion receptor vascular adhesion protein (VAP)-1 (10, 11). In mice, recruitment of liver-infiltrating lymphocytes (LIL) decreases with the blockade of ICAM-1, VCAM-1, E-selectin (12, 13) or VAP-1 (14) in ConA hepatitis models, which have some similarity with human ALF (15). Liver injury is significantly inhibited in the absence of lymphocyte function- associated antigen-1 [LFA-1 (α L β 2)] (16) or both ICAM-1 and L-selectin (17). Similarly, the intrahepatic expression of chemokines CCL3-5 and CXCL9-11 increases in response to the ConA challenge resulting in the recruitment of CCR5 and CXCR3-expressing lymphocytes (18-20). Thus, multiple molecular interactions between liver endothelial cells and circulating lymphocytes mediate recruitment to the liver during ALF in mice, but little is known about the pathways involved in human ALF. In this study, liver tissue, peripheral blood lymphocytes (PBL) and LIL were collected from human patients with ALF secondary to POD or SNH and the expression of endothelial adhesion molecules and their lymphocyte ligands was determined. This permitted us to understand the differences in adhesive phenotype between peripheral and hepatic immune cell populations and to provide insight into potential recruitment cues. The contribution of these receptors to the recruitment was then investigated by studying the interactions between peripheral and hepatic lymphocytes and cytokine activated human hepatic sinusoidal endothelial cells (HSEC) under physiological flow using function-blocking antibodies against endothelial adhesion molecules, their receptors on lymphocytes and specific chemokine receptors.

Materials and methods

Sample collection and preparation

Peripheral blood and explanted liver tissue from patients with ALF secondary to POD or SNH, donor liver tissue surplus to transplantation requirements, explanted liver tissue from transplant patients with Child Pugh C scoring chronic cirrhotic liver disease (primary biliary cirrhosis and alcoholic liver disease) and blood from normal donors were all obtained from the Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Birmingham, UK. All patients with ALF had either SNH or POD, fulfilled the UK liver transplant ALF criteria, were super-urgently listed and transplanted upon admission. Matched pre transplant peripheral blood and explanted liver tissue were used. All patient samples were collected with the approval of the local research ethics committee and with informed consent. LIL were isolated from approximately 100 g of tissue using a nonenzymatic method as described previously (21). PBL from patients or normal donors were isolated using Lympholyte[®] density gradient (Cedarlane[®]; VH BIO Ltd, Gateshead, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions and contaminating monocytes were depleted by virtue of their adhesion to plastic. All functional assays and cytometry were performed upon cells within 4 h of initial isolation from blood or tissue, or on cells which were immediately cryopreserved after isolation to minimize effects of manipulation upon cell phenotype (22) Cryosections (5–10 µm) for histological analysis were prepared from snap-frozen tissue and stored at -20°C until use. Sinusoidal endothelial cells were isolated from fresh tissue and cultured as described previously (23, 24).

Immunohistochemistry

Acetone fixed frozen liver sections (5 μm) were blocked with 20% (v/v) normal rabbit serum (Dako, High Wycombe, UK) and then incubated with mouse primary antibodies at optimal concentrations [ICAM-1:6.5B5; 4 μg/ml,VCAM-1:1.4C3; 7 μg/ml, CD31:JC70A; 7 μg/ml or isotype matched control antibody (all from Dako)]

and VAP-1:1B2; 10 µg/ml (gift of David Smith, Biotie, Finland). Primary antibody binding was visualized using peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies according to standard protocols (25). Chemokine staining was performed using ChemMate[™] DAKO EnVision[™] detection kit according to the manufacturer's instructions, and polyclonal goat antibodies (CCL4:AF-271-NA; 5 µg/ml, CCL5:AF-278-NA; 5 µg/ml, CXCL16:AF976; 1 µg/ml) or mouse monoclonal antibodies [CXCL9: 49106.11; 10] µg/ml, CXCL10:33036; 15 µg/ml, CXCL11: 87328; 5 µg/ml (all from R&D Systems, Abingdon, UK)] were applied at room temperature for 40 min. Sections were washed with TBS pH 7.6/0.01% (v/v) Tween[®]20 and endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked using methanol/0.5% (v/v) H_2O_2 (Sigma, Dorset, UK). All slides were incubated with appropriate EnVision[™] secondary antibody reagent before application of EnVision[™] substrate solution as directed by the manufacturer. Sections were counterstained with haematoxylin and visualized microscopically. A semiquantitative scoring system was applied to compare staining on specific features between normal and diseased livers with a + or - to indicate the presence or absence of staining, respectively, moderately increased intensity signified by ++ and +++ to indicate very intense staining.

Flow cytometry

Lymphocytes were incubated with optimal concentrations of fluorescently conjugated mouse monoclonal antibody targeting activation markers [CD38-FITC: AT13/5; 2 μg/ml, CD69-PE:FN50; 5 μg/ml (both Dako) 12G10: 5 μg/ml; gift of Martin J. Humphries, University of Manchester, UK], adhesion molecules [aL-FITC: MHM24; 2 μg/ml, α4-FITC:44H6; 2 μg/ml, L-selectin- FITC:FMC46; 4 μg/ml (all from Dako)], chemokine receptors [CCR2-PE:48607.211; 1.5 μg/ml, CCR5-PE: CTC5; 2 μg/ml, CCR6-PE:53103.111; 1.2 μg/ml, CXCR1- PE:42705.111; 2.5 μg/ml, CXCR3-

PE:49801; 1.5 µg/ml, CXCR4-PE:12G5; 2.5 µg/ml, CXCR6-PE:56811; 1.2 µg/ ml (all from R&D Systems)] or isotype-matched control antibody. FITC or PE conjugated mouse anti-human CD3 monoclonal antibody (UCHT1; 5 µg/ml, Dako) was also used to label T lymphocytes. Lymphocytes were further stained with 7-amino-actinomycin D (7-AAD) according to the manufacturer's instructions (BD Biosciences, Oxford, UK) before analysis to discriminate dead cells from the live cell population on the cytometer. 7-AAD⁺ cells were excluded and median channel fluorescence values and percentage positivity were determined for each marker.

Flow-based adhesion assay

For flow-based adhesion assays, HSEC were grown to confluence in glass microcapillary tubes (Camlab Ltd, Cambridge, UK), stimulated with TNF- α and IFN- γ (both at 10 ng/ml; Peprotech, London, UK) for 24 h and connected to the flow system (23, 25). Lymphocytes were resuspended at a concentration of 5×10^5 viable cells/ml in basal media containing 0.1% (v/v) BSA and perfused over HSEC at a constant wall shear stress of 0.05 Pa. Lymphocyte adhesion was visualized using phase contrast video microscopy and recordings were made for offline analysis. The total number of adherent lymphocytes was normalized and expressed as cells/ mm²/10⁶ perfused, and migrated cells were also counted and calculated as a percentage of total adherent cells as described previously (23). Function blocking antibodies were applied to HSEC [anti-ICAM-1:84H10; Immunotech, Marseille, France, anti-VCAM-1:1G11; Immunotech, anti-E-selectin:1.2B6; Dako, anti-VAP-1:TK8-14; gift of David Smith, Biotie, anti-CD31:HEC-7; Endogen, Pierce Biotechnology Inc., Rockford, IL, USA, and isotype matched control mAb (Dako)] prior to perfusion of lymphocytes. Similarly, lymphocytes were incubated with antibody raised against β 2 integrin (7E4: Immunotech) or the chemokine receptors

CCR5 (45531), CXCR3 (49801), CXCR4 (44716) (all from R&D Systems) and CXCR6 (7F3; gift of Mike Briskin, Millennium Pharmaceuticals Inc., Cambridge, MA, USA). All antibodies were applied at 10–20 µg/ml for 20 min at 37°C. The inhibitor of VAP-1/SSAO 2-bromoethylamine hydrobromide (Sigma) was incubated with lymphocytes and HSEC at 200uM for 20 min, 37°C, and maintained in lymphocyte suspensions and wash buffer throughout the experimental assay. Pertussis toxin (Sigma) was used to inhibit G-protein linked chemokine signalling by incubating lymphocytes (100 ng/ml, 90 min at 37°C) before perfusion over HSEC.

Statistical analysis

Data were assessed for normal distribution using the Kolmogorov–Smirnov test. Paired samples were analysed using the paired samples t-test in the case of parametric data. For unrelated samples, either independent samples t-test (for parametric data) or Mann–Whitney U-test (for non-parametric data) was employed. A P-value of less than 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant throughout the analysis.

Results

Adhesion molecule and chemokine staining in liver tissue

The liver removed at transplantation from patients with ALF exhibited varying degrees of necrosis and hepatocyte ballooning associated with the loss of normal lobular architecture. Tissue from patients with POD exhibited the greatest degree of central necrosis consistent with the toxic nature of the injury. Increased numbers of inflammatory cells were observed in both POD and SNH samples compared with non-diseased liver tissues. The parenchyma from both POD and SNH patients included areas of surviving hepatocytes and necrotic areas in which few, if any,

structures, including blood vessels could be recognized. Lymphocytic infiltration was particularly prominent in SNH whereas parenchymal necrosis tended to be more extensive in the POD cases. Interestingly, we did note residual adhesion molecule expression within necrotic areas in ALF which were particularly abundant in patients with POD (Figure S1).

Endothelial adhesion molecules

We scored expression of adhesion molecules on all vessels and within necrotic areas for all patients (see Table S1), but were particularly interested in sinusoidal areas that represent the major site for inflammatory cell recruitment (26). ICAM-1 was expressed at basal levels on sinusoidal endothelium in non-diseased liver tissue and levels increased markedly on sinusoids in both POD and SNH (Fig. 1). It was largely absent from portal vessels; although diffuse staining was observed in necrotic areas (Figure S1B). Hepatocyte membranes stained positively for ICAM-1 in SNH (Fig. 1). CD31, VCAM-1 and VAP-1 were upregulated on sinusoidal endothelium (Fig. 1) during ALF, but again little expression was detected on portal vessels. Necrotic areas in both POD and SNH were diffusely positive for CD31, VCAM-1 and VAP-1 (Figure S1B). In general, E- and P-selectin were not detected on sinusoidal endothelium as reported previously (27), although importantly we noted that occasional patients with ALF demonstrated infrequent, localized areas of E-selectin staining on sinusoidal or portal vessels (Figure S1A).

Hepatic chemokine expression

Little staining for CXCR3 ligands CXCL9, CXC10 and CXCL11 was detected on HSEC in normal liver, but all three chemokines were detected in ALF liver tissue with strong expression of CXCL9 and CXCL10 on sinusoids and occasionally on hepatocyte membranes. The intensity of CXCL10 staining was highest at sites of leucocyte infiltration (Fig. 2A see arrow on panel). CCL4, CCL5 and CXCL16 were all detected in both sinusoids and hepatocytes in all livers with markedly increased staining in SNH (Fig. 2A,B). Strong staining of chemokines was seen in necrotic regions in ALF (Figure S2).

Integrin and chemokine receptor expression on lymphocytes

Flow cytometric analysis of lymphocytes isolated from peripheral blood and liver demonstrated a reversal of the CD4/CD8 ratio in tissue (SNH CD4 blood 47.6 ± 12.4% and liver 24.1 ± 4.3 CD8 blood 18.5 ± 7% and liver 51.9 ± 16.6%; POD CD4 blood $37.3 \pm 5.8\%$ and liver $21.3 \pm 2.4\%$ CD8 blood $17.1 \pm 2.2\%$ and liver $47.7 \pm$ 17.7% n = 4 donors for each). We did not see significant differences between PBL from healthy donors and those with ALF with regard to integrins, chemokine receptors or activation markers. Liver derived lymphocytes expressed high levels of β2 integrins, low levels of L-selectin and high levels of CD69 when compared with matched blood samples. No significant difference was observed with CD38 (Table 1 and Fig. 3). Although LIL were enriched by a population of $\alpha L\beta 2^{h}$ cells, a small population of $\alpha L\beta 2^{\circ}$ cells was also seen in SNH (data not shown) and we demonstrated the expression of the β 1-integrin activation reporter epitope in LIL and PBL during SNH (91 ± 1.26% positive SNH LIL vs 88 ± 2% positive on SNH PBL). Lselectin was expressed by approximately 60% of patient PBL but significantly reduced on liver-derived cells in ALF (Table 1). CXCR3 expression was increased in liver-derived lymphocytes compared with blood, whereas CXCR4 was highly expressed in all populations (Fig. 4). CCR5 (Table 1 and Figure S3) and CXCR6

were present at relatively low levels on lymphocytes in blood and liver with a modest increase in the expression of SNH LIL.

Lymphocyte adhesion to human sinusoidal endothelium in vitro

We used a flow-based adhesion assay incorporating cytokine-activated HSEC [TNF- α and IFN- γ (28) treatment] to model lymphocyte interactions with inflamed endothelium. We compared the behaviour of PBL from patients with POD or SNH with liver-derived lymphocytes from patients with SNH. Poor yields of viable lymphocytes from livers explanted from POD patients meant that these cells could not be studied in the adhesion assays.

Peripheral blood lymphocytes from SNH and POD patients behaved similarly, with adhesion supported by β1 and β2 integrins (Fig. 5A,B). A combination of blocking reagents was necessary to reduce adhesion by >60%. We then studied the proportion of adherent cells that went on to transmigrate through the endothelial monolayer under flow (Figs 6 and 7). The proportion migrating was similar to that found in our previous studies in healthy volunteers, but we saw less inhibition of TEM with anti-integrin antibodies. When LIL were studied, we saw a significant reduction in TEM after antibody blockade of VAP-1 or inhibition of VAP-1/ SSAO activity with enzyme inhibitors (23) VCAM-1, ICAM-1 and CD31 also contributing (Figs 6A and 7). Migration was reduced by pertussis toxin and small reductions were seen in the presence of blocking antibodies against CCR5, CXCR3 and CXCR4 (Figs 5 and 6).

Discussion

Current animal models of acute liver injury are limited by their inability to fully reproduce the features of human ALF (29). Immune cell recruitment from the circulation is an early feature of ALF and the accumulation of cells such as macrophages (30), neutrophils (31) and lymphocytes alters the local cytokine environment, and promotes inflammation and hepatocyte apoptosis (32, 33). This led us to study the mechanisms underlying lymphocyte recruitment using patient lymphocytes and liver samples. Our data suggest that a marked increase in the local hepatic expression of chemokines and adhesion molecules is responsible for the recruitment of lymphocytes to the liver in patients with fulminant hepatitis. Acute paracetamol toxicity results in confluent cell necrosis (Figure S1) with a secondary inflammatory infiltrate composed of monocytes and lymphocytes (32). The syndrome is dominated by direct toxic damage and inflammation is a secondary event. This contrasts with SNH in which a heavy lymphocyte-rich infiltrate is responsible for hepatocyte damage mediated via direct activation of death receptors or the secretion of cytokines (1, 7). Consistent with previous studies, we found that the infiltrate in SNH is dominated by CD8 T cells in portal tracts, and in the parenchyma where effector T cells were seen in close contact with hepatocytes (34-37). NK cells and CD8+ T lymphocytes can directly kill hepatocytes by activating TNF-receptor superfamily-mediated cell death pathways (33, 38). Liver-derived lymphocytes in our study expressed a phenotype associated with activated effector T cells with high surface levels of CD69, α 4 β 1 and α L β 2, and low levels of L-selectin (39, 40) and high levels of CXCR3 consistent with our previous observations in chronic hepatitis and liver disease (21, 28, 41). The CXCR3^h $\alpha L\beta 2^h$ CD69^h phenotype is consistent with effector cells. We did not detect enrichment of CCR6^h cells suggesting that Th17 cells do not dominate in the infiltrate. In vitro, studies have demonstrated that the expression of CCR5 is independent from that of CXCR3, but correlates with CXCR6 in both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ lymphocytes (42, 43). Moreover, acutely activated lymphocytes in vitro express CXCR3 with no detectable CCR5 expression, but cell

surface levels of both receptors increase gradually in long-term cultures (44, 45). Thus, differences in the levels of CCR5 in ALF and chronic hepatitis may be a consequence of the duration of lymphocyte activation in an environment dominated by persistent chronic inflammation. Intravital studies have demonstrated that most leucocyte entry into the inflamed liver occurs in the sinusoids in a selectinindependent process (27). Generally, the sinusoidal endothelium of the human liver does not express E-/P-selectins even with inflammation (10), although consistent with previous observations in alcoholic hepatitis we detected infrequent, focal sinusoidal E-selectin expression in ALF (Figure S1). E-selectin dependent ligation of leucocyte P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 modifies the avidity of α L β 2-integrin (46) which may result in strengthening of α L β 2-integrin and ICAM-1-mediated adhesion of lymphocytes within hepatic sinusoids.

The α L β 2-integrin predominates in antigen-dependent adhesion of CD8⁺ T cells in the liver (47), whereas CD4⁺ Th1 cells use α 4 β 1-integrin to adhere within the hepatic sinusoids (14). Their ligands, ICAM-1 and VCAM-1, have been shown to mediate lymphocyte adhesion to human hepatic endothelium, and ICAM-1 is important for transmigration across HSEC under flow (28, 39). In this study, significant ICAM-1 expression and VCAM-1 induction were seen in cases with severe liver inflammation (11), and lymphocyte adhesion to HSEC under flow was dependent on ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 and could be reduced by inhibiting G-protein coupled receptors with pertussis toxin suggesting that chemokines are involved. Transmigration of LIL from SNH involved β 2-integrins and VAP-1/SSAO. Interestingly, the migration of PBL from SNH patients was enhanced when VCAM-1 (with or without ICAM-1) was inhibited, suggesting an inhibitory role for VCAM- 1 in transmigration of these lymphocytes. This has been shown to occur only when α 4 β 1-integrin on lymphocytes is expressed in the fully active state (48) and we detected a distinct population of circulating lymphocytes expressing high-affinity β 1-integrins by staining for mAb 12G10, which recognizes a ligand-induced activation epitope on β 1-integrins (49). Moreover, integrin ligand specificity is governed by activation state and fully activated α 4 β 1integrin can bind fibronectin in addition to VCAM-1 (50). Thus, in SNH, highly activated lymphocyte integrins may support alternative routes of adhesion. Inhibition of α 4-integrins in ConA-dependent hepatitis has been observed to worsen hepatic inflammation (51).

VAP-1 protein and enzymatic activity have a role in both adhesion and transmigration of lymphocytes across cytokine-activated HSEC under flow and in migration through the hepatic sinusoids in vivo (52). In vivo, the recruitment of activated CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ lymphocytes in rat liver allograft rejection (53) and CD4+ Th2 cells in ConA hepatitis (14) is dependent on VAP-1 showing that VAP-1 regulates adhesion of different lymphocyte subsets in the liver depending on the nature of inflammatory stimulus. In the present study, although antibody blockade of VAP-1 or inhibition of SSAO activity (data not shown) had no effect on total adhesion, the transmigration of LIL from SNH patients was reduced by either antibody blockade of VAP-1 or inhibition of SSAO activity. Taken together with our findings of increased sinusoidal VAP-1 expression in ALF, it is likely that VAP-1 contributes to the recruitment of effector lymphocytes in ALF.

Similarly, hepatic expression of CD31 increased in both the portal and sinusoidal endothelium in ALF, and CD31 blockade reduced transmigration of LIL in patients with SNH. CD31 can engage with both heterotypic and homotypic ligands and has been shown to mediate leucocyte migration through endothelial cell junctions and basement membrane (54, 55). Therefore, homotypic CD31 interactions between HSEC and lymphocytes may promote lymphocyte interactions with endothelial ligands as shown previously for CD8⁺ (56) and NK cells, or elevated expression during ALF may promote heterotypic interactions with CD38 (57), which are detected in a population of LIL.

In chronic hepatitis, CXCR3 ligands are increased in the sinusoidal endothelium and hepatocytes resulting in the recruitment of CXCR3⁺ lymphocytes to the liver (28, 41, 58) and CXCL16 is expressed in the hepatic parenchyma (21) and on bile ducts. whereas CCR5 ligands are largely restricted to portal tracts (41). However, in ALF, we detected significant expression of CCR5 ligands in the sinusoids (36). The highest levels of CCR5, CXCR3 and CXCR6 ligands were seen in patients with SNH and only in SNH did we detect increased numbers of CCR5 and CXCR6 cells in the liver. Interestingly, CXCR3 ligands were not detected on the sinusoids in POD which might be a consequence of their dependence on IFN- γ for maximal expression (26) which comes from infiltrating lymphocytes in ALF (34). Thus, POD maybe associated with lower intrahepatic IFN- γ levels (58). The chemokine receptors CCR5, CXCR3 and CXCR6 have been shown to specifically mediate the recruitment of effector CD8⁺ T cells to the liver in mice models of graft vs host disease and murine cytomegalovirus infection (59–61). Our group has shown that CXCR6 triggers β 1integrin-dependent adhesion of lymphocytes in liver (21) whereas CXCR3 mediates both adhesion and transmigration of effector lymphocytes across HSEC through ICAM-1-dependent pathway under flow (28). In this study, the inhibition of CCR5 and CXCR3 with mAb had a moderate effect on the transmigration of lymphocytes from either POD or SNH patients consistent with their expression of activated integrins that do not require chemokine receptor-mediated triggering of adhesion. In summary, we demonstrate that during ALF, adhesion molecules (ICAM-1, VCAM-1, VAP-1 and CD31) and chemokines (CXCL9-11, CXCL16 and CCL4) are locally upregulated within the hepatic parenchyma. We also demonstrate that lymphocytes isolated from this environment have an activated phenotype with corresponding upregulation of specific chemokine receptors such as CXCR3. Our functional assays confirm that VCAM-1, ICAM-1 VAP-1 and CD31 contribute to the recruitment of lymphocytes to the liver in SNH and suggest that individual chemokines have a relatively modest role. Further studies are necessary to determine whether specific combinations of pro-adhesive signals drive subset- specific recruitment, and to test whether inhibition of key regulatory cells may modulate the outcome of acute hepatic inflammation for patient benefit.

References

1. Bernal W, Auzinger G, Dhawan A, Wendon J. Acute liver failure. Lancet 2010; 376: 190–201.

2. Lee WM, Squires RH Jr, Nyberg SL, Doo E, Hoofnagle JH. Acute liver failure: summary of a workshop. Hepatology 2008; 47: 1401–15.

3. Kondo Y, Kobayashi K, Asabe S, et al. Vigorous response of cytotoxic T lymphocytes associated with systemic activation of CD8 T lymphocytes in fulminant hepatitis B. Liver Int 2004; 24: 561–7.

4. Robinson RT, Wang J, Cripps JG, et al. End-organ damage in a mouse model of fulminant liver inflammation requires CD4+ T cell production of IFN-gamma but is independent of Fas. J Immunol 2009; 182: 3278–84.

5. Wu Z, Han M, Chen T, Yan W, Ning Q. Acute liver failure: mechanisms of immune-mediated liver injury. Liver Int 2010; 30: 782–94.

 Imaeda AB, Watanabe A, Sohail MA, et al. Acetaminophen- induced hepatotoxicity in mice is dependent on TIr9 and the Nalp3 inflammasome. J Clin Invest 2009; 119: 305–14.

7. Quaglia A, Portmann BC, Knisely AS, et al. Auxiliary transplantation for acute liver failure: histopathological study of native liver regeneration. Liver Transpl 2008; 14: 1437–48.

8. Luster MI, Simeonova PP, Gallucci RM, et al. Role of inflammation in chemicalinduced hepatotoxicity. Toxicol Lett 2001; 120: 317–21.

9. Ando K, Moriyama T, Guidotti LG, et al. Mechanisms of class I restricted immunopathology. A transgenic mouse model of fulminant hepatitis. J Exp Med 1993; 178: 1541–54.

10. Lalor PF, Adams DH. The liver: a model of organ-specific lymphocyte recruitment. Expert Rev Mol Med 2002; 4: 1–16.

11. Steinhoff G, Behrend M, Schrader B, Duijvestijn AM, Wonigeit K. Expression patterns of leukocyte adhesion ligand molecules on human liver endothelia. Lack of ELAM-1 and CD62 inducibility on sinusoidal endothelia and distinct distribution of VCAM-1, ICAM-1, ICAM-2, and LFA-3. Am J Pathol 1993; 142: 481–8.

12. Wolf D, Hallmann R, Sass G, et al. TNF-alpha-induced expression of adhesion molecules in the liver is under the control of TNFR1–relevance for concanavalin A-induced hepatitis. J Immunol 2001; 166: 1300–7.

13. Morikawa H, Hachiya K, Mizuhara H, et al. Sublobular veins as the main site of lymphocyte adhesion/ transmigration and adhesion molecule expression in the portosinusoidal hepatic venous system during concanavalin A-induced hepatitis in mice. Hepatology 2000; 31: 83–94.

14. Bonder CS, Norman MU, Swain MG, et al. Rules of recruitment for Th1 and th2 lymphocytes in inflamed liver: a role for alpha-4 integrin and vascular adhesion protein-1. Immunity 2005; 23: 153–63.

15. Tiegs G, Hentschel J, Wendel A. A T cell-dependent experimental liver injury in mice inducible by concanavalin A. JClinInvest 1992; 90: 196–203.

 Matsumoto G, Tsunematsu S, Tsukinoki K, et al. Essential role of the adhesion receptor LFA-1 for T cell-dependent fulminant hepatitis. J Immunol 2002; 169: 7087– 96.

17. Kawasuji A, Hasegawa M, Horikawa M, et al. L-selectin and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 regulate the development of Concanavalin A-induced liver injury. JLeukoc- Biol 2006; 79: 696–705.

18. Moreno C, Gustot T, Nicaise C, et al. CCR5 deficiency exacerbates T-cellmediated hepatitis in mice. Hepatology 2005; 42: 854–62.

19. Ajuebor MN, Wondimu Z, Hogaboam CM, et al. CCR5 deficiency drives enhanced natural killer cell trafficking to and activation within the liver in murine T cell-mediated hepatitis. Am J Pathol 2007; 170: 1975–88.

20. Erhardt A, Wegscheid C, Claass B, et al. CXCR3 deficiency exacerbates liver disease and abrogates tolerance in a mouse model of immune-mediated hepatitis. J Immunol 2011; 186: 5284–93.
21. Heydtmann M, Lalor PF, Eksteen JA, et al. CXC chemokine ligand 16 promotes integrin-mediated adhesion of liver-infiltrating lymphocytes to cholangiocytes and hepatocytes within the inflamed human liver. J Immunol 2005; 174: 1055–62.

22. Faint JM, Tuncer C, Garg A, Adams DH, Lalor PF. Functional consequences of human lymphocyte cryopreservation: implications for subsequent interactions of cells with endothelium. J Immunother 2011; 34: 588–96.

23. Lalor PF, Sun PJ, Weston CJ, et al. Activation of vascular adhesion protein-1 on liver endothelium results in an NF-kappaB-dependent increase in lymphocyte adhesion. Hepatology 2007; 45: 465–74.

24. Aspinall AI, Curbishley SM, Lalor PF, et al. CX(3)CR1 and vascular adhesion protein-1-dependent recruitment of CD16(+) monocytes across human liver sinusoidal endothelium. Hepatology 2010; 51: 2030–9.

25. Oo YH, Weston CJ, Lalor PF, et al. Distinct roles for CCR4 and CXCR3 in the recruitment and positioning of regulatory T cells in the inflamed human liver. J Immunol 2010; 184: 2886–98.

26. Xu XD, Ueta H, Zhou S, et al. Trafficking of recirculating lymphocytes in the rat liver: rapid transmigration into the portal area and then to the hepatic lymph. Liver Int 2008; 28: 319–30.

27. Wong J, Johnston B, Lee SS, et al. A minimal role for selectins in the recruitment of leukocytes into the inflamed liver microvasculature. J Clin Invest 1997; 99: 2782–90.

28. Curbishley SM, Eksteen B, Gladue RP, Lalor P, Adams DH. CXCR3 activation promotes lymphocyte transendothelial migration across human hepatic endothelium under fluid flow. Am J Pathol 2005; 167: 887–99.

29. Tunon MJ, Alvarez M, Culebras JM, Gonzalez-Gallego J. An overview of animal models for investigating the pathogenesis and therapeutic strategies in acute hepatic failure. World J Gastroenterol 2009; 15: 3086–98.

30. Adams DH, Ju C, Ramaiah SK, Uetrecht J, Jaeschke H. Mechanisms of immune-mediated liver injury1. Toxicol Sci 2010; 115: 307–21.

31. Liu ZX, Govindarajan S, Kaplowitz N. Innate immune system plays a critical role in determining the progression and severity of acetaminophen hepatotoxicity.Gastroenterology 2004; 127: 1760–74.

32. Hinson JA, Roberts DW, James LP. Mechanisms of acetaminophen- induced liver necrosis. Handb Exp Pharmacol 2010; 196: 369–405.

33. Ryo K, Kamogawa Y, Ikeda I, et al. Significance of Fas antigen-mediated apoptosis in human fulminant hepatic failure. Am J Gastroenterol 2000; 95: 2047–55.

34. Leifeld L, Cheng S, Ramakers J, et al. Imbalanced intrahepatic expression of interleukin 12, interferon gamma, and interleukin 10 in fulminant hepatitis B. Hepatology 2002; 36(4 Pt 1): 1001–8.

35. Nagaki M, Iwai H, Naiki T, et al. High levels of serum interleukin-10 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha are associated with fatality in fulminant hepatitis. J Infect Dis 2000; 182: 1103–8.

36. Leifeld L, Dumoulin FL, Purr I, et al. Early up-regulation of chemokine expression in fulminant hepatic failure. J Pathol 2003; 199: 335–44.

37. Nonomura A, Mizukami Y, Matsubara F, Nakanuma Y, Kobayashi K. The cellular infiltrate in the liver of patients with fulminant hepatitis: analysis of paraffin-embedded tissue sections. Intern Med 1992; 31: 154–9.

38. Ito H, Ando K, Ishikawa T, et al. Role of TNF-alpha produced by nonantigenspecific cells in a fulminant hepatitis mouse model. J Immunol 2009; 182: 391–7.

39. Yoong KF, McNab G, Hubscher SG, Adams DH. Vascular adhesion protein-1 and ICAM-1 support the adhesion of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes to tumor endothelium in human hepatocellular carcinoma. J Immunol 1998; 160: 3978–88.

40. Garcia-Barcina M, Lukomska B, Gawron W, et al. Expression of cell adhesion molecules on liver-associated lymphocytes and their ligands on sinusoidal lining cells in patients with benign or malignant liver disease. Am J Pathol 1995; 146: 1406–13.

41. Shields PL, Morland CM, Salmon M, et al. Chemokine and chemokine receptor interactions provide a mechanism for selective T cell recruitment to specific liver compartments within hepatitis C-infected liver. J Immunol 1999; 163: 6236–43.

42. Wang J, Holmes TH, Cheung R, Greenberg HB, He XS. Expression of chemokine receptors on intrahepatic and peripheral lymphocytes in chronic hepatitis C infection: its relationship to liver inflammation. J Infect Dis 2004; 190: 989–97.

43. Unutmaz D, Xiang W, Sunshine MJ, et al. The primate lentiviral receptor Bonzo/STRL33 is coordinately regulated with CCR5 and its expression pattern is conserved between human and mouse. J Immunol 2000; 165: 3284–92.

44. Qin S, Rottman JB, Myers P, et al. The chemokine receptors CXCR3 and CCR5 mark subsets of T cells associated with certain inflammatory reactions. J Clin Invest 1998; 101: 746–54.

45. Bleul CC, Wu L, Hoxie JA, Springer TA, Mackay CR. The HIV coreceptors CXCR4 and CCR5 are differentially expressed and regulated on human T lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997; 94: 1925–30.

46. Green CE, Pearson DN, Camphausen RT, Staunton DE, Simon SI. Sheardependent capping of L-selectin and P-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 by E-selectin signals activation of high-avidity beta2-integrin on neutrophils. J Immunol 2004; 172: 7780–90.

47. John B, Crispe IN. Passive and active mechanisms trap activated CD8+ T cells in the liver. J Immunol 2004; 172: 5222–9.

48. Weber C, Alon R, Moser B, Springer TA. Sequential regulation of alpha 4 beta 1 and alpha 5 beta 1 integrin avidity by CC chemokines in monocytes: implications for transendothelial chemotaxis. J Cell Biol 1996; 134: 1063–73.

49. Mould AP, Garratt AN, Askari JA, Akiyama SK, Humphries MJ. Identification of a novel anti-integrin monoclonal antibody that recognises a ligand-induced binding site epitope on the beta 1 subunit. FEBS Lett 1995; 363: 118–22.

50. Masumoto A, Hemler ME. Multiple activation states of VLA-4. Mechanistic differences between adhesion to CS1/ fibronectin and to vascular cell adhesion molecule-1. J Biol Chem 1993; 268: 228–34.

51. Lee WY, Kubes P. Leukocyte adhesion in the liver: distinct adhesion paradigm from other organs. J Hepatol 2008; 48: 504–12.

52. Lalor PF, Edwards S, McNab G, et al. Vascular adhesion protein-1 mediates adhesion and transmigration of lymphocytes on human hepatic endothelial cells. J Immunol 2002; 169: 983–92.

53. Martelius T, Salaspuro V, Salmi M, et al. Blockade of vascular adhesion protein-1 inhibits lymphocyte infiltration in rat liver allograft rejection. Am J Pathol 2004; 165: 1993–2001.

54. Woodfin A, Voisin MB, Nourshargh S. PECAM-1: a multi-functional molecule in inflammation and vascular biology. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2007; 27: 2514–23.

55. Torzicky M, Viznerova P, Richter S, et al. Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1/CD31) and CD99 are critical in lymphatic transmigration of human dendritic cells. J Invest Dermatol 2012; 132: 1149–57.

56. Tanaka Y, Albelda SM, Horgan KJ, et al. CD31 expressed on distinctive T cell subsets is a preferential amplifier of a1 integrin-mediated adhesion. J Exp Med 1992; 176: 245–53.

57. Deaglio S, Morra M, Mallone R, et al. Human CD38 (ADP-ribosyl cyclase) is a counter-receptor of CD31, an Ig superfamily member. J Immunol 1998; 160: 395–402.

58. Zeremski M, Petrovic LM, Chiriboga L, et al. Intrahepatic levels of CXCR3associated chemokines correlate with liver inflammation and fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology 2008; 48: 1440–50.

59. Hokeness KL, Deweerd ES, Munks MW, et al. CXCR3- dependent recruitment of antigen-specific T lymphocytes to the liver during murine cytomegalovirus infection. J Virol 2007; 81: 1241–50.

60. Murai M, Yoneyama H, Harada A, et al. Active participation of CCR5(+)CD8(+) T lymphocytes in the pathogenesis of liver injury in graft-versus-host disease. J Clin Invest 1999; 104: 49–57.

61. Sato T, Thorlacius H, Johnston B, et al. Role for CXCR6 in recruitment of activated CD8+ lymphocytes to inflamed liver. J Immunol 2005; 174: 277–83.

%Positive	Normal	POD	POD LIL	SNH PBL	SNH LIL
cells	PBL	PBL			
aL	99.5 ± 0.2	98.2 ±	99.7 ± 0.1	99.4 ± 0.08	99.2 ± 0.4
		0.5			
a4	85.3 ± 4.9	77.0 ±	85.7 ± 5.0	80.4 ± 6.4	84.9 ± 6.1
		5.0			
L-selectin	63.9 ± 1.0	66.5 ±	23.2 ±	59.1 ± 11.7	25.9 ± 2.6*
		3.8	2.3***		
CD 38	58.0 ± 10.6	63.3 ±	47.0 ± 12.6	69.6 ± 6.7	81.3 ± 3.1
		3.7			
CD 69	24.0 ± 5 6	14.8 ±	60.8 ± 5.4**	17.3 ± 3.9	73.6 ± 11.1***
		1.4			
CCR2	3.5 ± 0.3	3.5 ±	2.7 ± 0.7	3.2 ± 0.4	4.4 ± 0.9
		0.4			
CCR5	3.0 ± 0.3	3.9 ±	5.5 ± 1.4	4.1 ± 0.3* vs	10.2 ± 3.7
		0.4		NL	
CCR6	4.3 ± 0.7	4.4 ±	2.4 ± 0.3*	4.7 ± 0.7	4.1 ±1.1
		0.4			
CXCR1	4.3 ± 0.2	6.4 ±	4.5 ± 1.1	3.7 ± 0.5	5.1 ± 1.1
		1.5			

CXCR3	45.1 ± 6.9	25.5 ±	47.5 ± 13.9	32.0 ± 8.1	61.0 ± 12.4		
		6.3					
CXCR4	78.1 ± 5.1	81.7 ±	73.4 ± 9.9	78.5 ± 5.1	83.6 ± 4.9		
		2.4					
CXCR6	3.4 ± 0.4	3.7 ±	2.8 ± 0.7	3.1 ± 0.2	7.5 ± 1.9 * vs		
		0.7			POD LIL		
*P ≤ 0.05; **P ≤ 0.01; ***P ≤ 0.001.							

Table 1. The percentage of peripheral blood lymphocytes (PBL) or liver-infiltrating lymphocytes (LIL) staining positively for adhesion molecules, activation markers and chemokine receptors is summarized for normal donors and patients with paracetamol overdose (POD) or seronegative hepatitis (SNH). Data represent mean percentage of positive cells \pm SEM for n = 3–7 donors. Statistical significance was calculated by independent samples t-test for different PBL or LIL groups and PBL and LIL populations of the same aetiology



Fig. 3. Adhesion molecule (α L integrin, α 4 integrin and L-selectin) and activation marker (CD38 and CD69) expression on peripheral blood and liver-infiltrating

lymphocytes is shown for patients with (A) seronegative hepatitis and (B) paracetamol overdose. Data are expressed as median channel fluorescence values and represent mean \pm SEM of at least three experiments for each lymphocyte group studied where cells were isolated from different donors for each experiment. Independent samples t-test or Mann–Whitney U-test was used to calculate statistical significance (**P ≤ 0.01) and compared median channel fluorescence values between lymphocyte populations.



Fig. 4. The expression of chemokine receptors CXCR3 and CXCR4 on circulating and liver-derived lymphocytes from normal donors and patients with acute liver failure (POD; paracetamol overdose, SNH; seronegative hepatitis) was investigated by flow cytometry. Data represent mean \pm SEM of median channel fluorescence values from at least four separate experiments using different donors for each. Independent samples t-test was used to compare the expression of CXCR3 and CXCR4 between different PBL groups, LIL groups or PBL and LIL populations of the same aetiology (*P ≤ 0.05; normal vs POD PBL, **P ≤ 0.01; POD PBL vs POD LIL).



Fig. 5. The role of endothelial adhesion molecules and chemokine receptors on adhesion of patient lymphocytes to HSEC was studied using a flow-based adhesion assay. HSEC stimulated with TNF- α and IFN- γ (10 ng/ml; for 24 h before assay), were treated with function blocking monoclonal antibodies targeting ICAM-1, VCAM-1, E-selectin, VAP-1 or isotype-matched control antibody prior to perfusion of lymphocytes at a shear stress of 0.05 Pa. Alternately, lymphocytes were incubated with function blocking monoclonal antibody targeting chemokine receptors as indicated, pertussis toxin (PTX), or an isotype-matched control antibody before perfusion over HSEC. The total adhesion of lymphocytes is expressed as adherent cells/mm²/10⁶ perfused. Data represent mean ± SEM of four experiments using

lymphocytes from different patients for each replicate. Paired samples t-test was used to calculate statistical significance (* $P \le 0.05$; ** $P \le 0.01$; *** $P \le 0.001$) between the adhesion in the presence of function blocking monoclonal antibody or PTX and the adhesion in the presence of isotype-matched control antibody or control (PBL, peripheral blood lymphocytes; LIL, liver-infiltrating lymphocytes).



Fig. 6. The effect of endothelial adhesion molecules and chemokine receptors on transendothelial migration of lymphocytes from patients with acute liver failure secondary to paracetamol overdose or seronegative hepatitis was investigated under flow conditions (0.05 Pa). Lymphocytes that underwent transmigration across HSEC are expressed as a percentage of total adhesion. HSEC was prestimulated with TNF α and IFN- γ (10 ng/ml, 24 h) and treated with function blocking monoclonal antibodies or isotype-matched control antibody, as indicated. Alternately lymphocytes were incubated with function blocking monoclonal antibody targeting chemokine receptors as indicated, pertussis toxin (PTX), or an isotype matched control antibody before perfusion over HSEC at a constant shear stress of 0.05 Pa.

Data represent mean \pm SEM from four separate experiments each using lymphocytes from different patients. Paired samples t-test indicated statistical significance (*P \leq 0.05; **P \leq 0.01) between transmigration in the presence of function blocking monoclonal antibody and isotype-matched control (PBL, peripheral blood lymphocytes; LIL, liver-infiltrating lymphocytes).



Fig. 7. Transmigration of PBL from patients with paracetamol overdose compared to that of PBL and LIL from patients with seronegative hepatitis. Lymphocytes that underwent transmigration across TNF α and IFN- γ stimulated HSEC are expressed as a percentage of total adhesion in the absence or presence of function blocking monoclonal antibodies (CD31 and b2 integrin, to treat HSEC and lymphocytes respectively) or VAP-1 enzyme activity inhibitor (Semicarbazide, SSAO). Data represent mean ± SEM of four separate experiments each using lymphocytes from different patients. Paired samples t test indicated statistical significance (*P ≤ 0.05; **P ≤ 0.01) between the transmigration in the presence of functional inhibition vs control cells (PBL, peripheral blood lymphocytes; LIL, liver-infiltrating lymphocytes).



Fig. 2. Sinusoidal staining for (A) CXC-chemokines and (B) CC-chemokines was compared between livers from normal donors, patients with paracetamol overdose (POD), seronegative hepatitis (SNH) or chronic liver disease (CLD; representative images from a patient with primary biliary cirrhosis). Chemokine expression is indicated by brown staining and isotype-matched antibody was used as control. Data are representative images from one of four replicate experiments using different donors. Original magnification 400x.



(A) Exemplary images of immunohistochemical staining for E-selectin in sinusoids of tissue sections from normal liver, paracetamol overdose (POD) liver, and seronegative hepatitis (SNH) liver illustrating occasional focal positive staining. (B) Images from immunohistochemical staining show the expression of *indicated* adhesion molecules (red) in necrotic areas of liver sections from patients with acute liver failure secondary to POD and SNH. Data present representative images from 1 of at least 4 different donors, 400X magnification.

Supplemental Figure 1



Representative images from immunohistochemical staining show the expression of (*A*) CC-chemokines and (*B*) CXC-chemokines (brown), as indicated, in the necrotic areas of liver sections from patients with acute liver failure secondary to paracetamol overdose (POD) and seronegative hepatitis (SNH). Data present representative images from 1 of at least 4 separate donors, 400X magnification.

Supplemental Figure 2



Representative dot plots for chemokine receptor expression on typical donors of PBL and LIL populations gated according to forward scatter and side scatter characteristics. Dot plots illustrate variables FL1 (CD3⁺–FITC) & FL2 (chemokine receptor–PE) from single typical donors. Values in each quadrant represent percentage of cells from 1 experiment.

Supplemental Figure 3

LIVER TYPE	ICAM-1	VCAM-1	CD31	VAP-1	E/P-Selectin			
Expression of Adhesion Molecules on Surviving Sinusoidal EC								
NORMAL	+	+	+	+	_/_			
CLD	++	+	+	+	_/_			
POD	+++	++	++	+ to ++	_/_			
SNH	+++	++	++	+ to ++	_/_			
Expression of Adhesion Molecules on Necrotic Tissue								
POD	++	+	+++	+++	_/_			
SNH	++	+ to ++	+++	+++	_/_			
Expression of Adhesion Molecules on Vascular EC of Portal Tracts								
NORMAL	_	-	+	+	_/_			
CLD	_	_	+	+	_/_			
POD	_	-	++	+	_/_			
SNH	_	-	++	+	_/_			

Table 1 : Summary of Adhesion Molecule staining data

Semiquantitative scoring of the staining data for adhesion molecule expression on different tissue structures of normal (n=4) and diseased livers (n=4+ for each disease type). Baseline expression of each molecule in normal livers was compared with the expression of each adhesion molecule in the diseased livers. The expression of adhesion molecules on necrotic tissue of ALF livers was compared to the expression of each molecule in the surviving areas of the matching tissue sections. + or — sign indicates the presence or absence of the specific molecule, respectively. ++ shows an increase in the expression whereas +++ represents high levels of upregulation of the molecule of interest (CLD; chronic liver disease, POD; paracetamol overdose, SNH; seronegative hepatitis).

Supplemental Table 1

Chapter 3 Prediction models in ALF

Blood Lactate But Not Serum Phosphate Levels Can Predict Patient Outcome in Fulminant Hepatic Failure

Gerry C. MacQuillan,¹ Moataz S. Seyam,² Peter Nightingale^{,3} James M. Neuberger,² and Nicholas Murphy²

¹Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital, Nedlands, Australia; ²Liver Unit, Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Birmingham, UK; and ³Wellcome Trust Clinical Research Facility, Birmingham, UK.

Abstract

Early identification of those patients with fulminant hepatic liver failure (FHF) who need a transplant greatly helps in their management. A number of prognostic criteria have recently been proposed, including arterial blood lactate and serum phosphate concentrations. To validate their use, we retrospectively studied 83 consecutive patients with FHF admitted to our intensive treatment unit between August 2000 and March 2003. A total of 48 patients (58%) survived with medical management only (group I) and 35 patients (42%) failed to survive spontaneously (group II). This group included 19 patients (23%) who underwent orthotopic liver transplantation (LT), and 16 patients (19%) who died without undergoing LT (group IIa). A total of 5 patients (6%) who underwent liver transplantation died. Within paracetamol overdose (POD) and non-POD subgroups, phosphate concentrations were not significantly higher in group II patients (P = 0.08 and P = 0.27, respectively), when compared to group I patients. In multivariate analysis, post admission 12-hour lactate level was the only predictor of survival for the POD subgroup, whereas in non-POD patients, 12-hour lactate and admission bilirubin levels were significant in predicting patients' outcome. In conclusion, we found that while serum phosphate concentrations have limited clinical utility as prognostic markers, persistently elevated arterial blood lactate levels despite adequate fluid resuscitation are indicators of a poor prognosis in FHF.

Introduction

Fulminant hepatic failure (FHF) is the indication for 6% to 7% of liver transplants.(1) Liver transplantation (LT) has significantly improved the survival in this group of patients and remains the cornerstone of treatment in selected patients with FHF. (2,3) The decision to offer liver replacement in this group of patients is difficult since some will return to normal structure and function without liver replacement and the need for lifelong immunosuppression (4,5); early and accurate identification of those who will die without transplantation is of central importance.(6) Among the various prognostic criteria proposed, the King's College Hospital (KCH) criteria (7) have been the most widely applied, (8) with a clinically acceptable specificity in identifying patients with a poor prognosis.(6,9) However, their sensitivity is limited by their failure to identify a significant proportion of patients who will not survive without transplantation. (9-11) Hyperlactatemia develops in approximately 80% of those with FHF.(12) The pathogenesis may involve enhanced hepatic and extrahepatic aerobic glycolytic activity and lactate production, coupled with impaired hepatocyte function, resulting in net hepatic lactate production.(13) The sensitivity of the KCH criteria has recently been improved by a modification to include post-resuscitation arterial blood lactate (>3.0 mmol/L) as an early predictor of outcome in paracetamol-induced FHF.(14) Abnormalities in phosphate homeostasis have been observed for many years in FHF,(15,16) but its prognostic significance has been studied only

recently.(6,17,18) Hyperphosphatemia appears to portend a poor prognosis, while hypophosphatemia was noted in patients who recover without LT.(6) Thus, the introduction of both lactate and phosphate measurements into selection criteria should await further confirmation of their performance in appropriately conducted validation studies.(19) We evaluated retrospectively the prognostic significance of admission serum phosphate and serial arterial blood lactate levels in the setting of FHF.

Patients and Methods

Patients with FHF referred to The Liver Unit, Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Birmingham, between August 2000 and March 2003, were retrospectively analysed. The diagnosis of FHF was made according to the criteria of Trey and Davidson. (20) Inclusion criteria were available measurements of admission serum phosphate and serial arterial blood lactate levels, and hospitalization in the intensive treatment unit for more than 24 hours before a terminating event (recovery, LT, or death). Patients were treated and monitored in accordance with the department protocol and were considered for transplantation if they meet the KCH criteria. (7) Patients were grouped as survivors with medical management (group I), or nonsurvivors (LT and/or death: group II). In an attempt to reduce bias, nonsurvivors excluding those who underwent LT were also analysed (group IIa). Patients were also categorized according to the aetiology of their FHF: paracetamol overdose (POD) and non-POD subgroups. Each patient was evaluated for the static variables including age, gender, race, and aetiology of liver disease. Dynamic variables analysed on admission included serum bilirubin levels, prothrombin time, arterial pH, serum creatinine, serum phosphate levels, and serial arterial blood lactate concentrations (on admission, and 4, 8, and 12 hours post admission). Arterial blood lactate levels were

measured hourly during the first 12 hours postadmission with an automated analyser (YSI 2300 STAT Plus; Yellow Springs Instrument, Co. Inc. [YSI] Environmental Science, Yellow Springs, OH).

During the study period, 83 patients were identified who fulfilled the inclusion criteria for the study. The mean age was 37.8 years, with a range of 17 to 65 years. A total of 58% of patients were female, and 92% were Caucasian. POD was the most common aetiology, accounting for 56 cases (67%). Aetiology for non-POD patients (n = 27) included seronegative hepatitis (n = 12), drugs (n = 6), viral hepatitis (n = 5), indeterminate (n = 3), and veno-occlusive disease (n = 1).

Statistics

Two dichotomous outcome variables were analysed: for the first variable the 2 categories of patients were "survived without transplantation" (group I) and "survived with transplantation or died" (group II); for the second outcome variable, patients who underwent transplantation were excluded and the others were categorized as "survived" (group I) or "died" (group IIa). Analyses were performed on the whole group of patients and on the 2 subgroups formed by including and excluding those who had taken a paracetamol overdose (POD and non-POD patients). Categorical variables were analysed using Fisher's exact test. The logarithms of prothrombin time, creatinine, bilirubin, lactate, and phosphate levels were used in the analysis, as these were normally distributed and the untransformed levels were not. Unpaired *t* tests were used in the univariate analyses and stepwise binary logistic regression in the multivariate analyses. As all the significant variables in the multivariate analyses had been log transformed, the odds ratio (OR) corresponding to a 10% increase in the value of the untransformed variable was calculated (OR_{10%}), together with the

associated 95% confidence interval (95% CI). All statistical analysis was performed with SPSS for Windows version 10.0.7 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL).

Results

All patients admitted following a POD were started on *N*-acetyl-cysteine in their local hospital. All patients developed at least grade 1 hepatic encephalopathy in association with markedly abnormal liver function tests (data not shown). A total of 55 patients (66%) were ventilated prior to admission (POD group: n = 34 [61%]; non POD group: n = 21 [78%]).

Univariate Analysis of Predictors of Nonsurvival

Of the entire cohort, 48 patients (58%) survived with medical management alone (group I) and 35 patients (42%) failed medical management (group II). Of those 35 patients, 19 (23%) underwent LT (14 patients survived, and 5 patients died). A total of 16 patients (19%) died without undergoing LT (group IIa). Patients in group I were younger and a higher proportion were Caucasian compared with those in group II (Table 1). POD-related FHF was associated with a significantly higher spontaneous recovery rate; 73% of those patients recovered with medical management alone compared with 26% among non-POD patients ($P \le 0.001$). This was also reflected in the number of patients undergoing LT in each group (POD: n = 6 [11%] of 56; non-POD: n = 13 [48%] of 27).

Analysis of dynamic variables on admission showed that serum bilirubin was significantly lower in group I than in group II or IIa patients ($P \le 0.001$ and P = 0.022, respectively); however, serum creatinine, arterial pH, and prothrombin time were not significantly different (Table 1). Within each etiological group, a considerable overlap

in bilirubin concentrations was observed for the different clinical outcomes (data not shown).

Serum admission phosphate levels were significantly higher in group II (P = 0.005) than in group I patients (Table 1). While serum phosphate levels were also higher when group IIa patients were compared to group I patients, the difference was not statistically significant (Table 1). Within POD and non-POD subgroups, there was no significant difference in serum admission phosphate levels between group I, II, and IIa patients (Table 2).

Lactate concentrations were significantly higher ($P \le 0.001$) at 12 hours in group II and IIa patients when compared to group I patients (Table 1). Within the POD subgroup, admission, 4-, 8-, and 12-hour postadmission lactate concentrations were significantly higher ($P \le 0.004$) in group II and IIa patients compared with group I patients (Table 2A). Within the non-POD patients, 4- and 12-hour lactate levels were significantly higher ($P \le 0.04$) in group II and IIa patients compared with group I patients (Table 2A). Within the non-POD patients, 4- and 12-hour lactate levels were significantly higher ($P \le 0.04$) in group II and IIa patients compared with group I patients (Table 2B).

The 12-hour arterial blood lactate levels for the different clinical outcomes are shown in Figure 1.

Multivariate Analysis of Predictors of Nonsurvival

In the stepwise logistic regression analysis, the 12-hour lactate level was the only significant predictor of survival in multivariate analysis for POD patients (OR_{10%}: 1.29; 95% CI: 1.12-1.49; $P \le 0.001$). When patients undergoing LT were excluded from the analysis (group IIa), 12-hour lactate level was a significant predictor of survival in multivariate analysis for POD and non-POD patients (POD: OR_{10%}: 1.26; 95% CI: 1.09- 1.45; $P \le 0.001$; non-POD: OR_{10%}: 1.32; 95% CI: 1.01-1.71; P =

0.009). The 12-hour lactate level ($OR_{10\%}$: 1.24; 95% CI: 1.01-1.54; *P* = 0.042) and admission bilirubin levels ($OR_{10\%}$: 1.19; 95% CI: 1.00-1.42; *P* = 0.032) were significant predictors of nonsurvival in non-POD patients (group II). Figure 2 shows how the estimated probability of nonsurvival (group II and IIa patients) varies with blood lactate concentrations (note that the curve for the non-POD patients indicates the estimated probability when the bilirubin level is not taken into account). At the same blood lactate level the aetiology of FHF greatly influenced the predicted probability, with higher probability of nonsurvival among non-POD patients. For the POD subgroup (Fig. 2; curve c), if a predicted probability of > 0.25 is taken to predict nonsurvival and < 0.25 is taken to predict survival then the negative predictive value is 94%; i.e., 94% of patients with a probability < 0.25 do survive.

In the non-POD subgroup of patients, multivariate analysis showed that bilirubin and 12-hour blood lactate were both significantly associated with a poor prognosis. The results are represented as a probability contour plot as seen in Figure 3. If a patient has a 12-hour blood lactate and admission bilirubin values that are anywhere above or to the right of the P = 0.75 line, their predicted probability of nonsurvival (group II) is greater than 0.75. This cut-off value of 0.75 to predict nonsurvival has a sensitivity of 80%, specificity of 86%, positive predictive value of 94%, and negative predictive value of 0.50 of predicted probability of death had a sensitivity of 86%, specificity of 71%, positive predictive value of 75%, and negative predictive value of 83%. Figure 4 shows the receiver operating characteristic curves for 12-hour lactate, predicting nonsurvival from the stepwise logistic regression analyses for the POD and non-POD patients. The areas under the receiver operating characteristic curve were 0.86

and 0.86 for POD and non-POD patients, respectively (group II), and 0.82 and 0.92 for POD and non-POD patients, respectively (group IIa).

Discussion

In this retrospective study, we examined the prognostic significance of admission serum phosphate and early serial arterial blood lactate levels in a cohort of patients with FHF. We attempted to avoid potential biases by evaluating patients admitted to the intensive treatment unit over a period of less than 3 years, comparing patients who survived with medical management only (group I) with those who failed to survive spontaneously (group II) and with those who died without undergoing LT (group IIa patients). We avoided the comparison against KCH criteria, as these criteria are validated (10) and used in our unit for selection of LT candidates.

The possible prognostic value of serum phosphate measurements has been the subject of several recent studies. Early hyperphosphatemia in severe POD-induced hepatotoxicity had been reported to be significantly associated with a poor prognosis.(17) Issues raised from this study regarding the relatively small number of patients with FHF,(21) and the relatively low prevalence of patients who died or underwent LT,(22) complicate the interpretation of this interesting observation. In a retrospective study by Chung et al.,(6) the prognostic significance of serum phosphate was investigated in 38 patients with FHF. They reported hyperphosphatemia as a predictor of mortality, and when used alone, was equivalent to KCH criteria. However, the study did not specify the timing of serum phosphate measurements, or if there was correction of hypophosphatemia. Baquerizo et al.(18) studied 112 patients with FHF retrospectively and found that hyperphosphatemia

was a predictor of poor recovery, whereas hypophosphatemia and early phosphate administration was associated with a good prognosis.

In our study, the relative hyperphosphatemia on admission was a significant predictive marker of poor outcome within the entire cohort of patients with FHF. However, when we used admission phosphate levels to predict outcome within the POD and non-POD subgroups, it was not useful. Our results are compatible with a recent report from Edinburgh, which found serum phosphate to be an unreliable predictor of outcome in POD-induced hepatotoxicity.(23)

Arterial blood lactate measurements in POD-induced FHF has been proposed to improve the speed and accuracy of selection of LT candidates.(14) In this series from KCH, blood lactate levels alone, with cut-off values of 3.5 mmol/L early after admission and 3.0 mmol/L after adequate resuscitation, identified patients with poor prognosis early with equivalent accuracy to KCH criteria. The prognostic significance of high admission blood lactate with albumin and pyruvate in non-POD-induced FHF has been addressed recently by another group from the UK.(24) The novel technique used for the measurement of admission lactate levels in this study (nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy) may limit its practical application.

Our findings are in keeping with those in previous reports regarding the prognostic significance of arterial blood lactate levels in the setting of FHF.(14) All our patients had been treated at a referring hospital prior to intensive treatment unit transfer. It is interesting to note that admission arterial blood lactate concentrations on univariate analysis were significantly different between survivors and nonsurvivors in the POD and non-POD subgroups, whereas arterial pH, serum creatinine, and prothrombin time were not (although there was a trend towards a lower arterial pH in the POD

nonsurvivors). It is not known whether this reflected earlier arrival to our institution, or earlier treatment with N-acetyl-cysteine and fluid resuscitation at the referring hospital. It is also recognized that with modern intensive care management of FHF patients, there is sometimes a delay in fulfilling KCH criteria following admission and measurement of lactate levels may identify patients earlier who have a poor prognosis.(14)

On multivariate analysis, post admission 12-hour blood lactate was a significant predictor of survival among POD patients, along with admission bilirubin in the non-POD group. We propose clinically applicable curves created from logistic regression analysis that can predict poor outcome in both groups. When we applied the lactate criteria proposed by Bernal et al.(14) to our patients, it had a substantially lower performance in predicting outcome. The blood lactate cut-off value of 3.0 mmol/L after resuscitation had a predicted probability < 0.25 for nonsurvival in POD patients. Several factors may affect the clinical utility of specific cut-off values for arterial blood lactate measurements. First, hyperlactatemia in FHF results from a complex interplay between increased production (25) and reduced hepatic clearance.(13) Second, the timing and degree of fluid resuscitation needed to correct hypovolemia may vary between liver units. Our data has showed that serial blood lactate measurements were higher in nonsurvivors, with increasing significance in relation to time. This raises the importance of close monitoring of serial arterial blood lactate levels. The large values for the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve do suggest that 12-hour lactate is a good predictor of outcome in FHF and that it will be a useful addition to the KCH criteria for identifying patients early who have a poor prognosis with medical management alone. It remains to be determined whether 12hour postadmission arterial blood lactate measurements alone can be used as a

single marker to identify patients destined for LT. In addition, the prognostic value of 24-hour and 36-hour arterial blood lactate measurements needs to be explored in FHF.

In conclusion, serum phosphate concentration has limited clinical utility as a prognostic marker. We developed clinically applicable curves based on 12-hour lactate and admission serum bilirubin levels, which may be an adjuvant to the KCH criteria in prediction of the outcome in FHF. The proposed curves need to be validated in further prospective studies.

References

1. Hoofnagle JH, Carithers RL Jr, Shapiro C, Ascher N. Fulminant hepatic failure: summary of a workshop [Review]. Hepatology 1995;21:240-252.

 Brandsaeter B, Hockerstedt K, Friman S, Ericzon BG, Kirkegaard P, Isoniemi H, et al. Fulminant hepatic failure: outcome after listing for highly urgent liver transplantation—12 years experience in the Nordic countries. Liver Transpl 2002;8:1055-1062.

3. Farmer DG, Anselmo DM, Ghobrial RM, Yersiz H, McDiarmid SV, Cao C, et al. Liver transplantation for fulminant hepatic failure: experience with more than 200 patients over a 17-year period. Ann Surg 2003;237:666-676.

4. Takahashi Y, Shimizu M. Aetiology and prognosis of fulminant viral hepatitis in Japan: a multicentre study. The Study Group of Fulminant Hepatitis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1991;6:159-164.

5. Schiodt FV, Atillasoy E, Shakil AO, Schiff ER, Caldwell C, Kowdley KV, et al. Etiology and outcome for 295 patients with acute liver failure in the United States. Liver Transpl Surg 1999;5:29-34.

6. Chung PY, Sitrin MD, Te HS. Serum phosphorus levels predict clinical outcome in fulminant hepatic failure. Liver Transpl 2003;9:248-253.

7. O'Grady JG, Alexander GJM, Hayllar KM, Williams R. Early indicators of prognosis in fulminant hepatic failure. Gastroenterology 1989;97:439-445.

8. Riordan SM, Williams R. Fulminant hepatic failure. [Review]. Clin Liver Dis 2000;4:25-45.

9. Shakil AO, Kramer D, Mazariegos GV, Fung JJ, Rakela J. Acute liver failure: clinical features, outcome analysis, and applicability of prognostic criteria. Liver Transpl 2000;6:163-169.

 Anand AC, Nightingale P, Neuberger JM. Early indicators of prognosis in fulminant hepatic failure: an assessment of the King's criteria. J Hepatol 1997;26:62-68.

11. Bernal W, Wendon J, Rela M, Heaton N, Williams R. Use and outcome of liver transplantation in acetaminophen-induced acute liver failure. Hepatology 1998;27:1050-1055.

12. Bihari D, Gimson AE, Lindridge J, Williams R. Lactic acidosis in fulminant hepatic failure. Some aspects of pathogenesis and prognosis. J Hepatol 1985;1:405-416.

13. Murphy ND, Kodakat SK, Wendon JA, Jooste CA, Muiesan P, Rela M, et al. Liver and intestinal lactate metabolism in patients with acute hepatic failure undergoing liver transplantation. Crit Care Med 2001;29:2111-2118. 14. Bernal W, Donaldson N, Wyncoll D, Wendon J. Blood lactate as an early predictor of outcome in paracetamol-induced acute liver failure: a cohort study. Lancet 2002;359:558-563.

15. Ritt DJ, Whelan G, Werner DJ, Eigenbrodt EH, Schenker S, Combes B. Acute hepatic necrosis with stupor or coma. An analysis of thirty-one patients. Medicine (Baltimore) 1969;48: 151-172.

16. Knochel JP. The pathophysiology and clinical characteristics of severe hypophosphatemia. Arch Intern Med 1977;137:203-220.

17. Schmidt LE, Dalhoff K. Serum phosphate is an early predictor of outcome in severe acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity. Hepatology 2002;36:659-665.

Baquerizo A, Anselmo D, Shackleton C, ChenTW,Cao C, Weaver M, et al.
Phosphorus as an early predictive factor in patients with acute liver failure.
Transplantation 2003;75:2007-2014.

19. Bernal W, Wendon J. Liver transplantation in adults with acute liver failure. J Hepatol 2004;40:192-197.

20. Trey C, Davidson CS. The management of fulminant hepatic failure. [Review]. Prog Liver Dis 1970;3:282-298.

21. Gow PJ, Sood S, Angus PW. Serum phosphate as a predictor of outcome in acetaminophen-induced fulminant hepatic failure. Hepatology 2003;37:711-712.

22. Bernal W, Wendon J. More on serum phosphate and prognosis of acute liver failure. Hepatology 2003;38:533-534.
23. Ng KL, Davidson JS, Bathgate AJ. Serum phosphate is not a reliable early predictor of outcome in paracetamol induced hepatotoxicity. Liver Transpl 2004;10:158-159.

24. Dabos KJ, Newsome PN, Parkinson JA, Mohammed HH, Sadler IH, Plevris JN, et al. Biochemical prognostic markers of outcome in non-paracetamol-induced fulminant hepatic failure. Transplantation 2004;77:200-205.

25. Walsh TS, McLellan S, Mackenzie SJ, Lee A. Hyperlactatemia and pulmonary lactate production in patients with fulminant hepatic failure. Chest 1999;116:471-476.

Table 1. Univariate analysis of predictors of non-survival in the study cohort

Predictor*	Group I	Group II	Р	Group IIa	Р
	(n=48)	(n=35)	l v. II	(n=16)	l v. Ila
Age (y)	34 (31–37)	42 (38–47)	<0.01	46 (38–53)	<0.01
Gender	27 (56.3%)	21 (60.0%)	0.82	13 (81.3%)	0.08
(% female)					
Ethnic origin	47 (97.9%)	29 (82.9%)	0.038	15 (93.8%)	0.44
(% Caucasian)					
Aetiology	41 (85.4%)	15 (42.9%)	<0.001	9 (56.3%)	0.031
(% POD)					
Ventilated	26 (55.1%)	29 (82.9%)	0.009	13 (81.3%)	0.08
(% yes)					
Phosphate	0.65 (0.54–	1.02 (0.77–	0.005	0.77 (0.47–	0.40
(mmol/L)	0.77)	1.36)		1.26)	
Lactate	2.97 (2.49–	4.12 (3.29–	0.029	5.17 (3.60–	0.004
(mmol/L)	3.53)	5.17)		7.41)	
4 hour lactate	2.56 (2.15–	3.85 (3.05–	0.005	4.89 (3.47–	<0.001
	3.04)	4.86)		6.89)	

8 hour lactate	2.35 (2.01–	3.50 (2.80–	0.004	4.48 (3.09–	<
	2.75)	4.39)		6.48)	0.001
12 hour lactate	2.25 (1.92–	3.81 (2.98–	<0.001	5.16 (3.60–	<0.001
	2.65)	4.89)		7.40)	
Creatinine	145 (121–	147 (122–	0.82	148 (110–	0.82
(µmol/L)	173)	177)		200)	
Bilirubin	77 (61–97)	169 (124–	<0.001	137 (84–223)	0.022
(µmol/L)		230)			
рН	7.42 (7.40–	7.41 (7.36–	0.76	7.41 (7.32–	0.80
	7.44)	7.46)		7.50)	
PT	35 (31–40)	42 (36–49)	0.12	36 (30–43)	1.0

*Data on admission; and lactate at 4, 8, and 12h post-admission .

Age and pH values are arithmetic means with 95% confidence limits in parentheses. All other values are geometric means with 95% confidence limits in parentheses. P values relate to t tests of the transformed data, except for age and pH where they relate to t tests of the untransformed data.

Tahla 24 Dynamic variahlas	assessment in POD nationts (56 nationts)
Table ZA. Dynamic variables	assessment in r OD patients (50 patients).

Predictors	Group I	Group II	Р	Group IIa	Р
	(n=41)	(n= 15)	l vs ll	(n=7)	l vs ll
Phosphate	0.63 (0.52–	0.93 (0.56–	0.08	0.70 (0.33–	0.70
	0.77)	1.55)		1.48)	
Lactate	3.19 (2.62–	6.09 (4.15–	0.002	6.51 (3.85	0.004
	3.89)	8.93)		11.00)	
4 hour lactate	2.75 (2.28–	6.06 (4.35–	<0.001	6.18 (3.85–	<0.001
	3.31)	8.45)		9.92)	
8 hour lactate	2.52 (2.13–	5.42 (3.88–	<0.001	5.60 (3.15–	<0.001
	2.99)	7.56)		9.97)	
12 hour lactate	2.44 (2.06–	5.65 (4.18–	<0.001	5.89 (3.48–	<0.001
	2.90)	7.63)		9.99)	
Creatinine	154 (127–	169 (124–	0.62	139 (90–	0.64
	188)	230)		214)	
Bilirubin	67 (53–85)	74 (59–92)	0.66	73 (53–102)	0.75
PH	7.42 (7.39–	7.32 (7.23–	0.06	7.34 (7.22–	0.22
	7.44)	7.42)		7.47)	
PT	36 (31–41)	49 (36–66)	0.036	37 (28–48)	0.82

Table OD F	Junamia variabla	occomposition point $ DOD $	nationta (97nationta)
TADIE ZD. L	Jynamic variables	s assessment in non-POD	Dauenis (Z/Dauenis).

Predictors	Group I	Group II	Р	Group IIa	Р
	(n= 7)	(n=20)	l vs ll	(n=7)	l vs ll
Phosphate	0.77 (0.37–	1.11 (0.75–	0.27	0.91 (0.18–	0.71
	1.63)	1.64)		4.59)	
Lactate	2.20 (1.68–	3.08 (2.48–	0.09	3.84 (2.24–	0.044
	2.28)	3.82)		6.61)	
4 hour lactate	1.69 (1.07–	2.82 (2.20–	0.039	3.62 (2.10–	0.025
	2.67)	3.61)		6.23)	
8 hour lactate	1.71 (1.14–	2.53 (2.01–	0.07	3.36 (2.05–	0.023
	2.55)	3.18)		5.50)	
12 hour lactate	1.53 (0.99–	2.84 (2.04–	0.043	4.34 (2.33–	0.006
	2.38)	3.96)		8.12)	
Creatinine	89 (65–122)	132 (104–	0.07	161(92–281)	0.043
		169)			
Bilirubin	181 (99–330)	314 (234–	0.06	305 (154–	0.19
		422)		604)	
рН	7.43 (7.39–	7.48 (7.43–	0.29	7.49 (7.35–	0.39
	7.48)	7.52)		7.63)	
PT	36 (22–60)	37 (32–44)	0.87	34 (25–47)	0.83

* pH values are arithmetic means with 95% confidence limits in parentheses. All other values are geometric means with 95% confidence limits in parentheses. P values relate to t tests of the transformed data, except for pH where they relate to t tests of the untransformed data.



Figure 1. Arterial blood lactate concentrations (mmol/L) levels for the different clinical outcomes. Values shown are geometric means with corresponding 95% CIs.



Figure 2. Predicted probability of nonsurvival based on 12-hour lactate value (POD and non-POD patients).



Figure 3. Graphical representation of results of logistic regression for non-POD patients. *P* is the predicted probability of liver transplantation or death (group II patients).



POD (excluding LT) Non-POD (excluding LT)

Figure 4. (A,C,D) The receiver operating characteristic curves for 12-hour lactate predicting nonsurvival for group II patients (A), and group IIa patients (C-D). (B) The receiver operating characteristic curve for the combination of 12-hour lactate and admission bilirubin levels predicting nonsurvival in the non-POD subgroup (group II patients).

Development and validation of a dynamic outcome prediction model for paracetamol-induced acute liver failure: a cohort study

William Bernal Yanzhong Wang James Maggs Christopher Willars Elizabeth Sizer

Georg Auzinger

Nicholas Murphy

Damian Harding

Ahmed Elsharkawy

Kenneth Simpson

Fin Stolze Larsen

Nigel Heaton

John O'Grady

Roger Williams

Julia Wendon

Abstract

Background

Early, accurate prediction of survival is central to management of patients with paracetamol-induced acute liver failure to identify those needing emergency liver transplantation. Current prognostic tools are confounded by recent improvements in outcome independent of emergency liver transplantation, and constrained by static binary outcome prediction. We aimed to develop a simple prognostic tool to reflect current outcomes and generate a dynamic updated estimation of risk of death.

Methods

Patients with paracetamol-induced acute liver failure managed at intensive care units in the UK (London, Birmingham, and Edinburgh) and Denmark (Copenhagen) were studied. We developed prognostic models, excluding patients who underwent transplantation, using Cox proportional hazards in a derivation dataset, and tested in initial and recent external validation datasets. Mortality was estimated in patients who had emergency liver transplantation. Model discrimination was assessed using area under receiver operating characteristic curve (AUROC) and calibration by root mean square error (RMSE). Admission (day 1) variables of age, Glasgow coma scale, arterial pH and lactate, creatinine, international normalised ratio (INR), and cardiovascular failure were used to derive an initial predictive model, with a second (day 2) model including additional changes in INR and lactate.

Findings

We developed and validated new high-performance statistical models to support decision making in patients with paracetamol-induced acute liver failure. Applied to the derivation dataset (n=350), the AUROC for 30-day survival was 0.92 (95% CI

0.88-0.96) using the day 1 model and 0.93 (0.88-0.97) using the day 2 model. In the initial validation dataset (n=150), the AUROC for 30-day survival was 0.89 (0.84-0.95) using the day 1 model and 0.90 (0.85-0.95) using the day 2 model. Assessment of calibration using RMSE in prediction of 30-day survival gave values of 0.1642 for the day 1 model and 0.0626 for the day 2 model. In the external validation dataset (n=412), the AUROC for 30-day survival was 0.91 (0.87-0.94) using the day 1 model and 0.91 (0.88-0.95) using the day 2 model, and assessment of calibration using RMSE gave values of 0.079 for the day 1 model and 0.107 for the day 2 model. Applied to patients who underwent emergency liver transplantation (n=116), median predicted 30-day survival was 51% (95% Cl 33-85).

Interpretation

The models developed here show very good discrimination and calibration, confirmed in independent datasets, and suggest that many patients undergoing transplantation based on existing criteria might have survived with medical management alone. The role and indications for emergency liver transplantation in paracetamol induced acute liver failure require re-evaluation.

Introduction

Acute liver failure is a rare critical illness, and in many countries, including the UK, paracetamol-induced hepatotoxicity is its most frequent cause.(1,2) The illness may follow a rapidly progressive course with severe hepatic necrosis quickly followed by the development of encephalopathy, multiple extrahepatic organ failures, and death.(3) However, the condition is one in which there is substantial variation in clinical course. In some patients, recovery with medical therapy alone might be possible despite severe multiple organ failure, whereas in others survival might be

impossible without emergency liver transplantation.(4,5) The early and accurate evaluation of expected prognosis is key to effective management, to enable successful transplantation in the narrow window of opportunity for those who will benefit from it, and to avoid unnecessary surgery in those who will survive with medical therapy alone. Tools for prognostic evaluation are available, but their limitations are increasingly apparent.(6–8)

Prognosis in paracetamol-induced acute liver failure is most commonly assessed using the King's College Criteria. The criteria were derived from the analysis of patients managed in a single centre between 1973 and 1987 and have been in use to select transplant candidates for more than two decades.(6) Poor prognosis criteria include an arterial pH of less than 7.3 after volume resuscitation, or the combined findings of high-grade encephalopathy, creatinine of more than 300 µmol/L and international normalised ratio (INR) of 6.5 or higher occurring within a narrow timeframe.(6) Early meta-analysis of the diagnostic performance of the King's College Criteria in paracetamol-induced liver failure suggested high specificity but more limited sensitivity; introduction of arterial blood lactate concentration as a supplemental marker was proposed to address this issue.(7–9) However, the increasing success of non-transplantation medical therapies alone is likely to have affected the performance of the King's College Criteria in patients with paracetamolinduced liver injury because substantial improvements in survival with medical care alone have been made for many causes of acute liver failure in the past three decades, particularly cases resulting from paracetamol-induced hepatotoxicity.(3) These improvements in non-transplant outcomes have not been reflected in changes in recognised indications for emergency liver transplantation.

Experience has also shown practical issues in the use of the King's College Criteria. The criteria were intended for use in a transplant centre and not early after presentation in the emergency room where intravenous fluid resuscitation has not been undertaken and the effect of high blood levels of paracetamol might contribute to a reversible lactic acidosis.(10,11) The criteria perform less accurately in accidental or intentional staggered overdoses of the drug than after single timepoint deliberate ingestions, and are difficult to interpret because their component variables might be confounded by alteration by medical interventions.(12) Since the criteria provide a binary outcome prediction rather than a continuum of risk, their application can also be difficult, and they do not address a key clinical question in wait listed patients who show signs of improvement—is it better to remove them from the list or to proceed with transplantation?

In exploring the development of a novel model for the prediction of death without transplantation in patients with paracetamol-induced acute liver failure, we sought to address the limitations of the present King's College Criteria. By studying more recent cohorts we hoped to reflect the current outcomes of the illness and develop a model using readily available clinical variables and standardised definitions, with sequential assessment to detect changing prognosis over time.(13) Our objective was to develop a decision support tool that was simple to use and gave a continuous and updated estimation of risk of death rather than a static binary outcome prediction. We hoped to avoid the reference bias that might complicate studies of prognosis in acute liver failure by excluding patients who underwent transplantation, and to assess reproducibility and transportability by the use of several validation cohorts.

Methods

Study design and participants In this study, we included patients with severe paracetamol-induced hepatotoxicity managed at four specialist liver transplantation intensive care units in the UK and Denmark. In all cases, a history of drug ingestion or detectable blood paracetamol was present, with the exclusion of other causes of acute liver injury. Other inclusion criteria were an INR of 1.5 or higher and absence of a history and clinical or radiological findings of previous liver disease.

The primary derivation and initial internal validation test cohorts were derived from consecutive patients with severe paracetamol-induced hepatotoxicity who had not undergone transplantation and who were admitted during the period 2000–12 to the Liver Intensive Therapy Unit at King's College Hospital, London, UK. The external validation cohorts included patients who did not undergo transplantation admitted to the Rikshopitalet Liver Unit, Copenhagen, Denmark in 2011–13; the Scottish Liver Transplant Unit at Edinburgh Royal Infirmary, Edinburgh, UK in 2008–14; the intensive care unit at Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Birmingham, UK, in 2004–13; and the Liver Intensive Therapy Unit at King's College Hospital in 2012–14. Validating mortality in paracetamol-induced acute liver failure is rarely an issue since almost without exception death in patients who have not undergone transplantation occurs during a single hospital admission, most commonly during the first week in the intensive care unit, with rapid recovery seen in those who survive.(14)

A common approach to clinical management was applied in all units, with emergency liver transplantation considered in patients who fulfilled the standard King's College Criteria. Standard medical care applied has been detailed elsewhere.(3) Briefly, patients who developed encephalopathy at grade 3 or higher were intubated, sedated, and mechanically ventilated. Guided restoration of circulating volume was commenced immediately on admission and used invasive haemodynamic monitoring. Coagulopathy was not supported unless active haemorrhage was present.(15) Norepinephrine was the primary vasopressor used and dobutamine the primary ionotropic agent with adjunctive use of intravenous low-dose hydrocortisone and vasopressin. Renal replacement therapy used continuous veno-venous haemofiltration. Indications for use of renal replacement therapy included not only those standard for patients with acute kidney injury with anuria but also for relative oliguria, metabolic stabilisation, and control of acidosis and hyperammonaemia. Sedation was achieved with fentanyl and propofol infusions, with rare use of paralysis. Treatment for intracranial pressure crises was with bolus intravenous mannitol, hypertonic saline, and increased sedation using thiopentone in refractory cases. Intravenous N-acetyl cysteine was administered to all patients with an infusion of 100 mg/kg every 24 h for a maximum of 5 days or until the INR was lower than 2.

Datasets and statistical methods

The derivation and initial validation patient datasets were taken from the King's College Hospital Liver Intensive Therapy Unit clinical database in which demographic, physiological, and laboratory variables are prospectively collected daily for all patients by specialist audit nurses. These variables included those required for the Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) and Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation scores (appendix p 1). Fewer than 1% of cases had missing values.

We used standardised scores assessing level of consciousness and grade of encephalopathy using the Glasgow coma scale, and cardiovascular dysfunction by the SOFA cardiovascular component score (SOFA CVS; appendix p 2), with a score of 3 or more considered to represent cardiovascular failure.(3,16,17) The Glasgow coma scale score was assessed in patients who had not received sedative agents, and we used the lowest score before their administration, except if signs of intracranial hypertension were present, where a score of 3 was assigned.(3,18) Survival time was from date of admission to date of death. Continuous variables are summarised as mean (SD) or median (IQR) and categorical data as count (percentage). Student's t test, Mann-Whitney U, and Wilcoxon signed-rank tests were used to test differences in continuous variables where appropriate, and the χ^2 test used for proportions. Multiple survival analyses were undertaken using Cox proportional hazards models to determine the prognostic and predictive value of demographic factors and clinical variables. All-cause mortality was the primary event studied and patients who underwent transplantation were excluded from model development and primary testing. Variable selection and model fitting were conducted through backward stepwise regression based on p values. The model started with a range of clinical variables of important prognostic value suggested by literature review (appendix p 1), and then went through extensive backward stepwise model and variable selection process. The final models consisted of variables most strongly associated with death in the multiple Cox proportional hazards regressions. The proportional hazards assumption for each covariate was tested using the scaled Schoenfeld residuals. The proportionality test showed that all the covariates followed the proportional hazards assumption (p>0.05).

To develop and validate the predictive survival models, we divided the King's College Hospital derivation set (n=350) and an initial validation set (n=150) with random case selection. Survival models using day 1 and day 2 were first built from derivation dataset separately and then validated in the validation dataset. The

performance and predictive accuracy of the models were assessed using receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis. The ROC curves and values were compared among different models and also between derivation and validation stages. Model calibration was assessed comparing observed and predicted survival using root mean square error (RMSE).(19) All tests were two-tailed, and p values lower than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. ROC values with 95% CIs for all the survival models and hazard ratios (HR) with 95% CIs for the chosen clinical variables were calculated. Statistical analyses were done with statistical software R, version 2.11.1, and SPSS[™], version 22.0.0. All data were fully deidentified before exchange and analysis, and their use was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of King's College Hospital.

Role of the funding source

This study was supported by an unrestricted grant from the Foundation for Liver Research. The funding source had no role in study design, collection, analysis, or interpretation of the data, or in the writing of the report. Authors had access to the raw data from their individual centres and WB and YW to all de-identified datasets. The corresponding author had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication.

Results

We included 500 consecutive patients who had not undergone transplantation with severe paracetamol induced hepatotoxicity admitted during the period 2000–12 to the Liver Intensive Therapy Unit at King's College Hospital in the primary derivation (n=350) and initial internal validation test cohorts (n=150). External validation cohorts included 151 patients admitted during the period 2011–13 from the Rikshopitalet

Liver Unit, 90 patients admitted in 2008–14 to the Scottish Liver Transplant Unit at the Edinburgh Royal Infirmary, 72 patients admitted in 2004–13 to the intensive care unit of Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Birmingham, and 99 patients treated at King's College Hospital Liver Intensive Therapy Unit between 2012 and 2014. Characteristics of the derivation and initial validation sets are shown in table 1, and features on admission of the external validation cohorts are shown in table 2. 78 (22%) of 350 patients in the derivation set died during their hospital stay; median day of death was 9 days (IQR 2–14) after admission. Patients who died were older and, on admission, had evidence of more severe liver dysfunction with higher INR and arterial lactate concentrations, and worse extra-hepatic organ failure with more severe encephalopathy, cardiovascular, and renal dysfunction than did survivors (appendix p 3). Of note, 49 (46%) of 106 patients with a Glasgow coma score of 9 or less on day 1 died versus 29 (12%) of 244 with a Glasgow coma score above this threshold (relative risk 3.9 [2.6–5.8]; p<0.0001).

After extensive model fitting and variable selection, admission (day 1) variables of age, Glasgow coma score, arterial pH and lactate, creatinine, INR, and SOFA cardiovascular failure were identified as the best clinical predictors. Hazard ratios for these component variables on admission are shown in table 3 and the predictive equation in the appendix p 4. Based on the day 1 model, we explored a day 2 model with additional changes in all clinical variables between day 1 and day 2, and, after backward stepwise variable selection, found only changes in blood lactate and INR to be significantly associated with survival. A dynamic day 2 survival model was thus further developed based on clinical variables on day 1 plus changes in blood lactate concentration and INR between day 1 and 2 to reflect the changing patterns in these crucial variables (table 3, appendix p 4). Exploration of models using data up to 7

days after admission did not show significant improvements in model performance above the dynamic day 2 model (data not shown).

When applied to the derivation set, AUROC for prediction of death using the day 1 model was 0.95 (95% CI 0.91–0.99) at 7 days, 0.94 (0.90–0.97) at 15 days, and 0.92 (0.88–0.96) at 30 days, and for the dynamic day 2 model was 0.96 (0.93–1.0) at 7 days, 0.95 (0.91–0.98) at 15 days, and 0.93 (0.88–0.97) at 30 days (figure 1). Assessment of calibration using RMSE in prediction of 30-day survival gave values of 0.1123 for the day 1 model and 0.1317 for the dynamic day 2 model for the derivation set.

35 (23%) of the 150 patients in the initial validation set died during their hospital stay. Using the day 1 model, AUROC for the prediction of death was 0.93 (95% CI 0.86– 1.00) at 7 days, 0.91 (0.85–0.96) at 15 days, and 0.89 (0.84–0.95) at 30 days, and with the dynamic day 2 model was 0.94 (0.88–1.0) at 7 days, 0.91 (0.86–0.96) at 15 days, and 0.90 (0.85–0.95) at 30 days (figure 2). Assessment of calibration using RMSE in prediction of 30-day survival gave values of 0.1642 using the day 1 model and 0.0626 for the day 2 model (figure 2). Based on the proposed survival models, individual survival curves were calculated and updated during the first 2 days of intensive care unit admission (figure 3).

Characteristics of the four validation sets differed significantly from one another and from the primary cohorts. Median age of the Danish patients was higher than that of the other cohorts, and the Birmingham cohort had more severe acidosis, lactate, and creatinine, more severe encephalopathy, and higher mortality than the other cohorts (table 2). Overall, the day 1 single component variables were missing in 19 (5%) of

412 cases and day 2 variables in 141 (34%). Where day 2 INR and lactate variables were missing, values were categorised as showing no improvement.

AUROC and RMSE for the individual validation sets are shown in table 4. In the combined external validation sets, AUROC for 30-day survival was 0.91 (95% CI 0.87-0.94) for the day 1 model and 0.91 (0.88-0.95) for the day 2 model and RMSE was 0.079 for the day 1 model and 0.107 for the day 2 model (figure 4).

During the study periods of the derivation and validation sets, 116 patients underwent emergency liver transplantation: 84 at King's College Hospital, 23 at Queen Elizabeth Hospital, and eight at Edinburgh Royal Infirmary. Comparison of admission variables of patients who died with those who underwent transplantation showed significant differences, with patients who died being older and with higher arterial lactate concentrations, and lower Glasgow coma scores and INR values (appendix p 5). Using the day 1 model, median predicted 30-day survival for the cohort who underwent transplantation was 51% (95% CI 33–85), and in patients with severe hepatic encephalopathy (Glasgow coma score ≤ 9 ; n=70), predicted survival was 36% (18–73).

Discussion

We present the development and validation of high-performance statistical models to support decision making in the care of patients with paracetamol-induced acute liver failure. The models proposed show very good discrimination and calibration, confirmed on application to several independent external validation datasets with patients with a range of illness severity, and show substantial promise as prognostic tools. We developed models both on (day 1) and after (day 2) admission because their combined use provides practical support for key clinical decisions not

addressed by existing single time point prognostic criteria. In management of paracetamol induced acute liver failure the first 2 days are crucially important for the selection of transplant candidates; early prediction is required and is directly clinically relevant.(14) Experience has shown that the clinical condition of patients with paracetamol-induced liver failure might change rapidly after admission and initial therapy—with improvement in some patients and deterioration in others. The twostage assessment of prognosis enables quantitation of this change, objectively reassessing prognosis in patients who show signs of improvement. Assessment of test performance showed both models to have high discrimination but importantly calibration was improved in the day 2 model. This sequential approach, derivation from recent patient cohorts, and use of novel important prognostic variables represent clear advances beyond the original King's College Criteria.

There has been criticism in the statistical literature of the use of stepwise regression for model fitting relating to its biases and suboptimal results. However, we used stepwise regression for its simplicity and in conjunction with expert opinion to decide which variables to include in the model. Our predictive models were robustly trained and validated on both internal and external datasets, which resulted in excellent model performance. Nevertheless, there are alternatives to stepwise regression, which include partial least squares regression and least absolute shrinkage and selection operator. These alternatives can overcome some of the shortcomings of stepwise regression, although they have their own limitations.(20) We will explore these novel methods in future research to further enhance the performance of our predictive models.

We chose to exclude patients who underwent emergency liver transplantation from model derivation and initial validation. Valid criticism can be made both of the inclusion or exclusion of patients who underwent transplantation in this process, and both have been used in the scientific literature. Our main concern was risk of reference bias in view of the drastic improvements in survival with medical management alone in patients with paracetamol-induced liver failure, and the possibility that detail of transplantation practice varied between centres.(3,5) Although this approach could introduce changes in cohort composition, it is unlikely to have yielded a less unwell sample since, in key respects, those who later died were more severely ill. Predictions of a survival model derived in a population that did not undergo transplantation applied to one in which patients underwent transplantation should be interpreted with caution. However, this survival estimate is derived from the analysis of a population of patients with illness of the same cause, including cases that had similar acuity of illness and with a model that uses variables derived solely from the pre-transplant phase of illness.

When applying the day 1 model to patients who underwent transplantation during the study period, the median predicted survival was slightly more than 50% but fell to 36% when only those with severe encephalopathy were considered. These observations reinforce the key prognostic importance of development of hepatic encephalopathy and that transplantation should not be considered in the absence of high-grade encephalopathy. Importantly, a substantial proportion of patients who underwent transplantation might have survived with medical management alone. These findings quantify the substantial improvements in survival independent of liver transplantation that have occurred over time, and suggest that transplantation as an intervention in paracetamol-induced acute liver failure requires comprehensive re-evaluation.(3,21)

In considering the application of these models in a clinical setting, limitations to their potential practical use should be assessed. In other critical illness scoring systems, use of individual patient outcome prediction has historically been with caution, because the primary purpose of most such scores was for group outcome assessment and quality assurance.(22–24) However, there is clear precedent within hepatology for use of scores, including Model for End-Stage Liver Disease (MELD), for individual decision making in relation to transplantation—and in the widely accepted use of the King's College Criteria and other poor prognosis criteria for selection of patients with acute liver failure for emergency liver transplantation.(24,25)

We see these models as tools to quantify the risk of death and support expert clinical judgment and decision making; experience in other areas of acute and critical care medicine suggests that combining an objective prognosis measure with a physician's clinical estimate results in the most accurate assessment of actual prognosis.(23,26,27) Further, the sequential assessment of our models provide is likely to be of benefit because, in critically ill patients with and without liver disease, trends in illness severity provide additional prognostic value over single static determinations.(23,28–30) Rather than considering a single timepoint survival estimate, transplantation wait listing decisions might best be made from observations of the dynamic course of the illness. An obvious issue is that of the threshold of estimated survival that should trigger addition of a patient to the waiting list; a figure of 25% demonstrated in recent reports of early transplantation for acute alcoholic hepatitis provides a useful parallel.(31) A website has been developed to use the new paracetamol prediction models in a form that is accessible and easy to use, and

whose output will provide real-time estimates of expected survival, while accumulating a further prospective confirmatory validation set.

In developing these models we deliberately chose not to rely on the reported timing of drug ingestion in our patient selection and survival modelling. In practice, this information is often inconsistent or unavailable and, in the case of overdoses, staggered over days, making definition of a specific timepoint of ingestion impossible. Even without reliance on this information, the model functioned well. However, it is important to recognise that these patients were assessed in liver transplantation centres usually days after drug ingestion, with established and clinically significant hepatic necrosis and after receiving initial resuscitative measures at their receiving hospitals before transfer. Use of the models to predict survival in patients soon after overdose or at early after fi rst presentation has not been assessed.

These models were primarily designed to identify patients whose survival would be enhanced by emergency liver transplantation. However, identification as having a poor prognosis does not necessarily mean that survival will be improved by liver transplantation. The models are designed to predict survival without transplantation but not survival after surgery, when factors not considered in our model are of prognostic importance.(32) In many cases contraindications to emergency liver transplantation might be present, and here the models might rather serve to guide patients and family members in the expected outcome of illness.

Contributors

The study was conceived by WB and JW. YW and WB developed the predictive model and WB wrote the first draft of the paper. WB, JM, NM, AE, DH, KS, and FSL

contributed data, and all authors contributed in detail to the writing of the final version of the report.

References

1 Bernal W, Auzinger G, Dhawan A, Wendon J. Acute liver failure. Lancet 2010; 376: 190–201.

2 Larson AM, Polson J, Fontana RJ, et al. Acetaminophen-induced acute liver
failure: results of a United States multicenter, prospective study. Hepatology 2005;
42: 1364–72.

3 Bernal W, Hyyrylainen A, Gera A, et al. Lessons from look-back in acute liver failure? A single centre experience of 3300 patients. J Hepatol 2013; 59: 74–80.

4 Ichai P, Samuel D. Etiology and prognosis of fulminant hepatitis in adults. Liver Transpl 2008; 14 (suppl 2): 67–79.

5 Ichai P, Legeai C, Francoz C, et al. Patients with acute liver failure listed for superurgent liver transplantation in France: reevaluation of the Clichy-Villejuif criteria. Liver Transpl 2015; 21: 512–23.

6 O'Grady JG, Alexander GJ, Hayllar KM, Williams R. Early indicators of prognosis in fulminant hepatic failure. Gastroenterology 1989; 97: 439–45.

7 Bailey B, Amre DK, Gaudreault P. Fulminant hepatic failure secondary to acetaminophen poisoning: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prognostic criteria determining the need for liver transplantation. Crit Care Med 2003; 31: 299–305.

8 Craig DGN, Ford AC, Hayes PC, Simpson KJ. Systematic review: prognostic tests of paracetamol-induced acute liver failure. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2010; 31: 1064– 76.

9 Bernal W, Donaldson N, Wyncoll D, Wendon J. Blood lactate as an early predictor of outcome in paracetamol-induced acute liver failure: a cohort study. Lancet 2002; 359: 558–63.

10 Esterline RL, Ray SD, Ji S. Reversible and irreversible inhibition of hepatic mitochondrial respiration by acetaminophen and its toxic metabolite, N-acetyl-p-benzoquinoneimine (NAPQI). Biochem Pharmacol 1989; 38: 23 87–90.

11 Zein JG, Wallace DJ, Kinasewitz G, Toubia N, Kakoulas C. Early anion gap metabolic acidosis in acetaminophen overdose. Am J Emerg Med 2010; 28: 798–802.

12 Craig DGN, Bates CM, Davidson JS, Martin KG, Hayes PC, Simpson KJ. Overdose pattern and outcome in paracetamol-induced acute severe hepatotoxicity. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2011; 71: 273–82.

13 Kumar R, Shalimar, Sharma H, et al. Persistent hyperammonemia is associated with complications and poor outcomes in patients with acute liver failure. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012; 10: 925–31.

14 Reddy KR, Ellerbe C, Schilsky M, et al. Determinants of outcome among patients with acute liver failure listed for liver transplantation in the United States. Liver Transpl 2016; 22: 505–15.

15 Roberts LN, Bernal W. Management of bleeding and thrombosis in critically ill patients with liver disease. Semin Thromb Hemost 2015; 41: 520–26.

16 Vincent JL, Moreno R, Takala J, et al. The SOFA (Sepsis-related Organ Failure Assessment) score to describe organ dysfunction/ failure. On behalf of the Working Group on Sepsis-Related Problems of the European Society of Intensive Care Med 1996; 22: 707–10.

17 Teasdale G, Jennett B. Assessment of coma and impaired consciousness. A practical scale. Lancet 1974; 2: 81–84.

18 Bernal W, Hall C, Karvellas CJ, Auzinger G, Sizer E, Wendon J. Arterial ammonia and clinical risk factors for encephalopathy and intracranial hypertension in acute liver failure. Hepatology 2007; 46: 1844–52.

19 Perkins W, Tygert M, Ward E. Chi-square and classical exact tests often wildly misreport signifi cance; the remedy lies in computers. Sept 15, 2011. http://arxiv.org/abs/1108.4126v2 (accessed July 11, 2016).

20 Harrell FE Jr. Regression modeling strategies with applications to linear models, logistic regression, and survival analysis. New York: Springer New York, 2001.

21 O'Grady J. Timing and benefit of liver transplantation in acute liver failure. J Hepatol 2014; 60: 663–70.

22 Wong DT, Barrow PM, Gomez M, McGuire GP. A comparison of the acute physiology and chronic health evaluation (APACHE) II score and the trauma-injury severity score (TRISS) for outcome assessment in intensive care unit trauma patients. Crit Care Med 1996; 24: 1642–48.

23 Keegan MT, Gajic O, Afessa B. Severity of illness scoring systems in the intensive care unit. Crit Care Med 2011; 39: 163–69.

24 Lemeshow S, Klar J, Teres D. Outcome prediction for individual intensive care patients: useful, misused, or abused? Intensive Care Med 1995; 21: 770–76.

25 Barber K, Madden S, Allen J, et al. Elective liver transplant list mortality: development of a United Kingdom end-stage liver disease score. Transplantation 2011; 92: 469–76.

26 Knaus WA, Harrell FE Jr, Lynn J, et al. The SUPPORT prognostic model. Objective estimates of survival for seriously ill hospitalized adults. Study to understand prognoses and preferences for outcomes and risks of treatments. Ann Intern Med 1995; 122: 191–203.

27 Sniederman A, D'Agostino R, Pencina M. The Role of physicians in the era of predictive analytics. JAMA 2015; 314: 25–26.

28 McPhail MJ, Shawcross DL, Abeles RD, et al. increased survival for patients with cirrhosis and organ failure in liver intensive care and validation of the chronic liver failure-sequential organ failure scoring system. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2015; 13: 1353–60.e8.

29 Ferreira F, Bota D, Bross A, Melot C, Vincent J. Serial evaluation of the SOFA score to predict outcome in critically ill patients. JAMA 2001; 286: 1754–58.

30 Goettler CE, Waibel BH, Goodwin J, et al. Trauma intensive care unit survival: how good is an educated guess? J Trauma Inj Infect Crit Care 2010; 68: 1279–87. 31 Mathurin P, Moreno C, Samuel D, et al. Early liver transplantation for severe

alcoholic hepatitis. New Engl J Med 2011; 365: 1790-800.

32 Germani G, Theocharidou E, Adam R, et al. Liver transplantation for acute liver failure in Europe: outcomes over 20 years from the ELTR database. J Hepatol 2012; 57: 288–96.

Table 1. Demographics, admission clinical and laboratory findings and outcome of Training and Test Cohorts.

	Training	Test	р
n	350	150	
Age (years)	37 (27-48)	36 (26-47)	0.38
Gender (F)	188 (54%)	94 (63%)	0.06
INR	4.0 (2.6-6.2)	3.8 (2.8-6.0)	0.40
Bilirubin (µMol/l)	68 (44-97)	72 (44-104)	0.44
AST (IU/I)	5776 (2601-9809)	5215 (2089-9315)	0.51
Creatinine ((µMol/l)	162 (92-267)	172 (93-281)	0.75
Arterial pH	7.40 (7.31-7.4)	7.4 (7.31-7.43)	0.29
Arterial Lactate (mmol/L)	2.8 (1.9-4.5)	2.6 (1.8-4.9)	0.32
HE Grade ≥3	149 (43%)	64 (43%)	0.98
Glasgow Coma Score	13 (8-15)	14 (8-15)	0.88
CVS Failure (n (%))	83 (24%)	35 (23%)	0.93
Mean Arterial Pressure (mmHg)	74 (63-95)	70 (61-90)	0.32
Mortality (%)	78 (22%)	35 (23%)	0.80
Day 2			
INR	3.0 (2.1-4.6)	3.0(2.2-4.9)	
Arterial Lactate (mmol/L)	2.0 (1.4-3.2)	2.1(1.4-3.2)	

Note; INR; International Normalised Ratio, AST; Aspartate Transaminase, HE; Hepatic Encephalopathy.

Table 2. Demographics, admission laboratory findings and outcome of validation sets.

	Copenhagen	Edinburgh	Birmingham	Kings	All
n	151	90	72	99	412
Age (years)	52 (36-61)	35 (27-46)	40 (31-46)	39 (30-50)	42 (31-53)
Gender (F)	93 (61%)	49 (54%)	39 (54%)	59 (59%)	240 (58%)
INR	3.0 (2.2-4.3)	5.3 (3.9-7.2)	4.9 (3-7.1)	6.2 (3.8-9.7)	3.9 (2.7-6.0)
Arterial pH	7.42 (7.36-7.46)	7.41 (7.31- 7.47)	7.29 (7.19- 7.38)	7.40 (7.35- 7.45)	7.40 (7.30- 7.45)
Creatinine	82 (56-153)	119 (73-216)	186 (96-297)	146 (76-	118 (66-
				213)	230)
Arterial Lactate (mmol/L)	2.6 (1.7-4.9)	2.9 (1.8-5.2)	5.6 (3.9-10.9)	3.3 (2.3-7.3)	3.5 (2.1-7.1)
Glasgow Coma Score	15 (8-15)	15 (14-15)	9 (9-10)	14 (9-15)	14 (9-15)
CVS Failure	26 (17%)	17 (19%)	57 (79%)	59 (60%)	159 (39%)
(SOFA ≥ 3)					
Mortality (%)	23 (15%)	13 (14%)	36 (50%)	27 (27%)	99 (24%)

Note; INR; International Normalised Ratio.

Table 3 (a). Component variables and adjusted hazard ratios for admission (D1) predictive model in the Training dataset (n=350).

	Hazard Ratio	95% CI	р
Age (5yrs)	1.07	(0.17-0.18)	0.17
Day 1			
CVS Failure	2.41	(1.39-4.17)	0.0018
Glasgow Coma Score	0.90	(0.84-0.98)	0.009
Arterial pH	0.06	(0.01-0.61)	0.018
Log (Creatinine (per 10 units))	1.74	(1.12-2.7)	0.013
Log (INR)	1.53	(1.04—2.24)	0.029
Sqrt (Arterial Lactate)	2.01	(1.53-2.63)	<0.0001

Table 3 (b). Component variables and adjusted hazard ratios for Dynamic (D2) predictive model in the Training dataset (n=350).

	Hazard Ratio	95% CI	р
Age (5yrs)	1.07	(0.17-0.18)	0.17
Day 1			
CVS Failure	3.14	(1.8-5.49)	<0.0001
Glasgow Coma Score	0.90	(0.83-0.97)	0.005
Arterial pH	0.09	(0.01-0.95)	0.044

Log (Creatinine(per 10 units))	1.70	(1.08-2.67)	0.022
Log (INR)	1.97	(1.33—2.91)	<0.0001
Sqrt (Arterial Lactate)	1.78	(1.37-2.32)	<0.0001
Day 2			
Lower Arterial Lactate	0.31	(0.13-0.69)	0.0045
Lower INR	0.54	(0.29-0.99)	0.046

Table 4. Diagnostic test performance of D1 and D2 models for predicting 30-day survival applied to individual and combined external validation sets.

		D1 Model			D2 Model		
Set	n	AUROC	(95% CI)	RMSE	AUROC	95% CI	RMSE
Copenhagen	151	0.93	(0.88- 0.98)	0.140	0.94	(0.87- 1.00)	0.208
Edinburgh	90	0.88	(0.79- 0.96)	0.281	0.89	(0.81- 0.97)	0.239
Birmingham	72	0.84	(0.74- 0.94)	0.053	0.83	(0.73- 0.93)	0.111
Kings	99	0.92	(0.85- 0.99)	0.117	0.93	(0.86- 0.99)	0.185
Combined	412	0.91	(0.87- 0.94)	0.079	0.91	(0.88- 0.95)	0.107

Note: AUROC; Area Under Receiver Operating Characteristic Curve, RMSE; Root-Mean-Square Error.


Figure 3 Area under receiver operating characteristic curve for the derivation dataset

(A) Day 1 model and (B) day 2 model. Data from the King's College Hospital derivation set (n=350).



Figure 4: Discrimination and calibration of day 1 and day 2 models in the initial validation dataset (A) Area under receiver operating characteristic curve (AUROC) for the day 1 model. (B) AUROC for day 2 model. (C) Calibration curve for the day 1 model. (D) Calibration curve for day 2 model. Data from the King's College Hospital initial validation cohort (n=150). RMSE=root mean square error.



Figure 5: Predicted survival curves by day 1 and day 2 models for King's College Hospital patients (A) Died at 23 days. (B) Patient survived to hospital discharge. Broken lines represent 95% CI.



Figure 6: Discrimination and calibration of day 1 and day 2 models in combined external validation sets

(A) Area under receiver operating characteristic curve (AUROC) for day 1 model. (b) AUROC for day 2 model. (C) Calibration curve for day 1 model. (D) Calibration curve for day 2 model. Data from combined external validation datasets (n=412).

Appendix

Supplemental Materials 1.

Variables assessed in predictive model derivation:

Age

Gender

Heart rate

Mean Arterial Pressure

Systolic Blood Pressure

Diastolic Blood Pressure

SOFA Cardiovascular Failure

Respiratory rate

PaO₂/FiO₂ ratio

 $PaCO_2$

Arterial pH

Arterial [HCO₃]

Arterial [lactate]

Blood concentrations:

Sodium

Potassium

Creatinine

Urea

Leucocyte count

Platelet count

INR

Bilirubin

Aspartate Transaminase

Albumin

Glucose

Glasgow Coma Scale

Urine Output

Supplemental Materials 2.

Predictive Equations for D1 and D2 Models

Predictive equation for D1 model:

Survival function (integration of hazard function over time 0 to t) is used to calculate the survival probability S(t) for any case at time t:

Based on the estimation results (Hazard ratios) from the training dataset, we were able to calculate the survival probability for any patient at time t:

$$S(t) = S_0(t)^K$$

$$K = ^{PI} \quad [exp(b \mid age * age + b \ cardio * Cardio + b \ GCS * GCS + b \ pH * pH + b \ creatin * log(creatin) + b \ INR * log(INR) \quad [+b] \ lactate * \sqrt{(2\&lactate))} 1.07 \ ^age + \quad [2.41] \ ^cardio + \quad [0.90] \ ^GCS + \quad [0.06] \ ^pH + \quad [1.74] \ ^log(creatin) + \quad [1.53] \ ^log(INR) + \quad [2.01] \ ^\sqrt{(2\&lactate)}$$

 $S_0(t)$ can be estimated through the baseline cumulative hazard $H_0(t)$ and need help of statistical software.

Predictive equation for D2 model:

Based on the estimation results (Hazard ratios) from the training dataset, we were able to calculate the survival probability for any patient at time t:

 $S(t) = S_0(t)^K$

$$K \quad e^{PI} \quad \left[\exp \left(b \right| age * age + b \; cardio * Cardio + b \; GCS * GCS + b \; pH * pH + b \; creatin * \log (creatin) + b \; INR * \log (INR) \left[+ b \right] \; lactate * \sqrt{(2\&lactate)} + b \; dynamiclactate * (dynamiclactate) + b \; dynamicINR * (dynamicINR)) 1.07] ^ age + [3.14] ^ cardio + [0.90] ^ GCS + [0.09] ^ pH + [1.70] ^ log (creatin) + [1.97] ^ log (INR) + [2.01] ^ (2&lactate) + [0.31] ^ ((dyamiclactate)) + [0.54] ^ ((dynamicINR))$$

 $S_0(t)$ can be estimated through the baseline cumulative hazard H₀(t) and need help of statistical software.

Supplementary Materials 3. Comparison of demographics and admission laboratory findings of patients who died or underwent transplantation.

	Died	Transplanted	
n	185	116	
Age (years)	44 (35-54)	33 (24-40)	<0.001
Gender (F)	104 (56%)	75 (65%)	
INR	5.0 (3.3-8.7)	6.9 (4.4-10)	0.003
Arterial pH	7.27 (7.15- 7.38)	7.28 (7.20-7.38)	0.39
Glasgow Coma Score	8 (6-10)	9 (7-12)	0.005
Creatinine (µmol/L)	200 (128-282)	197 (129-298)	0.96
Arterial Lactate (mmol/L)	8.1 (4.3-12.7)	5.9 (4-9.7)	0.01
CVS Failure	151 (82%)	89 (77%)	0.30

Note: Note; INR; International Normalised Ratio.

Chapter 4 Management of ALF

The effect of molecular adsorbent recirculating system on pathophysiological parameters in patients with acute liver failure

Dr Wai Kwan Lai MBChB MRCP

Clinical Research Fellow

Liver Laboratories

University of Birmingham, UK

Dr Geoff Haydon MBChB MRCP PhD

Consultant Hepatologist

Queen Elizabeth Hospital

Birmingham, UK

Dr David Mutimer

Consultant Hepatologist

Queen Elizabeth Hospital

Birmingham, UK

Corresponding Author:

Dr Nick Murphy MB BS FRCA DipICM

Consultant Intensivist

Queen Elizabeth Hospital

Birmingham

United Kingdom

E-Mail:

Abstract

Objective: To investigate the effect of the molecular adsorbent recirculating system (MARS) on physiological variables in patients with acute liver failure. Design: A prospective, observational study of MARS in addition to standard medical therapy in the management of patients presenting with acute liver failure.

Patients: Ten consecutive patients admitted with acute liver failure with a grade III or IV hepatic encephalopathy. MARS therapy was used for 8 hours on 2 consecutive days. Standard monitoring included the use of a pulmonary artery catheter and an intracranial pressure monitor.

Results: During the first MARS treatment there was a significant increase in systemic vascular resistance index (SVRI) from 1114 ± 196 to 1432 ± 245 dyne s¹ cm⁵ m² with a reduction in cardiac index from 5.5 ± 0.6 to 4.2 ± 0.4 l min¹ m². The changes were maintained between the start of the first and second sessions but not to the end of second. Significant clearance of urea and creatinine was observed. Intracranial pressure did not change during the treatments. Overall mortality was 70%.

Conclusions: MARS therapy was well tolerated, with significant increases in vascular tone during the first session. This increase was not sustained over the duration of the study with a return to baseline values by the end of the second session. Based on our experience we cannot recommend the routine use of MARS therapy in acute liver failure outside of a clinical trial. Keywords: Acute liver failure · Albumin dialysis · Molecular adsorbent recirculating system · Paracetamol

Introduction

Acute liver failure (ALF) is a devastating syndrome which triggers a cascade of events often leading to multiple organ failure and death [1, 2]. Despite recent advances in intensive care and organ support mortality rates remain high. In patients with high-grade encephalopathy the chances of survival are less than 15% with medical management alone [2, 3]. Early deaths in ALF are often caused by cerebral oedema or unsupportable cardiovascular collapse [4, 5]. In addition to a failure of synthetic function the clinical syndrome of acute liver failure is caused by a reduction in its excretory capacity and the accumulation of circulating toxins. It is thought that this leads to hepatic encephalopathy and reduced peripheral vascular tone, resulting in a hyperdynamic circulation with systemic hypotension, renal failure and cerebral oedema. Conventional blood purification techniques such as renal dialysis clear small water soluble molecules. The molecular adsorbent recirculating system (MARS), however, is an albumin-based dialysis system that removes both proteinbound water-insoluble and water-soluble molecules [6, 7]. It has been developed as a non-biological liver support system designed to enhance the excretory function of a failing liver. Furthermore investigators have demonstrated the removal of vasoactive substances which are thought to be responsible for the changes in measured haemodynamic parameters [8, 9].

The efficacy of MARS therapy in patients with acute decompensation of chronic liver disease has been extensively studied [10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15]. There are, however, few data assessing the role of MARS in patients with ALF. Hence the aim of this

study was to systematically examine the impact of MARS on the physiology of patients presenting with ALF [16].

Materials and methods

Patients

Ten consecutive patients with grade III or IV hepatic encephalopathy were recruited into the study (median age 43 years, range 19-62; six women, four men). All patients were assessed for transplantation, and the decision to transplant was independent of the patient's participation in this study. The local research ethics committee approved the study in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki (1989). Due to the nature of the illness consent was precluded. Written informed assent was obtained from the next of kin. The patients' clinical and biochemical data before the first MARS treatment are shown in Table 1. Eight of the patients had paracetamol induced hepatotoxicity, one had seronegative (non-A to E) hepatitis and one liver failure induced by an idiosyncratic drug reaction to isoniazid. Patients were managed according to unit protocols; this included intubation of the trachea and ventilation to maintain normocapnia. All patients were sedated with morphine and midazolam. Standard monitoring included insertion of a peripheral arterial line and a pulmonary artery catheter. A subdural intracranial pressure (ICP) monitor (Integra Neurosciences) was inserted over the non-dominant frontal-parietal region following correction of any coagulopathy with fresh frozen plasma and platelets aiming for an international normalised ratio (INR) less than 2 and a platelet count greater than 100 ×10⁹/L. A retrograde venous catheter was inserted into an internal jugular vein to monitor jugular bulb oxygen saturation. The plasma sodium was maintained between 145 - 150 mmol/L with hypertonic saline. Haemofiltration is an integral part of MARS

therapy, and all patients received 2 L/h ultrafiltration and replacement during MARS therapy. Haemofiltration was continued between the two MARS sessions at the same rate.

Study protocol

All ten patients with high-grade encephalopathy associated with acute liver failure were fully resuscitated and stabilised prior to commencing the first scheduled session of MARS. The study protocol intended two MARS session per patient, each of 8 h duration, and a proposed interval between treatments of 8 h. Median interval between sessions was 10 h (range 6 - 12 h). Clinical and biochemical data were collected before the start of each session and at 2 - h intervals. Clinical data included mean arterial pressure, central venous pressure, pulmonary artery wedge pressure, jugular bulb venous saturations, cardiac index (CI), systemic vascular resistance index (SVRI) and intracranial pressure. The haematological and biochemical data included full blood count, clotting studies, liver function tests, lactate levels, urea and creatinine. Nonparametric statistical analysis of data before and after the MARS treatment was performed using Wilcoxon rank sum test. SPSS 11.0 for windows (SPSS, Chicago, III., USA) was used.

Results

Nine patients met either the King's College Hospital criteria (KCH) and / or lactate criteria for liver transplantation [2, 17]. Patient no. 5 had taken a staggered overdose with a late presentation and did not fulfil either set of criteria. However, he had established anuric renal failure, an INR of 4.2 and a lactate of 2.93 mmol/l after resuscitation. Two patients (nos. 1, 8) received liver transplantation while two patients (nos. 4, 9) deteriorated rapidly following admission and were deemed too

unstable to undergo transplantation. Transplantation was excluded in the remaining six patients due to significant psychiatric morbidity (nos. 5, 6, 7, 10), sepsis (no.2) or clinical improvement (no. 3). All ten patients had a first session of MARS, and eight patients survived to receive the second scheduled session. Two patients died during the initial treatment period (nos. 4, 9) and received MARS therapy for a duration of 4 and 8 h, respectively. Both died because of cardiovascular failure with unsupportable hypotension. Patient no. 10 also received inotropic support requiring 4 mg/h norepinephrine during the 1st h of MARS, reducing to 2.1 mg/h by the end of session 1 and 0.3 mg/h by the end of session 2. All patients were assessed for transplantation, and the decision to transplant was independent of the patient's participation in this study. Hence the timing of transplantation was unaffected by the study. Patient no. 1 died of multi-organ dysfunction and sepsis 3 months post-transplantation whilst patient no. 8 had primary non-function and died 3 days after the second transplant with multi-organ dysfunction. Two patients survived in the group of seven that met criteria but were not transplanted.

Comparison of haemodynamic variables before and following each MARS treatment revealed an increase in SVRI following the first session (p=0.02). CI was noted to decrease over the same time period (p=0.01; Table 2). The changes in SVRI and CI were sustained between the two sessions, remaining significantly different at the commencement of the second session (SVRI p=0.012, CI p=0.05). However, these changes were not sustained over the course of the second treatment session; the SVRI was not significantly different between the start of the study and the end of the second session (p=0.09; Fig. 1). There was a decline in SVRI during the second session, with the CI remaining stable both of which did not reach statistical significance. The increase in SVRI and reduction in CI after the first session

remained significant after excluding the two patients who died during the first treatment (p=0.03).

ICP did not change during MARS therapy (Fig. 2). There was a trend towards decreasing jugular venous saturations over the two sessions; however, this did not reach statistical significance (Fig. 3). There were two complications related to MARS, both due to perforation in the MARS membrane. Blood was noted within the MARS circuit and the treatment session was terminated at this point; this occurred without any clinical consequences. There was a significant decrease in haemoglobin (p=0.02), platelets (p=0.002), INR (p=0.004), urea (p=0.02) and creatinine (p=0.002) following MARS therapy (see Table 3).

Discussion

In this study we set out to systematically assess the effect of MARS therapy in ten patients presenting with ALF, of whom all but one fulfilled the KCH or lactate criteria for transplantation [2, 17]. Those patients that completed the study received two sessions consecutively over a 2-day period. We observed a significant increase in vascular tone during the first session and the effects were sustained until the start of the second session. These findings are consistent with other reports on the efficacy of MARS in improving the haemodynamic stability in patients with ALF during a single 8-h session [18, 19]. We were able to show, however, that the effects were not sustained and had reverted to baseline by the end of the second MARS session. ICP did not change significantly in our patients over the treatment period. In addition, evidence of a consistent trend toward a reduction in ICP was lacking. This contradicts some earlier case reports [20]. The lack of effect noted may be due to the relatively low ICP measured in the patient group and because of the standard use of hypertonic saline prophylaxis against cerebral oedema, but it may also represent absent efficacy of MARS in this setting [21]. Hence the usefulness of MARS in the management of raised ICP remains to be elucidated. In our study there was a trend, however, towards a decrease in the measured jugular bulb saturations without any significant changes observed in mean arterial pressure and ICP. This might reflect an improvement in cerebral vascular tone whilst on MARS. It has been noted previously that MARS therapy increases cerebral blood flow velocity during a single session in acute on chronic liver failure [22]. However, this effect may also represent the global reduction in cardiac output previously noted [23, 24].

The treatment was well tolerated with no clinically significant complications associated with the MARS therapy. There was a significant reduction in platelet count, which has been observed in other studies using MARS therapy without any adverse consequences [7]. The significant reduction in INR seen was due to correction with fresh frozen plasma prior to insertion of the intracranial pressure monitor.

Two patients (nos. 4 and 9) who presented with the highest INR and lactate deteriorated very rapidly and died within 8 h of admission despite MARS therapy and intensive support. As MARS functions by dialysis against an albumin gradient, it shares the same disadvantage as other extracorporeal blood purification systems in that there is inevitably a lag between start of treatment and any possible effect or clinical benefit and in these two patients progressive deterioration was seen. Moreover we showed a reduction in effect over time demonstrated by the diminished response during the second MARS session in the eight patients who survived to finish the study. Even though the decline in vascular resistance and CI during the second session did not reach statistical significance, caution needs to be exercised

when considering prolonged use of MARS as evidence of sustained response is lacking from this pilot study. Previous studies in this setting which used only a single session have shown a similar pattern to our study [19]. The reduction in effect over the second session is, however, an important observation as it suggests that any treatment effect may be short lived.

As MARS does not support liver synthetic function, the long-term outcome of these patients still depends on the availability of liver transplantation or recovery of native liver function. Although this pilot study demonstrated that MARS therapy increases vascular tone in patients presenting with ALF, further studies are needed to determine whether these haemodynamic changes can translate into better patient survival, as our study suggests that treatment effect is short lived, with haemodynamic parameters reverting to baseline during the second treatment ession. In addition, we did not observe an effect on intracranial hypertension despite initial enthusiasm for MARS in this setting. Randomised controlled trials are clearly needed to confirm the effect in one way or the other especially in comparison to other extracorporeal modalities such as high volume haemofiltration before MARS can be recommended as standard medical therapy in patients with ALF due to the additional costs estimated at UK £1500 per day.

In conclusion, we found that MARS therapy increased vascular resistance and reduced CI in the majority of patients treated during the first 8-h session. This increase was not sustained over the duration of the study, with a return to baseline values by the end of the second session. There were no significant changes in the other measured parameters. Based on our experience we cannot recommend the routine use of MARS therapy in ALF outside of a clinical trial. Acknowledgements Teraklin AG, Germany, provided the MARS kits for the study, free of cost.

Reference

1. Bernuau J, Rueff B, Benhamou JP (1986) Fulminant and subfulminant liver failure: definitions and causes. Semin Liver Dis 6:97–106

2. O'Grady JG, Alexander GJ, Hayllar KM, Williams R (1989) Early indicators of prognosis in fulminant hepatic failure. Gastroenterology 97:439–445

3. Lee WM. Acute liver failure (1993) N Engl J Med 329:1862–1872

4. Ede RJ, Gimson AE, Bihari D, Williams R (1986) Controlled hyperventilation in the prevention of cerebral oedema in fulminant hepatic failure. J Hepatol 2:43–51

5. Williams R, Gimson AE (1991) Intensive liver care and management of acute hepatic failure. Dig Dis Sci 36:820–826

6. Stange J, Mitzner S (1996) A carriermediated transport of toxins in a hybrid membrane. Safety barrier between a patients blood and a bioartificial liver. Int J Artif Organs 19:677–691

7. Stange J, Mitzner SR, Risler T, Erley CM, Lauchart W, Goehl H, Klammt S, Peszynski P, Freytag J, Hickstein H, Lohr M, Liebe S, Schareck W, Hopt UT, Schmidt R (1999) Molecular adsorbent recycling system (MARS): clinical results of a new membranebased blood purification system for bioartificial liver support. Artif Organs 23:319–330

8. Ambrosino G, Naso A, Feltracco P, Carraro P, Basso SM, Varotto S, Cillo U, Zanus G, Boccagni P, Brolese A, Plebani M, Giron G, D'Amico DF (2003) Cytokines and liver failure: modification of TNF- and IL-6 in patients with acute on chronic liver decompensation treated with molecular adsorbent recycling system (MARS). Acta Biomed Ateneo Parmense 74 [Suppl 2]:7–9

9. Klammt S, Stange J, Mitzner SR, Peszynski P, Peters E, Liebe S (2002) Extracorporeal liver support by recirculating albumin dialysis: analysing the effect of the first clinically used generation of the MARSystem. Liver 22 [Suppl 2]:30–34

10. Campli CD, Gaspari R, Mignani V, Stifano G, Santoliquido A, Verme LZ, Proietti R, Pola P, Silveri NG, Gasbarrini G, Gasbarrini A (2003) Successful MARS treatment in severe cholestatic patients with acute on chronic liver failure. Artif Organs 27:565–569

11. Mitzner SR, Stange J, Klammt S, Risler T, Erley CM, Bader BD, Berger ED, Lauchart W, Peszynski P, Freytag J, Hickstein H, Loock J, Lohr JM, Liebe S, Emmrich J, Korten G, Schmidt R (2000) Improvement of hepatorenal syndrome with extracorporeal albumin dialysis MARS: results of a prospective, randomized, controlled clinical trial. Liver Transpl 6:277–286

12. Schmidt LE, Sorensen VR, Svendsen LB, Hansen BA, Larsen FS (2001)
Hemodynamic changes during a single treatment with the molecular adsorbents
recirculating system in patients with acute-on-chronic liver failure. Liver Transpl
7:1034–1039

13. Schmidt LE, Svendsen LB, Sorensen VR, Hansen BA, Larsen FS (2001) Cerebral blood flow velocity increases during a single treatment with the molecular adsorbents recirculating system in patients with acute on chronic liver failure. Liver Transpl 7:709–712 14. Sen S, Davies NA, Mookerjee RP, Cheshire LM, Hodges SJ, Williams R, Jalan R (2004) Pathophysiological effects of albumin dialysis in acute-onchronic liver failure: a randomized controlled study. Liver Transpl 10:1109–1119

15. Sorkine P, Ben Abraham R, Szold O, Biderman P, Kidron A, Merchav H, Brill S, Oren R (2001) Role of the molecular adsorbent recycling system (MARS) in the treatment of patients with acute exacerbation of chronic liver failure. Crit Care Med 29:1332–1336

16. Lai W, Haydon G, Mutimer D, Murphy N (2003) The effect of albumin dialysis (MARS) on pathophysiological parameters in patients with acute liver failure (ALF). J Hepatol 38 Suppl 2:42

17. Bernal W, Donaldson N, Wyncoll D, Wendon J (2002) Blood lactate as an early predictor of outcome in paracetamol- induced acute liver failure: a cohort study. Lancet 359:558–563

18. Novelli G, Rossi M, Pretagostini R, Poli L, Peritore D, Berloco P, Di Nicuolo A, Iappelli M, Cortesini R (2001) Use of MARS in the treatment of acute liver failure: preliminary monocentric experience. Transplant Proc 33:1942–1944

19. Schmidt LE, Wang LP, Hansen BA, Larsen FS (2003) Systemic hemodynamic effects of treatment with the molecular adsorbents recirculating system in patients with hyperacute liver failure: a prospective controlled trial. Liver Transpl 9:290–297

20. Sorkine P, Ben Abraham R, Szold O, Biderman P, Kidron A, Merchav H, Brill S, Oren R (2001) Role of the molecular adsorbent recycling system (MARS) in the treatment of patients with acute exacerbation of chronic liver failure. Crit Care Med 29:1332–1336 21. Murphy N, Auzinger G, Bernel W, Wendon J (2004) The effect of hypertonic sodium chloride on intracranial pressure in patients with acute liver failure.Hepatology 39:464–470

22. Schmidt LE, Svendsen LB, Sorensen VR, Hansen BA, Larsen FS (2001) Cerebral blood flow velocity increases during a single treatment with the molecular adsorbents recirculating system in patients with acute on chronic liver failure. Liver Transpl 7:709–712

23. Goetting MG, Preston G (1990) Jugular bulb catheterization: experience with 123 patients. Crit Care Med 18:1220– 1223

24. Kramer DJ, Aggarwal S, Martin M, Darby J, Obrist W, Rosenbloom A, Murray G, Linden P, Miro A (1991) Management options in fulminant hepatic failure. Transplant Proc 23:1895– 1898









Fig. 1 Changes in mean SVRI and CI with SEM before and after each session of MARS treatment. Significant improvements in SVRI (p=0.02) and CI (p=0.01) observed between start and end of first session





Fig. 2 Mean intracranial pressure with SEM during each MARS session



Fig. 3 Mean jugular bulb saturations with SEM during each MARS session

Table 1

Clinical and biochemical status before MARS treatment and outcome (POD paracetamol overdose, NANB non-A/non-B seronegative hepatitis, OLT orthotopic liver transplant)

Patient	Sex	Age	Cause	Mars	ICP	INR	pН	Lactate	Bilirubin	Albumin	Creatinine	Outcome
no.		(years)		session				(mmol/l)	(µmol/l)	(g/l)	(µmol/l)	
1	F	42	POD	2	6	6.4	7.30	4.35	53	26	171	OLT/died
2	F	62	NANB	2	15	3.5	7.59	2.77	518	20	131	No OLT/died
3	М	19	POD	2	18	2.2	7.40	3.59	128	29	940	No OLT/alive
4	М	53	POD	1	12	>15	7.22	6.34	38	12	167	No OLT/died
5	М	44	POD	2	19	4.2	7.45	2.93	144	20	592	No OLT/alive
6	F	35	POD	2	14	2.9	7.35	3.00	100	23	153	No OLT/died
7	F	53	POD	2	7	2.0	7.28	4.00	5	20	384	No OLT/died

8	М	60	Isoniazid	2	7	3.9	7.49	4.38	166	20	61	OLT/died
9	F	31	POD	1	25	2.7	7.18	11.39	55	25	271	No OLT/died
10	F	39	POD	2	25	5.1	7.20	8.60	38	14	226	No OLT/alive

Table 2 Haemodynamic variables, intracranial pressure and serum lactate before and after each MARS treatment: means (parentheses range) (MAP mean arterial pressure, CVP central venous pressure, PACWP pulmonary arterial wedge pressure, ICP intracranial pressure, SVRI systemic vascular resistance index, CI cardiac index, JBS jugular bulb saturations)

	Session 1		Session 2			
	Pre MARS	Post MARS	Р	Pre MARS	Post MARS	Р
MAP (mmHg)	75 (65–115)	79 (60–103)	NS	85.5 (77–124)	83 (73–124)	NS
CVP (mmHg)	12.5 (6–21)	10.5 (7–19)	NS	11 (6–12)	10 (8–16)	NS
PACWP (mmHg)	14.5 (9–22)	13.5 (10–20)	NS	13.5 (9–16)	14 (11–17)	NS
SVRI (dyne s ⁻¹ cm ⁻⁵ m ⁻²)	1114 (562–2614)	1432 (734–2489)	0.02	1614 (1021–2868)	1535 (1045–1356)	NS

CI (I min ⁻¹ m ⁻²)	6.14 (3.18–7.7)	4.65 (2.05–6.4)	0.01	3.65 (2.37–7.1)	3.73 (2.71–7.11)	NS
IBS (% oxygen saturation)	83 45 (56 5, 02 0)	73 6 (55 5 80)	NS	81 05 (57 0 85)	75 45 (60, 84, 8)	NS
	00.40 (00.0-92.9)	73.0 (33.3–63)	NO	01.00 (07.9–00)	75.45 (00-04.0)	NO
ICP (mmHg)	14.5 (7–25) 1	4 (3–25)	NS	7 (3–19)	13 (2–20)	NS
Lactate (mmol/L)	3.97 (1.89–11.29)	3.25 (1.83–13.6)	NS	3.02 (1.9–5.2) 2.5	(1.45–5.46)	NS

Table 3 Biochemical variables before and after first session of MARS treatment: means (parentheses range) (INR international

normalised ratio)

	Pre MARS	Post MARS	Ρ
Urea (mmol/l)	8.6 (5.6–37.5)	6.6 (4.1–29.1)	0.023
Creatinine (_mol/l)	177 (80–970)	165 (74–604)	0.002
Bilirubin (_mol/l)	77.5 (21–518)	76 (29–293)	NS
Albumin (g/l)	20 (14–29)	22 (13–26)	NS

Haemoglobin (g/dl)	9.1 (7.7–11.8)	8.4 (7.3–9.7)	0.028
Platelets (x109/l)	118 (76–223)	90 (62–163)	0.002
INR	3.2 (1.6–15)	2.3 (1.6–4.4)	0.004

The Effect of Hypertonic Sodium Chloride on Intracranial Pressure in Patients With Acute Liver Failure

Nicholas Murphy,

Georg Auzinger,

William Bernel,

Julia Wendon

Abstract

Acute liver failure (ALF) is a rare condition characterized by the development of encephalopathy in the absence of chronic liver disease. Cerebral oedema occurs in up to 80% of patients with Grade IV encephalopathy. In the current prospective randomized controlled clinical trial, we examined the effect of induced hypernatremia on the incidence of intracranial hypertension (IH) in patients with ALF. Thirty patients with ALF and Grade III or IV encephalopathy were randomized. Patients in Group 1 (n = 15) received the normal standard of care. Patients in Group 2 (n = 15) received standard care and hypertonic saline (30%) via infusion to maintain serum sodium levels of 145–155 mmol/L. Intracranial pressure (ICP) was monitored in all patients with a subdural catheter (Camino Systems, San Diego, CA) for up to 72 hours after inclusion. Serum sodium levels became significantly different from the levels observed in the control group at 6 hours (P<.01). Over the first 24 hours, norepinephrine dose increased relative to baseline in the control group (P < .001; 13 patients) but not in the treatment group. ICP decreased significantly relative to baseline over the first 24 hours in the treatment group (P = .003; 13 patients) but not in the control group. The incidence of IH, defined as a sustained increase in ICP to a level of 25mmHg or greater, was significantly higher in the control group (P = .04).

In conclusion, induction and maintenance of hypernatremia can reduce the incidence and severity of IH in patients presenting with ALF.

Introduction

Acute liver failure (ALF) is defined as the acute cessation of normal liver function in a patient without a history or clinical signs of chronic liver disease. The defining state is the onset of hepatic encephalopathy. The classification of ALF into hyperacute, acute, and subacute categories based on the time from the onset of jaundice to the development of encephalopathy aids in predicting outcome.(1) Patients with rapidly progressive liver failure have a greater risk of developing cerebral oedema and intracranial hypertension (IH).(2,3)

Although IH in ALF is not completely understood, there are thought to be two main pathologic processes that contribute to this condition. These processes are brain swelling caused by water influx down an osmotic gradient into astrocytes (cytotoxic oedema) and cerebrovascular vasodilation, which results in increased cerebral blood volume.(4)

Under normal conditions, ammonia, which is produced mainly in the gut, kidney, and pancreas, is metabolized in the liver to both urea and glutamine. When the liver fails, there is an increase in circulating ammonia levels. Increased metabolism occurs at alternative sites, such as skeletal muscle and the brain, during liver failure.(5) Within the brain, ammonia is detoxified in astrocytes. Here, glutamine is produced when ammonia combines with the excitatory neurotransmitter glutamate via the enzyme glutamine synthetase. The ammonium load associated with liver failure fuels this reaction, and the glutamine produced increases the osmotic potential within astrocytes. In fact, inhibition of glutamine synthetase ameliorates brain oedema and improves survival results in animal models of ALF.(6) The rapidity of onset of ALF reduces the time available for cellular adaptation. In contrast, in chronic liver disease, astrocytes have time to adapt to the increase in circulating ammonia levels.(3)

The glutamine hypothesis(7) suggests that water diffuses across the bloodbrain barrier and into astrocytes, resulting in cerebral oedema and IH. Thus, it can be expected that agents that increase extracellular osmolality, such as mannitol, will reduce IH(8) and that in contrast, a decrease in extracellular fluid osmolality will be associated with an increase in brain swelling.(3)

In the current prospective randomized controlled clinical trial, we investigated the effects of systemic hypernatremia (via hypertonic saline infusion) on the incidence of IH in patients with ALF and Grade III or IV encephalopathy. We hypothesized that systemic hypernatremia may reduce the incidence of cerebral oedema and IH.

Patients and Methods

After approval was granted by the local hospital ethics committee, 30 patients with ALF and Grade III or IV encephalopathy were entered into the current trial. Due to the nature of the disease, consent requirements were eschewed and informed assent was obtained from next of kin. The sample size was based on previously reported data.(9) A difference of 10 mm Hg in mean intracranial pressure (ICP) between groups was anticipated, based on previous anecdotal experience using hypertonic saline to treat patients with ALF. This expectation, together with an α value of 0.05 and a β value of 0.2, yielded a target sample size of 29 patients.

On entry into the trial, patients were randomized into 2 groups using sealed envelopes. Group 1 (n = 15) received standard care. Group 2 (n = 15) received standard care plus a 30% hypertonic saline infusion via a syringe driver. The infusion rate was titrated between 5 and 20 mL per hour to maintain serum sodium levels at 145–155 mmol/L.

The primary endpoint of the study was onset of IH, which was defined as a sustained rise (lasting 10 minutes or longer) in ICP to 25 mm Hg or greater.(9–11) Data were recorded for up to 72 hours after inclusion.

Management of both groups was standardized. Ventilation was provided using a volume-controlled mode, with minute volume adjusted to achieve a pCO_2 of 4.5–5.5 kilopascals (34–42mmHg). All patients were nursed with 15– 20 degrees of head elevation to facilitate venous drainage and sedated with fentanyl and midazolam. ICP was measured with a subdural ICP probe (Integra Neuro- Sciences, Plainsboro, NJ) inserted into the nondominant frontoparietal region. Before insertion of the probe, fresh-frozen plasma and platelets were administered. A reverse jugular venous catheter was inserted into the right or left internal jugular vein. Irrespective of cause, all patients received *N*-acetylcysteine (150 mg/kg per day) via continuous intravenous infusion. Hemodynamic monitoring included arterial access via a radial artery for arterial blood gas measurement and central venous access. Further hemodynamic monitoring was determined by clinical need. If mean arterial blood pressure decreased below 70 mm Hg, the patient was adequately volume-loaded and norepinephrine administration was initiated and titrated to maintain a mean blood pressure of 75–80 mm Hg. All patients were fed enterally and given prophylactic antibiotics. Haemoglobin levels were maintained at 8–10 g/dL with packed red cells. Endotracheal suction and patient turning were minimized to reduce the risk of bringing about cerebral oedema.

Group 1, the control group, consisted of 12 patients with acetaminophen hepatotoxicity, 1 patient with non-A, non-B hepatitis (seronegative hepatitis), 1 patient with acute hepatitis B, and 1 patient following acute hepatotoxicity in response to antiretroviral therapy. Group 2, the treatment group, consisted of 12 patients following acetaminophen hepatotoxicity, 1 patient with acute hepatitis B, 1 patient with hepatotoxicity due to use of the recreational drug 'ecstasy' (3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine), and 1 patient following hepatotoxicity due to a traditional Chinese medication.

Censoring occurred after death, liver transplantation, or resolution of illness. Physiologic data were collected at six hourly intervals. Patients with ICP \geq 25 mm Hg received an escalating treatment regimen. Sedation was increased and followed by mannitol, 0.5 g/kg, over 10 minutes in conjunction with the removal of 500 ml of ultrafiltrate via hemofiltration if the patient was in anuric renal failure. Surface cooling was performed for patients with ICP that was resistant to initial measures. Two patients in the control group had resistant IH and received 20 mL bolus injections of 30% hypertonic saline. Both of these patients died with intractable IH.

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS Version 10 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL) and Unistat 4.5 (London, United Kingdom). Study data are presented as mean values with standard errors. Within-group analysis consisted of nonparametric ANOVA (Quade two-way ANOVA). Betweengroup data were compared using the Mann– Whitney *U* test. Kaplan–Meier analysis with Breslow's test for significance was used to compare the incidence of clinically significant IH between groups. Spearman's test was used to evaluate correlations. A *P* value of less than .05 was considered significant.

Results

The average time from admission to the hospital until entry into the trial was 36.5 hours, with a range of 3–73 hours. Sixteen of the 30 patients in the trial had encephalopathy on arrival at the intensive care unit; for these patients, the exact timing of the onset of encephalopathy was unclear. For the remaining 14 patients, the average time from the onset of encephalopathy to entry into the trial was 31 hours, with a range of 5–55 hours.

Seven patients in the control group and 9 patients in the treatment group had sodium levels of less than 135 mmol/L on admission into the intensive care unit. One patient in the control group had a serum sodium level of less than
130 mmol/L, compared with 6 patients in the treatment group. On admission to the trial, no patient in either group had a serum sodium level of less than 130 mmol/L; 1 patient in each group, however, had a serum sodium level of less than 135 mmol/L. The relation between serum sodium level at admission and the first available ICP measurement was investigated in all patients (Fig. 1); a weak but significant inverse correlation was observed ($r^2 = 0.06$; P =.02). At the time of enrolment into the trial, there were no significant differences between the two groups (Table 1).

Over the study period, there was no difference between the two groups in terms of the volume of fluids administered or the amount of blood transfused. Eight patients in the control group required mannitol, compared with five in the treatment group; this difference was not significant. The number of interventions also did not differ significantly between the two groups. Fourteen of 15 patients in the control group and 13 of 15 patients in the treatment group underwent continuous venovenous hemofiltration, with a blood flow rate of 200 mL per minute and a median ultrafiltrate exchange rate of 4 L per hour in both groups. For all patients, the indication for continuous venovenous hemofiltration was oliguric or anuric renal failure.

Serum sodium levels increased in both groups between admission to the intensive care unit and entry into the trial. These increases resulted from the use of hemofiltration for the majority of patients in both groups. In the treatment group, serum sodium concentration increased significantly from its initial levels and, at 6 hours, became significantly different from the levels observed in the control group (P < .01) (Fig. 2). During the first 24 hours, the treatment group received an average of 6.5 mL of 30% saline per hour. Each

10 mL ampoule of 30% saline contains 50 mmol of sodium chloride; thus, the average sodium load during the first 24 hours was approximately 780 mmol. The mean peak serum sodium concentration for patients in the treatment group was $153 \pm 0.8 \text{ mmol/L}$.

Mean arterial pressure did not differ between the two groups, because of the management protocol. Vasopressor use was compared over time within each group and between groups. Norepinephrine dose increased significantly compared with baseline over the first 24 hours in the control group (P < .001; 13 patients). This increase continued to be observed at 36 hours (P < .001; 11 patients) but was no longer apparent at 48 hours (9 patients). In the treatment group, there was a nonsignificant increase in norepinephrine dose from baseline over the first 24 hours. The difference between groups was not significant (Fig. 3).

ICP data from the study were analysed within each group, over time, and between groups. Over the first 24 hours, there was a significant reduction in ICP relative to admission values in the treatment group (P = .003; 13 patients). ICP remained significantly decreased at 48 hours (P = .001; 11 patients). In the control group, ICP increased over these time periods, but not significantly (13 patients at 24 hours; 8 patients at 48 hours) (Fig. 4). The difference in ICP between groups became significant at 42 hours (P = .04).

The primary outcome, incidence of IH, also was compared between groups. Seven patients in the control group had ICP \ge 25 mm Hg, compared with 3 patients in the treatment group (*P* = not significant; Fisher's exact test). Using survival analysis to account for case censoring (due to death, transplantation, or recovery) (Fig. 5), the cumulative risk of having ICP \ge 25 mm Hg during the 72-hour trial was found to be significantly greater in the control group (*P* = .04). No difference in terms of cerebral perfusion pressure or jugular venous saturation data was found between the two groups.

Seven patients in the control group reached the primary endpoint of the trial, an ICP of 25 mm Hg. Eight patients did not reach the primary endpoint; 5 of these 8 were censored (2 due to early death and 3 due to transplantation). Overall, there were 7 transplantations and 6 early deaths in the control group at 72 hours. Three of the 6 deaths resulted from IH, and the remaining 3 resulted from unsupportable hypotension.

Three patients in the treatment group reached the primary endpoint of the trial, and 12 patients did not. Of the 12 patients who did not reach the primary endpoint, 7 were censored (3 due to early death, 1 due to transplantation, and 3 due to early removal of ICP bolts because of improved medical condition). ICP bolts were removed at the discretion of the attending medical team; one patient's ICP monitor was removed at 66 hours, another patient's monitor was removed at 48 hours, and the third patient's monitor was removed at 60 hours. Overall, there were 5 transplantations and 5 early deaths at 72 hours. Two of the five deaths resulted from IH, and the remaining three resulted from unsupportable hypotension.

After termination of the trial, seven patients in the control group and eight patients in the treatment group died while in intensive care. Late deaths were due to sepsis.

Discussion

Slightly more than half of all patients in the current study had hyponatremia on admission to the intensive care unit. In our experience, hyponatremia is common in ALF, especially in cases of acetaminophen hepatotoxicity. In a consecutive group of 240 patients with acetaminophen toxicity who presented to the liver unit at our institution, 62% had admission serum sodium levels of 135 mmol/L or less, and 32% had serum sodium levels of 130 mmol/L or less (Bernel W, unpublished data, 1998). Hyponatremia previously has been reported to be a predictor of poor outcome for patients with ALF.(12,13) We found a weak correlation between serum sodium concentration at admission and initial ICP, and it may be the case that hyponatremia exerts its negative impact by exacerbating cerebral oedema in patients whose brains are at risk. It is noteworthy that chronic hyponatremia recently was shown to have a negative impact on cerebral oedema in an animal model of liver failure.(3)

After entry into the trial, a significant increase in serum sodium levels was observed in the treatment group. The goal of the current study was to investigate the effects of moderate hypernatremia on cerebral oedema and IH. Serum sodium concentration, rather than serum osmolality, was chosen as the treatment target because of the anticipated use of hemofiltration. The high ultrafiltration rate (median, 4 L per hour) demanded a rapid feedback mechanism for the control of serum sodium concentration and osmolality. Serum sodium concentration, measured by near-patient blood gas analysis, was determined to be the most appropriate target. The total volume of hypertonic saline infused varied among patients in the treatment group, but the total quantity in mmol of sodium administered was not used as an indicator of osmolar load, because of the daily plasma water (and sodium chloride) exchange of as much as 96 L during hemofiltration. Under these conditions, the total dose is heavily dependent upon the ultrafiltration rate. In the setting of ALF with high-grade encephalopathy, renal failure is quite common, and the majority of patients in the current study were managed with renal replacement therapy. In fact, the results of this study may only apply to patients with ALF and renal failure.

The sodium loads associated with the treatment group were very high. A 24hour infusion of 30% saline at 10 mL per hour results in a sodium load of 1200 mmol. Without hemofiltration to buffer the sodium load, rapid changes in serum sodium concentration can occur; thus, 30% saline infusions should be used with caution, especially in patients with abnormal renal function.

In the treatment group, we found that induction of moderate hypernatremia reduced ICP from its baseline level. ICP decreased significantly during the first 6 hours of the study. In contrast, there was a nonsignificant increase in ICP in the control group. We defined IH as a sustained increase in ICP to 25 mm Hg or greater for 10 minutes or more; this criterion was the treatment trigger in use at our institution at the time of the study and was based on previously published work.(9–11) When comparing the two groups directly, the difference in number of patients reaching the primary endpoint (7 in the control group vs. 3 in the treatment group) was not significant. This lack of significance may stem from the relatively small sample size. After controlling for withdrawal from the study, however, the difference in incidence of IH was significant.

There are several possible mechanisms by which hypertonic saline and the induction of hypernatremia may prevent IH in patients with ALF. One such mechanism is the osmotic effect. The blood-brain barrier prevents the bulk flow of water and solute from the circulation into the brain and occurs as a result of tight junctions between endothelial cells in brain capillaries. Water crosses the barrier by diffusion, in contrast to filtration across ordinary fenestrated capillary endothelium, in which the flow may be 50 times greater than the flow across the blood-brain barrier. Water flow in either direction across the blood-brain barrier is influenced by both hydrostatic and osmotic gradients. Most commonly, it is changes in osmotically active particles on either side of the blood-brain barrier that influence water flow.(14)

The permeability of the blood-brain barrier to sodium is low. Studies suggest that the majority of sodium transport from the blood into the brain matter occurs across endothelial cells via channels or carriers.(15) In fact, sodium is actively pumped out of all cells via the action of the ubiquitous sodium/potassium adenosine triphosphatase.(16) This pumping results in a high reflection coefficient, which represents the selectivity of the blood-brain barrier to a particular substance. Sodium has a higher reflection coefficient than does mannitol.(17) Consequently, hypertonic saline acts as a dehydrating agent; it has been demonstrated that hypertonic saline promptly reduces brain water content in experimental models of brain injury and successfully reduces ICP and tentorial herniation in both patients and animals with resistant IH.(17,18) To our knowledge, the current study is the first to use hypertonic saline in the management of IH and in the prevention of cerebral oedema for patients with ALF.

Hypertonic saline and induced hypernatremia also may prevent IH by affecting cerebral blood flow in patients with ALF. Hypertonic saline solutions can improve regional cerebral blood flow in patients with traumatic brain injury.(18) The probable mode of action involves reduction of endothelial swelling by dehydration and increased deformation of erythrocytes, which improves flow at a microvascular level.(19) Endothelial swelling has been shown to occur in cerebral blood vessels in patients with ALF, as well as in animal models of this disease.(20,21) Generally, a reduction in cerebral blood flow coupled with a reduction in cerebral metabolic rate early in the course of high-grade hepatic encephalopathy in ALF is followed by gradual cerebral vasodilation and an increase in cerebral blood volume in severe cases.(4,22) Variation in regional cerebral blood flow, however, has been reported in patients with ALF; this finding suggests that some areas of the brain may be more prone to ischemia.(23) Increased cerebral lactate efflux shortly after episodes of IH in patients with severe ALF also has been reported.(24) Whether hypertonic saline has any effect on cerebral blood flow and metabolism in patients with ALF currently is unknown and requires further investigation.

Other effects of hypertonic saline also may be important in controlling IH. Hypertonic saline solutions can restore normal resting potential in membranes and thereby potentially stabilize cerebral endothelial cell membranes, helping to inhibit the occurrence of vasogenic cerebral oedema.(25) The stability of resting membrane potential is important in the inhibition of seizure activity, which is not well characterized in patients with ALF.(26) Hypertonic saline has been used successfully in the management of patients with status epilepticus induced by hyponatremia.(27)

The systemic inflammatory response syndrome has been implicated in the development of both hepatic encephalopathy and IH in ALF.(28) A correlation between serial cytokine levels and the severity of hepatic encephalopathy in patients with ALF also has been found.(29) Recent investigation in animals has demonstrated that the addition of lipopolysaccharide to a toxic liver trauma exacerbates liver injury and IH.(30) These findings suggest that some product of systemic inflammation either precipitates or (more probably) intensifies brain swelling in patients with ALF.

Hypertonic saline has profound effects on immune function.(31) Hypertonicity inhibits neutrophil activation by preventing adhesion and degranulation and has been shown to reduce neutrophil accumulation in the lungs in a haemorrhagic shock model.(32) Hypertonic saline also inhibits the production of proinflammatory cytokines (such as tumour necrosis factor) while enhancing the expression of anti-inflammatory cytokines (such as interleukin 10).(33) This effect on systemic inflammation may help reduce the severity of IH. Published findings on this topic are conflicting, however, and it may be that systemic inflammatory response syndrome and cerebral oedema are coincident phenomena.(34)

The improvement in systemic haemodynamics was an unexpected finding and is difficult to interpret given our study design. Mean arterial pressure was managed above protocol limits with intravenous fluid and vasopressor and thus did not differ between groups. The norepinephrine dose required to maintain acceptable arterial pressure increased significantly in the control group over the first 6 hours and remained elevated for the following 24 hours. Hypertonic saline is known to have significant effects on the cardiovascular system. These effects include an increase in blood pressure mediated by the activation of the sympathetic nervous system, an increase in vasopressin release, and an increase in extracellular fluid volume. Peripheral infusion of hypertonic saline increases blood pressure and reduces heart rate via a baroreceptor-mediated reflex. In a rat model, some of the effects of hypertonic saline appear to operate centrally.(35) The use of hypertonic saline may induce a degree of hemodynamic stability in patients with ALF, although this possibility requires further investigation.

The induction of hypernatremia has been investigated in the setting of head injury. Hypernatremia induced with 3% saline in patients with resistant IH results in a significant reduction in ICP and an increase in cerebral perfusion pressure.(36) Simma et al.(37) performed a randomized controlled clinical trial investigating fluid therapy in paediatric head trauma. They compared hypertonic saline with lactated Ringer's maintenance fluid and concluded that hypertonic saline was superior in the management of severe head injury. These investigators also found that increased serum sodium concentration was significantly correlated with decreased ICP and increased cerebral perfusion pressure. In addition, they observed that fewer interventions, fewer complications, and a shorter time in intensive care were associated with hypertonic saline use.(37)

From the results of the current study, we conclude that inducing moderate hypernatremia with 30% hypertonic saline can decrease ICP relative to

baseline and reduce the incidence of clinically significant IH in patients with ALF. Larger trials are required to determine whether this simple intervention reduces the incidence of cerebral death or improves intensive care or hospital survival results.

References

1. O'Grady JG, Schalm SW, Williams R. Acute liver failure: redefining the syndromes. Lancet 1993;342:273–275.

2. O'Grady JG, Alexander GJ, Hayllar KM, Williams R. Early indicators of prognosis in fulminant hepatic failure. Gastroenterology 1989;97:439–445.

3. Cordoba J, Gottstein J, Blei AT. Chronic hyponatremia exacerbates ammonia- induced brain edema in rats after portacaval anastomosis. J Hepatol 1998;29:589 –594.

4. Blei AT, Larsen FS. Pathophysiology of cerebral edema in fulminant hepatic failure. J Hepatol 1999;31:771–776.

 5. Clemmesen JO, Larsen FS, Kondrup J, Hansen BA, Ott P. Cerebral herniation in patients with acute liver failure is correlated with arterial ammonia concentrations. HEPATOLOGY 1999;29:648–653. HEPATOLOGY, Vol. 39, No. 2, 2004 MURPHY ET AL. 469

 Blei AT, Olafsson S, Therrien G, Butterworth RF. Ammonia-induced brain edema and intracranial hypertension in rats after portacaval anastomosis.
 HEPATOLOGY 1994;19:1437–1444.

7. Brusilow SW. Hepatic encephalopathy. N Engl J Med 1986;314:786.

8. Canalese J, Gimson AE, Davis C, Melton PJ, Davis M, Williams R. Controlled trial of dexamethasone and mannitol for the cerebral oedema of fulminant hepatic failure. Gut 1982;23:625–629. 9. Lidofsky SD, Bass NM, Prager MC, Washington DE, Read AE, Wright TL, Ascher NL, et al. Intracranial pressure monitoring and liver transplantation for fulminant hepatic failure. HEPATOLOGY 1992;16:1–7.

10. Keays RT, Alexander GL, Williams R. The safety and value of extradural intracranial pressure monitors in fulminant hepatic failure. J Hepatol 1993;18:205–209.

11. Blei AT. Brain edema and intracranial hypertension in acute liver failure.
In: Lee WM, Williams R, eds. Acute Liver Failure. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge
University Press, 1997:144 –157.

12. Tandon BN, Joshi YK, Tandon M. Acute liver failure. Experience with 145 patients. J Clin Gastroenterol 1986;8:664–668.

Srivastava KL, Mittal A, Kumar A, Gupta S, Natu SM, Kumar R, Govil YC.
 Predictors of outcome in fulminant hepatic failure in children. Indian J
 Gastroenterol 1998;17:43–45.

14. Paulson OB. Blood-brain barrier, brain metabolism and cerebral blood flow. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 2002;12:495–501.

15. Smith QP, Rapoport SI. Cerebrovascular permeability coefficients to sodium, potassium and chloride. J Neurochem 1986;46:1732–1742.

16. Therien AG, Blostein R. Mechanisms of sodium pump regulation. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2000;279:C541–C566.

17. Qureshi AI, Suarez JI. Use of hypertonic saline solutions in the treatment of cerebral edema and intracranial hypertension. Crit Care Med 2000;28: 3301–3313.

 Qureshi AI, Wilson DA, Traystman RJ. Treatment of transtentorial herniation unresponsive to hyperventilation using hypertonic saline in dogs: effect on cerebral blood flow and metabolism. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol 2002;14:22–30.

19. Shackford SR, Schmoker JD, Zhuang J. The effect of hypertonic resuscitation on pial arteriolar tone after brain injury and shock. J Trauma 1994; 37:899 –908.

20. Kato M, Hughes RD, Keays RT, Williams R. Electron microscopic study of brain capillaries in cerebral edema from fulminant hepatic failure.HEPATOLOGY 1992;15:1060 –1066.

21. Gove CD, Hughes RD, Ede RJ, Williams R. Regional cerebral edema and chloride space in galactosamine-induced liver failure in rats. HEPATOLOGY 1997;25:295–301.

22. Larsen FS, Hansen BA, Pott F, Ejlersen E, Secher NH, Paulson OB, Knudsen GM. Dissociated cerebral vasoparalysis in acute liver failure: a hypothesis of gradual cerebral hyperaemia. J Hepatol 1996;25:145–151.

23. Strauss GI, Hogh P, Moller K, Knudsen GM, Hansen BA, Larsen FS. Regional cerebral blood flow during mechanical hyperventilation in patients with fulminant hepatic failure. HEPATOLOGY 1999;30:1368 –1373.

24. Wendon JA, Harrison PM, Keays R, Williams R. Cerebral blood flow and metabolism in fulminant liver failure. HEPATOLOGY 1994;19:1407–1413.

25. Nakayama S, Kramer GC, Carlsen RC, Holcroft JW. Infusion of very hypertonic saline to bled rats: membrane potentials and fluid shifts. J Surg Res 1985;38:180 –186.

26. Ellis AJ, Wendon JA, Williams R. Subclinical seizure activity and prophylactic phenytoin infusion in acute liver failure: a controlled clinical trial. HEPATOLOGY 2000;32:536 –541.

27. Worthley LI, Thomas PD. Treatment of hyponatraemic seizures with intravenous 29.2% saline. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1986;292:168 –170.

28. Rolando N, Wade FS, Davalos M, Wendon J, Phillpott-Howard J, Williams
R. The systemic inflammatory response syndrome in acute liver failure.
HEPATOLOGY 2000;32:734 –739.

29. Rolando N, Ellis AJ, de Groote D, Wendon J, Williams R. Correlation of serial cytokine levels with the progression to coma (Grade IV) in patients with acute liver failure. HEPATOLOGY 1995;22(Suppl):366A.

30. Takada Y, Ishiguro S, Fukunaga K, Gu M, Taniguchi H, Seino KI, Yuzawa K, et al. Increased intracranial pressure in a porcine model of fulminant hepatic failure using amatoxin and endotoxin. J Hepatol 2001;34:825–831.

 Rizoli SB, Kapus A, Fan J, Li Y, Marshall JC, Rotstein OD.
 Immunomodulatory effects of hypertonic resuscitation on the development of lung inflammation following hemorrhagic shock. J Immunol 1998;161:6288– 6296. 32. Rizoli SB, Rotstein OD, Sibbald WJ. The immunological effects of hypertonic saline. In: Vincent JL, ed. Yearbook of Intensive Care and Emergency Medicine. Berlin: Springer, 2002:446–453.

33. Oreopoulos GD, Bradwell S, Lu Z, Fan J, Khadaroo R, Marshall JC, Li YH, et al. Synergistic induction of IL-10 by hypertonic saline solution and lipopolysaccharides in murine peritoneal macrophages. Surgery 2001;130: 157–165.

34. Moller K, Strauss G, Qvist J, Fonsmark L, Knudsen GM, Larsen FS, Krabbe KS, et al. Cerebral blood flow and oxidative metabolism during human endotoxemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2002;22:1262–1270.

35. Bealer S. Central control of cardiac baroreflex responses during peripheral hyperosmolarity. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2000;278: R1157–R1163.

36. Khanna S, Davis D, Peterson B, Fisher B, Tung H, O'Quigley J, Deutsch R. Use of hypertonic saline in the treatment of severe refractory posttraumatic intracranial hypertension in pediatric patients. Crit Care Med 2000; 28:1144 – 1151.

37. Simma B, Burger R, Falk M, Sacher P, Fanconi S. A prospective, randomized, and controlled study of fluid management in children with severe head injury: lactated Ringer's solution versus hypertonic saline. Crit Care Med 1998;26:1265–1270.

	Control	Hypertonic saline	Signifi-
			cance
Age	36	36	
Gender			
Male	6	9	
Female	9	6	
INR	4.7 ± 0.6	7.9 ± 1.4	NS
JV sats (%)	68.4 ± 7.3	71.7 ± 3.0	NS
Sodium (mmol/l)	135.3 ± 1.1	131.7 ± 1.4	NS
ICP on insertion (mmHg)	16.9 ± 3.5	17.2 ± 2.3	NS
Lactate (mmol/l)	5.51 ± 0.9	4.67 ± 1.1	NS
Base deficit (mmol/l)	$\textbf{-6.55} \pm \textbf{2.3}$	$\textbf{-5.26} \pm \textbf{1.7}$	NS
Bilirubin (µmol/l)	147 ± 62	110 ± 24	NS
Alk Phos	99 ± 10	116 ± 16	NS
AST	6828 ± 1273	6798 ± 1263	NS
γ–GT	76 ± 13	123 ± 23	NS
Creatinine (µmol/l)	256 ± 37	250 ± 34	NS

Table 1. Admission clinical data in the prospective cohort. Mean and standard error. (JV sats = jugular venous saturation, AST = Aspartate aminotransferase, Alk Phos = Alkaline phosphatase, γ -GT = glutamyl-

transferase)



Fig. 1. Relation between serum sodium concentration at admission and initial

ICP measurement ($r^2 = 0.06$; P = .02).



Fig. 2. Serum sodium concentration (mean values with standard errors) in the control (♦) and treatment (■) groups. Asterisks indicate that P < .01 (Mann– Whitney U test).



Fig. 3. Norepinephrine dose (mean values with standard errors) in the control
(♦) and treatment (■) groups. Double asterisks indicate that P < .001 (Quade ANOVA).



Fig. 4. ICP (mean values with standard errors) in the control (\blacklozenge) and treatment (\blacksquare) groups. Single asterisk indicates that P = .04 (Mann– Whitney U test) for between-groups analysis. Double asterisks indicate that P = .001 (Quade ANOVA) for within-group analysis.



Fig. 5. Kaplan–Meier analysis. Cumulative incidence of ICP \ge 25 mm Hg (P = .04; Breslow test) in the treatment (T) and control (C) groups. Circles and squares represent case censoring in the treatment and control groups, respectively.

A multicentre randomized controlled trial of moderate hypothermia to prevent intracranial hypertension in acute liver failure.

W Bernal

N Murphy

A Whitehouse

PN Bjerring

J Hauerberg

G Auzinger

J Wendon

FS Larsen

Abstract

Background

Animal models and human case series of acute liver failure (ALF) suggest that moderate hypothermia (MH) may have protective effects against cerebral oedema (CO) development and intra-cranial hypertension (ICH) severity. However, the optimum temperature for patient management is unknown; we performed a multicenter randomised controlled trial to investigate this issue.

Patients and Methods

Patients with ALF, high-grade encephalopathy and intracranial pressure (ICP) monitoring in specialist intensive care units were randomized by sealed envelope to two targeted temperature management (TTM) groups of 34^oC (MH) or 36^oC (control) for a period of 72 hours. Investigators were not blinded to group assignment. The primary outcome was a sustained elevation in ICP >25mmHg, with secondary outcomes the occurrence of predefined serious adverse effects, magnitude of ICP elevations and cerebral and all-cause hospital mortality (with or without transplantation).

Results

A total of 46 patients were randomized, of whom 43 were studied. There was no significant difference between the TTM groups in the primary outcome during the study period (35% vs. 27%, p=0.41 for the MH (n=17) or control (n=26) groups respectively) The groups had similar incidence of adverse events and no differences in overall mortality (41% vs.46%, p=0.75). In those transplanted, mortality was increased in the control group (0% vs. 36%, p=0.07).

Conclusions

In patients with ALF at high risk of ICH, moderate hypothermia at 34^oC did not confer a benefit above management at 36^oC in prevention of ICH or in overall survival. A trend toward improved outcome was seen in those undergoing transplantation. (ISRCTN registration number 74268282; no funding)

Introduction

Acute liver failure (ALF) is a rare critical illness that continues to have a high mortality, despite advances in supportive intensive care management and the utilization of emergency liver transplantation (ELT). It is characterized by an acute liver injury resulting from a wide variety of hepatic insults, in the absence of pre-existing liver disease, complicated by the development of hepatic encephalopathy (HE) and often by the simultaneous development of multiple organ systems failure ¹.

In some patients, HE may progress with the development of cerebral oedema (CO) and elevated intracranial pressure (ICP), a feared complication and important cause of death. Approaches to the intensive care management of patients with ALF therefore include a package of neuroprotective measures designed to prevent its development or ameliorate its severity ^{1,2}. Targeted temperature management (TTM) and the induction of moderate hypothermia (MH) may be employed as part of this ³. Animal models suggest it to have cerebral and systemic effects of particular benefit in this setting, preventing the development of CO and controlling refractory elevation of ICP when it has evolved ^{4 5 6 3}. The decrease in cerebral metabolic activity seen with induced hypothermia may lower the pathological metabolism of ammonia, the likely principal neurotoxin in the development of CO, and attenuate local and systemic inflammation, thought to have an important permissive effect ^{5,6 3}. Human case series suggest that MH may be effective in controlling otherwise refractory elevations in ICP, beneficially modulate local and systemic inflammatory status and associated with increased hemodynamic stability and improved cerebral perfusion 7 8 9.

However there are no human trial data to suggest an optimum temperature for patient management, or whether MH is effective in the preventing development of elevated ICP. Concerns also exist in relation to the induction by MH of potentially clinically significant adverse effects ^{3,10}. Studies in neurotrauma suggest that ICP may be lowered by application of MH but there is little evidence of improved outcome and an increase in adverse events; recent data on the use of TTM in patients who have suffered out of hospital cardiac arrest also showed no mortality benefit associated with hypothermia ¹¹ ¹² ¹³ ¹⁴. In the setting of ALF adverse events might include worsening of already significant coagulopathy, impaired hepatic regeneration, and of increased susceptibility to infection - important as a contraindication to ELT and a key cause of death ¹⁵ ^{10,16}.

A clear need therefore exists to determine the efficacy or otherwise of MH in ALF patients at high risk of developing ICH, examining its impact on development and severity of ICH and safety profile. Acute liver failure is a uniquely difficult condition in which to perform randomized controlled trials (RCT) relating to its rarity, severity, heterogeneity and the rapidity of illness progression which make participant recruitment and study challenging. The use of ELT further complicates interpretation as the duration of any intervention may be truncated and treatment effects difficult to ascertain. Consequently, few RCT of any sort have been performed in patients with ALF, and when undertaken may take many years to enrol ^{17,18}.

Nonetheless, we performed a pragmatic multicentre RCT of MH in ALF, aiming to study patients at high risk of CO and investigate whether the onset of clinically significant elevations of ICP might be prevented or delayed by its use.

Methods

Patients, Trial Setting and Design

The trial was a RCT recruiting patients with ALF in 3 specialist intensive care units (ICU) in the United Kingdom and Denmark and was approved by the ethics committees of each country and institution. The trial was registered with ISRCTN (ISRCTN74268282).

ALF was defined as: (1) an INR of ≥ 1.5 ; (2) absence of a previous history and clinical / radiologic findings of liver disease; and (3) illness ≤ 26 weeks duration and (4) overt encephalopathy of HE grade ≥ 3 . We screened consecutive patients of 18 years or older with ALF who had developed HE of grade ≥ 3 who had been intubated, sedated and mechanically ventilated and who were considered at high risk of ICH such that the treating clinician had inserted a Camino intracranial pressure monitor. Informed assent was then obtained from the next-of-kin of all participants and consent confirmed in those patients who recovered; inclusion in the trial was within 12 hours of insertion of the ICP monitor. Exclusion criteria included pregnancy, evidence of brain stem death, ongoing or suspected haemorrhage, suspected or microbiologically confirmed severe sepsis such that hypothermia induction was considered inappropriate and no or withdrawn consent.

Supportive Care

Standard medical care applied has been detailed elsewhere ¹. In brief, guided restoration of circulating volume was commenced immediately on admission and supported through use of invasive hemodynamic monitoring. Norepinephrine was the primary vasopressor used and dobutamine the primary inotropic agent with adjunctive use of intravenous low dose hydrocortisone and vasopressin. Renal replacement therapy (RRT) was undertaken using continuous veno-venous hemofiltration (CVVHF). Indications for its use included not only those standard for patients with acute kidney injury but also anuria, relative oliguria, metabolic stabilization, control of acidosis and hyper-ammonaemia. Hypertonic saline was infused to maintain serum sodium at 140-150 mMol/l. Sedation utilized fentanyl and propofol infusions and neuromuscular blockade was not routinely undertaken. Mean arterial pressure was maintained at > 65 mmHg, cerebral perfusion pressure was managed at the discretion of the clinician dependent upon the presence or absence of autoregulation. Arterial pC02 was maintained at 4-4.5 kPa.

Treatment for ICH crises as defined by sustained elevation of ICP > 25 mmHg or episodes of fixed/ sluggish pupils (> 6mm), was sequential use of sedation bolus whilst marinating adequate perfusion pressure then with bolus intravenous mannitol 20% (0.5g/kg) or hypertonic saline (30% 20 mls); with use of thiopentone and /or intravenous indomethacin in refractory cases. Intravenous N-acetyl Cysteine (NAC) was administered to all patients with an infusion of 150 mg/kg/24 hrs for a maximum of 5 days or until the INR was <2. Intravenous broad-spectrum antibiotics were administered to all patients in the trial. In those patients transplanted, immunosuppression was with Tacrolimus and corticosteroids.

Randomization and Trial Intervention

After confirmation of eligibility and assent, patients were randomly assigned to TTM groups with a target core body temperature of either 34 °C (MH) or 36°C (Controls). Randomization was performed nationally, by sealed envelope and in blocks of varying size by country. The intervention period of 72 hours commenced at the time of randomization; the treating clinicians were not blinded to the intervention.

Sedation and ventilation was mandated in all patients until the end of the intervention period but sedation targets and the drugs used to achieve targets were left to the discretion of the local clinicians. The goal was to achieve the assigned temperature as rapidly as possible with the use of surface temperature management devices (warming and cooling) and where present, control of blood temperature through continuous renal replacement therapy (RRT) extracorporeal circuits.

After the trial period, rewarming to 36-37°C was commenced in both groups at the discretion of the treating physician and subsequent management was in accordance with standard medical practice including avoidance of fever (>37°C). In those patients who underwent ELT rewarming was permitted prior

to surgery if there was concern with bleeding risk, and following return to ICU the patient was managed with a temperature of 36–37 °C.

Outcomes

The primary outcome was a sustained elevation in ICP >25mmHg for 5 minutes. Secondary outcomes included the occurrence of predefined serious adverse effects of thrombocytopenia, spontaneous haemorrhage, cardiac dysrhythmias, confirmed sepsis or acute pancreatitis. Other secondary outcomes considered included the absolute magnitude of ICP elevations and cerebral and all cause mortality. Follow-up was to hospital discharge.

Sample Size and Statistical Analysis

Case series from the participating centres at the trial inception suggested ICH to occur in 40% of patients with ALF and severe encephalopathy. The uncontrolled studies reporting the effect of MH suggested ICH to occur in in \leq 10% of hypothermic patients. A sample size of 50 was thus planned to detect a difference in proportions of 40% in the control group and 15% in the 34°C at a 5% significance level with 80% power ¹⁹. In view of the potential for a powerful treatment effect, interim analysis was performed after enrolment of 20 patients, and then after the addition of each further 20.

The principal trial analyses were performed in a modified intention to treat population which included all randomly assigned patients, but subsequently excluded 3 patients all allocated as controls who were emergently treated with therapeutic plasma exchange during the study period, at that time an experimental rescue therapy to control profound cardiovascular and metabolic disarray ¹⁷.

Comparison between groups for continuous variables was with the Mann-Whitney U test and for categorical variables the Chi-square and Fishers Exact tests. Kaplan –Meier survival curves were compared between the intervention groups with the use of the log-rank test. Analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics version 22.0.0.

Results

A total of 46 patients were enrolled between January 2005 and March 2010. The modified intention to-treat population of 43 patients consisted of 17 patients assigned to the MH group and 26 as Controls. The two groups had similar characteristics at randomization (table 1). Overall, hospital mortality was 19/43 (44%) and 4/19 (21%) of deaths resulted from ICH. Eighteen (42%) patients underwent ELT a median of 2 (1-2) days after randomization of whom 4/18 (22%) died; hospital mortality in the non-transplanted patients was 15/25 (60%) (p<0.05). Flow of patients through the trial is shown in figure 1.

Temperature Intervention.

At randomization the median body temperature was 35.4°C (35.0-35.9) in the MH and 35.9°C (35.0-36.6) control groups respectively (p=0.2). At 6 hours after starting TTM, the temperatures were 33.2°C (32.4-34.1) and 35.9°C

(35.5-36.4) (p<0.001), and at 24 hours 33.0 (32.5-34) vs. 36.1 (35.5-37) (p<0.001); temperature curves are depicted in figure 2. Temperatures were within 0.5 °C of target at 6 hours in 8/14 (57%) in the 34°C group and 15/25 (60%) 36°C group. Median duration of TTM was 66 hours (23-72); 21/43 (49%) patients did not complete the 72 hour intervention period; 8/17 (47%) and 13/26 (50%) in the MH and control groups respectively (p=0.65). In 14 cases this was as a result of undergoing transplantation (TTM period 30 hrs (14-42)), in 5 as due to development of adverse events (24 hrs (18-54)), and in 2 (45 hrs) after patient death.

Outcomes

Intracranial Pressure

Overall, 19 of 43 (44%) of patients developed sustained elevated ICP at a median of 20 (12-93) hours after randomization with a peak ICP of 33 (28-47) mmHg. Intracranial pressure through the TTM intervention period is shown in figure 3; there were no significant differences in mean ICP or cerebral perfusion pressure when the two intervention groups were compared (figures 3,4). At randomisation 11/17 (65%) of the MH group and 17/28 (61%) of the controls (p=0.96) were requiring vasopressors and at 24 hrs 4/17 (24%) and 12/26 (46%) respectively (p=0.13).

During the 72 hour TTM intervention period only, elevated ICP occurred in 6/17 (35%) and 7/26 (27%) in the MH and control groups respectively (p=0.41, table 2). Overall during hospitalisation, elevated ICP occurred in 10/17 (59%) and 9/26 (35%) in the MH and controls respectively (p=0.12,

table 2) Survival plots are shown in figure 5, p=0.094 for comparison of TTM Groups, log-Rank test. In those developing ICH, peak pressures did not differ significantly when the two groups were compared MH 33 (26-42) vs. controls 37 (32-50) mmHg, p=0.56.

Survival

Overall, mortality was 7/17 (41%) in the MH group and 12/26 (46%) in the controls (p=0.75). In the MH group 7/10 (70%) of those not transplanted died at a median of 4 (3-8) days after randomization. In two cases a tentorial herniation was responsible, and in the remainder hypotensive multiple organ failure (MOF). There were no deaths in the 7 cases transplanted. In the control group 8/15 (53%) non-transplanted patients died with MOF at 9 (4-21) days. Four of 11 (36%) transplanted died on the second post-transplantation day, two with tentorial herniation (p=0.07) and the remainder with MOF.

Adverse Events

A total of 23 adverse events were seen in 17 patients; 6 of 17 (35%) in the MH and 11 of 26 (42%) in the control groups respectively (p=0.83, table 3). Discontinuation of TTM was performed after adverse events in 5 cases, 3 (18%) in the MH group and 2 (7%) controls. Brady-dysthymias occurred in 2 patients in the MH group whose nadir temperatures reached 32.3°C and 33.2°C; one control patient developed an acute myocardial infarction. One patient in the MH group developed a right middle cerebral artery hemispheric infarction, unrelated to ICP monitor insertion. One control patient developed a

temporal lobe intra-parenchymal hemorrhage 9 days after undergoing transplantation. There were no other complications related to ICP monitoring and no differences between groups in the incidence of confirmed sepsis.

Discussion

In this randomized controlled trial of TTM in patients with ALF at high risk of cerebral oedema and ICH, we found that management of patients with a target body temperature at 34°C as compared to 36°C was not associated with a lower incidence of clinically significant elevations in ICP. Rather, there was evidence of a tendency toward an increase. These findings were unexpected and contrary to those suggested by numerous animal models of ALF, where MH appears extremely effective in prevention of ICH and in the reduction of its severity when it develops ³. Lack of concordance between the results of animal and clinical studies of TTM suggests that the clinical complexity of development of ICH may not be fully reproduced in current animal models ^{11 14}. By example, our patients received therapies not commonly applied in animal models which have the potential to modulate risk of CO and ICH including intravenous NAC, antibiotic and renal replacement therapy ^{20 22}.

Conducting interventional studies in ALF is uniquely difficult, and in the assessment of our findings potential sources of bias and confounding factors must be considered. Our intervention groups were unequal in size, reflecting differences in the size of randomization blocks in the UK and Denmark, but were very well matched in respect of baseline characteristics and in particular those associated with increased risk of ICH. The differences in cohort size were identified late in the study at a planned analysis, at which time the tendency to an increased incidence of ICH in the MH group were also identified. The consensus view of investigators at that time was that with altered patient characteristics and a lower prevalence of ICH and use of ICP monitors, continuing the trial appeared impractical and recruitment was closed ²³. Though this decision likely reduced the power of the study, indications were not of any benefit from MH, but rather an increased risk of ICH.

It is possible that we might have failed to demonstrate a benefit of MH as the temperature induced was insufficient to have cerebral therapeutic effect. However, animal studies have suggested effective reduction of CO at temperatures of 34-36°C ²⁴ ²⁵. In clinical studies demonstrating effective short-term control by MH of refractory ICH, median temperatures induced were generally colder at 32-33°C than those we targeted ⁷. However, we found cooling was easy to achieve, and in practice it proved more difficult to maintain a temperature of 34 than 36°C; temperatures in the former group were often closer to 33 than 34°C.

In our study, adverse effects were equally common in both treatment groups, though dysrhythmias were only seen in patients whose temperature fell below the lower target range. In ALF and in common with other studies of TTM in critical illness, adverse event rates appear to relate closely to the minimum temperature induced ^{10,26}. The recent retrospective review of the clinical outcomes of patients from the USALF cohort compared those managed with MH at a median temperature of 34.1°C with those with standard management

at 36.6°C²⁷. Use of MH was associated with increased rates of arrhythmias and in those cooled to below 33°C indications of increased risk of sepsis ²⁷.

Our clinical impression is thus that the use of these lower temperatures is not justified for ICH prevention, though they may continue to be utilized as short-term rescue therapy in patients with refractory ICH or potentially in other specific clinical settings. In this study those patients managed at 36°C mortality after transplant – including deaths from ICH - was higher than that in patients managed at 34°C, though this difference did not reach statistical significance. Whilst we cannot discount a beneficial effect of MH in the peri-transplantation setting, it is important to recognize that the numbers of patients involved in this sub-group was very small and our analysis did not consider graft factors of established importance in determining survival after transplantation ^{28,29}. However, it is possible that hypothermia prior to transplantation could have a beneficial effect during the intra- and post-operative period of very high risk for ICH. Further studies will be required to confirm these observations before this approach can be endorsed.

Conclusions

Taking currently available data together, some conclusions can be reached in relation to the place of TTM in the management of patients with ALF and high grade encephalopathy. In such patients, moderate hypothermia can be induced rapidly and without the use of specialist cooling devices. In common with its use in other clinical settings, adverse effects are seen, with risk of development relating to the degree of cooling. The routine use of
temperatures below 34°C probably carries greater risk to patients and does not appear to have any benefit beyond that seen at 36°C in general protection from the development of ICH or improved survival.

This study failed to demonstrate any of the expected benefits of an intervention that in animal models shows powerful and apparently consistent effects against the development of ICH in high-risk ALF patients. It is clearly important to understand what aspects of the human illness these models apparently fail to replicate. Further, this study did not address how best to treat those patients in whom ICH has developed and which has failed to respond to standard measures. The application of TH in this setting may well be of benefit but the rarity of these patient sub-groups makes establishing the most effective means of its application even more difficult to determine. There is still need for coordinated international study of the condition and further multi-centre randomized trials.

	TTM Group		
	34°C	36°C	р
Ν	17	25	
Age (years)	39 (28-51)	38 (29-51)	0.75
Gender (F)	9 (53%)	16 (64%)	0.56
Etiology (APAP)*	10 (59%)	20 (80%)	0.21
KCC fulfilled	16 (94%)	22 (88%)	0.34
ICP (mmHg)	16 (9-19)	15 (8-21)	0.99
Temperature	35.4°C (35.0-35.9)	35.9°C (35.1-36.6)	0.2
HR (b/min)	95 (76-100)	87 (76-104)	0.88
MAP (mmHg)	81 (71-89)	80 (72-90)	0.98
Vasopressors	11 (61%)	17 (68%)	0.96
Creatinine	163 (93-261)	232 (178-303)	0.08
(µMol/l)			
RRT	11 (61%)	18 (72%)	0.76

Table 1. Characteristics of Study Patients at Randomisation.

FiO2 (%)	0.30 (0.26-39)	0.34 (0.30-42)	0.63
PaO2/FiO2	365 (305-417)	330 (277-394)	0.30
INR	4.8 (3.8-7.7)	5.4 (4.6-7.9)	0.23
Bilirubin	140 (67-256)	102 (78-223)	0.80
AST (IU/I)	1275 (326-4345)	2921 (904-5523)	0.13
Lactate (mMol/I)	2.8 (1.9-4.2)	2.5 (1.8-4.2)	0.68
Sodium (mMol/l)	143 (138-146)	143 (136-147)	0.85
WBC (x10 ⁹ /l)	7.3 (4.5-9.7)	8.2 (5-14)	0.45
Platelets (x10 ⁹ /l)	78 (46-124)	70 (56-125)	0.27
Arterial			
рН	7.39 (7.28-7.46)	7.40 (7.33-7.41)	0.89
pC0 ₂ (kPa)	4.9 (4.3-5.5)	5.0 (7.7-5.6)	0.45
HCO ₃ (mMol/l)	22.4 (19.5-25.6)	23.1 (20.9-25.9)	0.56
pO ₂ (kPa)	14.7 (14.1-19.2)	13.9 (12.8-14.2)	0.13
Ammonia	159 (89-210)	171 (121-198)	0.53
(µMol/I)			

Note; *Non-APAP aetiologies; 34°C (n=7) Indeterminate n=5, Wilsons

Disease n=1, DILI n=1, 36°C (n=6) Indeterminate n=4, Viral n=2.

Abbreviations: KCC; Kings College Criteria for poor prognosis, WBC; white blood cell count, AST; Aspartate Transaminase, RRT; Renal Replacement Therapy, HR; heart rate, MAP; Mean Arterial Pressure, ICP; Intracranial Pressure.

	TTM Group		
			Р
	34°C	36°C	
Ν	17	26	
Treatment Duration (hours)	66 (42-72)	66 (24-72)	
Intracranial Pressure (ICP)			
ICP >25 mmHg: onset <72	6 (35%)	7 (27%)	0.41
hours			
ICP >25 mmHg: at any time	10 (59%)	9 (35%)	0.12
Peak ICP (mmHg)	33 (26-42)	37 (32-49)	0.43
Survival			
Transplanted	7 (41%)	11 (42%)	0.94
Of whom Died	0 (0%)	4 (36%)	0.07
Non-Transplanted	10 (59%)	15 (58%)	0.94
Of whom Died	7 (70%)	8 (53%)	0.41
Overall			
Died	7 (41%)	12 (46%)	0.75
Cause of Death			

Table 2. Primary and Secondary Outcomes.

Tentorial Herniation	2 (29%)	2 (17%)	0.98
Multiple Organ Failure	5 (71%)	10 (83%)	

Table 3. Adverse Events and reasons for failure to complete 72 hour TTM period.

	TTM Group		
	34°C	36°C	р
N	17	26	
Adverse Events			
Thrombocytopenia*	1 (6%)	5 (25%)	0.40
External Haemorrhage	0 (0%)	3 (12%)	0.38
Cerebrovascular Event	1 (6%)	1 (4%)	0.85
Sepsis	3 (18%)	5 (25%)	0.85
Cardiac	2 (12%)	1 (4%)	0.73
Pancreatitis	1 (6%)	1 (4%)	0.78
Any	6 (35%)	11 (42%)	0.83
Reason for Discontinuing			
ттм			
Transplanted	5 (29%)	9 (35%)	
Adverse events	2 (18%)	2 (8%)	
Died	0 (0%)	2 (8%)	
All	8 (47%)	13 (50%)	0.85

Note; *platelet count <30 x10⁹/l

Figure 1. Flow of Patients through the Trial.

Note: MH; moderate hypothermia, CVS/ICP; cardiovascular/Intracranial







Time (hours)

Note; figure shows mean (Error bar is +/- 1 standard deviation). p<0.001 for comparison of TTM groups at all time points except 0 hours.





Time (hours)

Note: figure shows mean (Error bar is +/- 1 standard deviation). P=nonsignificant for comparison of TTM groups at all time points.

Figure 4. Cerebral Perfusion Pressure (CPP) during study period in TTM groups.



Note: figure shows mean (Error bar is +/- 1 standard deviation). P<0.05 for comparison of TTM groups at 12 hours otherwise non-significant.

Figure 5. Kaplan-Meier Plot of freedom from intra-cranial hypertension by TTM Group



Note; Patients were censored at death. p=0.094 Log-Rank for comparison of TTM groups.

References

1. Bernal W, Wendon J. Acute liver failure. New England Journal of Medicine 2013;369:2525-34.

2. Stravitz RT, Kramer AH, Davern T, et al. Intensive care of patients with acute liver failure: recommendations of the U.S. Acute Liver Failure Study Group. Critical Care Medicine 2007;35:2498-508.

3. Vaquero J. Therapeutic hypothermia in the management of acute liver failure. Neurochemistry International 2012;60:723-35.

 Traber P, DalCanto M, Ganger D, Blei AT. Effect of body temperature on brain edema and encephalopathy in the rat after hepatic devascularization.
Gastroenterology 1989;96:885-91.

 Cordoba J, Crespin J, Gottstein J, Blei AT. Mild hypothermia modifies ammonia-induced brain edema in rats after portacaval anastomosis.
Gastroenterology 1999;116:686-93.

6. Rose C, Michalak A, Pannunzio M, Chatauret N, Rambaldi A, Butterworth RF. Mild hypothermia delays the onset of coma and prevents brain edema and extracellular brain glutamate accumulation in rats with acute liver failure. Hepatology 2000;31:872-7.

7. Jalan R, Olde Damink SW, Deutz NE, Hayes PC, Lee A. Moderate hypothermia in patients with acute liver failure and uncontrolled intracranial hypertension. Gastroenterology 2004;127:1338-46. Jalan R, Damink SW, Deutz NE, Lee A, Hayes PC. Moderate
hypothermia for uncontrolled intracranial hypertension in acute liver failure.
Lancet 1999;354:1164-8.

9. Jalan R, Olde Damink SW, Deutz NE, Hayes PC, Lee A. Restoration of cerebral blood flow autoregulation and reactivity to carbon dioxide in acute liver failure by moderate hypothermia. Hepatology 2001;34:50-4.

10. Stravitz RT, Larsen FS. Therapeutic hypothermia for acute liver failure. Critical Care Medicine 2009;37:S258-64.

 Crossley S, Reid J, McLatchie R, et al. A systematic review of therapeutic hypothermia for adult patients following traumatic brain injury.
Critical Care (London, England) 2014;18:R75.

12. Kim F, Nichol G, Maynard C, et al. Effect of prehospital induction of mild hypothermia on survival and neurological status among adults with cardiac arrest: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2014;311:45-52.

13. Perman SM, Goyal M, Neumar RW, Topjian AA, Gaieski DF. Clinical applications of targeted temperature management. Chest 2014;145:386-93.

14. Nielsen N, Wetterslev J, Cronberg T, et al. Targeted temperature management at 33degreeC versus 36degreeC after cardiac arrest. New England Journal of Medicine 2013;369:2197-206.

15. Polderman KH. Application of therapeutic hypothermia in the intensive care unit. Opportunities and pitfalls of a promising treatment modality--Part 2: Practical aspects and side effects.[see comment]. Intensive Care Medicine 2004;30:757-69.

 Kuchena A, Merkel MJ, Hutchens MP. Postcardiac arrest temperature management: infectious risks. Current Opinion in Critical Care 2014;20:507-15.

17. Larsen FS, Schmidt LE, Wendon J, et al. Liver Assisting With High-Volume Plasma Exchange In Patients With Acute Liver Failure. Hepatology 2010;52:376A-A.

18. Lee WM, Hynan LS, Rossaro L, et al. Intravenous N-acetylcysteine improves transplant-free survival in early stage non-acetaminophen acute liver failure. Gastroenterology 2009;137:856-64.

19. Campbell MJ, Julious SA, Altman DG. Estimating sample sizes for binary, ordered categorical, and continuous outcomes in two group comparisons. BMJ 1995;311:1145-8.

20. Vaquero J, Polson J, Chung C, et al. Infection and the progression of hepatic encephalopathy in acute liver failure. Gastroenterology 2003;125:755-64.

21. Wendon JA, Harrison PM, Keays R, Williams R. Cerebral blood flow and metabolism in fulminant liver failure. Hepatology 1994;19:1407-13.

22. Slack AJ, Auzinger G, Willars C, et al. Ammonia clearance with haemofiltration in adults with liver disease. Liver International 2014;34:42-8.

23. Bernal W, Hyyrylainen A, Gera A, et al. Lessons from look-back in acute liver failure? A single centre experience of 3300 patients. Journal of Hepatology 2013;59:74-80.

24. Belanger M, Cote J, Butterworth RF. Neurobiological characterization of an azoxymethane mouse model of acute liver failure. Neurochemistry International 2006;48:434-40.

25. Sawara K, Desjardins P, Chatauret N, Kato A, Suzuki K, Butterworth RF. Alterations in expression of genes coding for proteins of the neurovascular unit in ischemic liver failure. Neurochemistry International 2009;55:119-23.

 Geurts MMD, Macleod MRFP, Kollmar RMDP, Kremer PHCMD, van der Worp HBMDP. Therapeutic Hypothermia and the Risk of Infection: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis*. Critical Care Medicine 2014;42:231-42.

27. Karvellas CJ, Todd Stravitz R, Battenhouse H, Lee WM, Schilsky ML, Group USALFS. Therapeutic hypothermia in acute liver failure: a multicenter retrospective cohort analysis. Liver Transplantation 2015;21:4-12.

28. Germani G, Theocharidou E, Adam R, et al. Liver transplantation for acute liver failure in Europe: outcomes over 20 years from the ELTR database. Journal of Hepatology 2012;57:288-96.

29. Bernal W, Cross TJS, Auzinger G, et al. Outcome after wait-listing for emergency liver transplantation in acute liver failure: a single centre experience. Journal of Hepatology 2009;50:306-13. Chapter 5 Discussion

Following a general introduction into aetiology and the management of ALF, this thesis describes a number of investigations into the pathophysiology, the prognosis and management of acute liver failure. More specifically it examines three main topics;

- The pathophysiology of hyperlactatemia in ALF and the regulation of Tcell recruitment into the liver in human ALF
- 2. The prediction of outcome in ALF
- The management of ALF. In particular, strategies to prevent intracranial hypertension and the investigation of albumin dialysis in patients with ALF.

Chapter 1 is a review of ALF, written as a commissioned chapter in a major textbook of critical care medicine; Critical Care Medicine: Principles of Diagnosis and Management in the Adult. Edited by Joseph E. Parrillo MD FCCM and R. Phillip Dellinger MD MS. It was taken from the fourth edition, 2014. The chapter is a comprehensive review on the aetiology, pathophysiology and management of ALF and provides an introduction for the thesis.

Chapter 2 examines aspects of the pathophysiology of ALF. Specifically into the causes of a high serum lactate seen in ALF, especially in those with hyperacute ALF, notably associated with paracetamol induced necrosis. Hyperlactataemia observed in ALF represents a complex interaction resulting from an increase in production and reduced clearance. In health the liver consumes lactate. The first study presented investigates the role of the liver in lactate flux in patients with ALF undergoing liver transplantation. It has been speculated that one of the causes of the positive lactate gradient seen across the liver in ALF might be related to the influx and activation of nonparenchymal cells to the liver. The second study in this section looks at the regulation of T-cell recruitment into the liver during ALF.

Chapter 3 presents two studies investigating the predication of clinical outcome in ALF. ALF has a high mortality. Despite the advances in management of the past few decades it still has an overall mortality of approximately 50%. Liver transplantation in ALF was introduced as a treatment option during the late 1980's. Predicting which patients would likely benefit from this very limited resource became increasingly important. Foreseeing outcome with certainty, early enough in the course of the syndrome before significant collateral organ failure has become established, is important to maximise utility without doing unnecessary transplants. Since then prognostic markers have been developed from demographic data and specific biomarkers. The first study investigates candidate biomarkers in a population here in Birmingham the second is a multicentre investigation into a novel dynamic model.

Chapter 4 presents two studies investigating prophylactic management of intracranial hypertension. ALF stands out from other causes of multiple organ failure such as sepsis, burns or trauma (excluding direct traumatic brain injury), as a cause of cerebral swelling and ICH. In ALF intracranial hypertension is a significant cause or mortality and once established has a significant attributable mortality. Strategies to treat established ICH have been investigated since it was recognised to be an issue. However, the prevention of ICH had not been investigated before the publication on the use of hypertonic saline. The second study investigated the prophylactic use of hypothermia in the same setting. The third study presented in this section investigated the physiological effects of albumin dialysis in ALF, including the effects on ICH.

Lactate metabolism in ALF

Arterial lactate is raised in ALF. The peak lactate concentration correlates with outcome (1). It was noticed in the 1960s that metabolic acidosis is a clinical feature of ALF, particularly in paracetamol poisoning, and that lactate is one of the main contributors of this (2,3).

For much of the last century lactate was considered a waste product of metabolism associated with anaerobic metabolism. It represented an oxygen debt that had to be repaid, and in illness was thought to represent an breakdown of the normal balance between oxygen delivery and consumption (4). Much of the research that prompted this interpretation was performed in isolated muscle preparations in which oxygen insufficiency was assumed to result in the observed lactate accumulation following exercise. This explanation was extremely resilient and influenced the interpretation of hyperlactatemia seen during other stresses such as severe illness (5).

It is now recognised that hyperlactataemia in critical illness is more complex. Lactate is in a continuous state of turnover within the body. It is produced during aerobic and anaerobic metabolism and is consumed both locally and remotely and it can be considered an energy shuttle molecule within and between organs (6). Lactate can accumulate when production increases or when consumption decreases or when both happen at the same time. It can be a temporary event with rapid resolution, for example, following a 100 meter sprint or a seizure, or can be more prolonged as often seen in established liver failure or sepsis. The peak of the lactate per unit time curve has less significance, generally, than the duration of elevation, or failure of clearance in terms of severity and prognosis (7).

Hyperlactataemia is seen following a change in the redox state of the cell as a consequence of a mismatch between oxygen supply and demand. Respiratory chain poisons can limit aerobic metabolism, increasing pyruvate and hence lactate production, and stress induced aerobic glycolysis can be seen during severe illness (8).

The liver has a central role in intermediary metabolism. Glucose produced during the digestion of carbohydrates in the gut is transported to the liver via the portal circulation. Glucose recirculates or is taken up and converted to glycogen for use during a fast. The majority of recirculated glucose is converted to lactate in peripheral tissues via glycolysis. The circulating lactate has a high turnover and represents about 50% of the resting energy substrate but is the primary circulating fuel for energy metabolism during prolonged exercise and other stressful occasions such as critical illness (6). Circulating lactate is also consumed within the liver where it is converted to glucose and hence onto glycogen (the Cori cycle). Lactate, rather than carbohydrate digestion, is the main source of circulating glucose, which is in relatively constant supply via gluconeogenesis.

Hyperlactatemia in ALF represents the complex interaction between increased production and reduced consumption. There is evidence of increased production in the lungs and the splanchnic organs. Walsh and Clemmesen both showed positive lactate flux across the lung and splanchnic bed (9,10). What was uncertain was the role of the liver in this process. It could be assumed that there is a reduction in hepatic consumption in ALF because of a loss of hepatocytes and studies have shown a reduction in whole body lactate consumption in ALF (11).

The positive lactate gradient across the whole splanchnic region when sampling from the hepatic vein is unable to distinguish between the relative contribution of the liver and this was unknown prior to the publication of our paper. Access to the portal vein is critical to clarify the role of both the gut and the liver to the overall flux. The design of the study enabled a comparison of the lactate gradients before and following transplantation. Just prior to the closure of the abdomen all the grafts became net consumers of lactate except one patient that had an auxiliary graft. In which a left lobe of the injured liver is retained in the hope of possible recovery, regeneration and a future withdrawal of immunosuppressive therapy (12). The fact that all gradients reversed following transplantation strongly suggests that some metabolic process within the injured livers produced the lactate.

The positive lactate flux produced within the liver most likely comes from activated non-parenchymal cells (13). Activation of resident and migration to the liver of non-parenchymal cells has been shown by a number of different groups in ALF (14,15). Activation in response to tissue injury or infection changes the metabolic pathway from oxidative to non-oxidative. This enables the rapid growth, proliferation and effector functioning of the cells (16). The regulation of T-cell recruitment to the human liver during acute liver failure

The liver plays a is central role in immune surveillance in the body. It has a large duel blood supply and effectively screens the splanchnic outflow from the portal vein. It is characterised by slow moving blood within the fenestrated liver sinusoids and is constantly exposed to systemic and gut derived antigens (17). During health the liver is in a state of relative immune tolerance because of this exposure. However, immune activation occurs rapidly on the exposure of many liver cell types to particular molecular patterns or alarmins. These can be pathogen derived or related to cellular damage. Often referred to as PAMPS or DAMPS (pathogen or damage associated molecular patterns). They lead to the activation of many cell lines in the liver. This immune activation in response to damage is characterised by an inflammatory infiltrate within the liver. The particular pattern seen depends on the aetiology of the liver insult (18). Both innate and adaptive responses occur. Recruitment of lymphocytes into the liver is stimulated by the secretion of chemokines and by an upregulation of adhesion molecules in response to injury. We showed expression of adhesion molecules on the surface of sinusoidal endothelial cells is markedly increased in ALF as was expression of chemokines ligand. This was seen most strongly in areas of leucocyte infiltration.

Paracetamol toxicity results in cell necrosis, most prominently in zone 3, and inflammation is a secondary event. In seronegative hepatitis we observed a lymphocyte rich infiltration of CD8 T effector cells in the portal tracts. The activation and migration of non-parenchymal cells into the liver investigated by

us and others provide a plausible explanation for the positive lactate flux seen in ALF.

Validation of prognostic biomarkers in ALF

Since the introduction of liver transplantation as a possible treatment strategy for ALF the use of early prognostic markers has been investigated. The decision to embark on liver transplantation, in this very sick group of patients, is difficult. The challenge of surviving the additional insult of surgery followed by lifelong immunosuppression is considerable. Clinicians need to be able to accurately predict the likelihood of death before organ failures become severe enough to render the patient inoperable, as significant number of patients with ALF will recover with supportive care, especially those with paracetamol toxicity. Large observational studies identified demographic and causative factors that contribute to a poor outcome in ALF. In the initial attempts, biomarkers of severity were identified and when combined with demographics and aetiology can be used as simple scoring systems with enough reliability and reproducibility to be used in the clinical setting (19).

Factors associated with outcome in ALF can be split into number of categories. Aetiology of the liver failure is important, with POD being the most likely to recover spontaneously. Demographics are important with extremes of age implicated with a worse outcome. The loss of metabolic activity of the liver is significant, with both the degree of coagulation abnormalities and bilirubin present in most prognostic scores. The degree of loss of liver volume (measured on CT scan) is also significant in certain aetiologies as is the severity of extra-hepatic organ failure, particularly renal and cardiovascular. One organ failure stands out in its prognostic influence. High grade

encephalopathy has a significant weighting on outcome in all aetiologies of ALF.

Many laboratory tests are abnormal in ALF. The degree of abnormality often correlates with severity to a greater or lesser extent. Individually, the majority are poor predictors of outcome and have large confidence intervals rendering them unreliable. Many models, usually defined via regression analysis, of combinations of laboratory tests, demographics and other clinical parameters, have been investigated by different groups (20). The majority represent single centre investigation and often have methodological issues.

Internationally there are a number of established prognostic criteria that have entered clinical practice. In the UK the King's College Hospital criteria (KCC), developed at the end of the 1980's, have been shown to very robust and simple to use, with a high specificity (21).

Studies in the 1960's and 70's revealed marked acid-base abnormalities to be prevalent in ALF and a low pH is a component of the KCC (19,22). Respiratory alkalosis, associated with severe encephalopathy is rarely seen today because of early intubation and ventilation, but was commonly reported in the 1970's (22). There are two main components of the metabolic acidosis seen in ALF. Renal failure seen commonly, especially in paracetamol toxicity and hyperlactatemia (23). But pH is a composite marker and has become less useful with the introduction of early renal replacement therapy (RRT), which will normalise serum pH rapidly, especially when started in referring hospitals before arrival at a transplant centre. Lactate remains elevated even if the pH

has been normalised via early RRT and when added to the KCC improves the sensitivity (1).

Serum phosphate levels are often abnormal in patients with ALF. Hypophosphatemia is common especially in patients with paracetamol induced ALF (24). The causes of this are not well understood but it is associated with renal wasting of phosphate (25). The prognostic significance of abnormal phosphate levels have been investigated in observational studies. Initially it was thought that low levels correlated with a worse outcome. However, a large study in Demark found that in fact normal or high levels of phosphate were associated with a worse outcome. The high phosphate levels were associated with acute kidney injury (AKI) (24). It has been speculated that the high levels seen in non-survivors may be related to the degree of liver necrosis and a lack of regeneration and the degree of extrahepatic organ failure (26). Others have suggested that the high phosphate seen in patients with an ultimately poor outcome was more a marker of renal failure but because of the large overlap with survivors its use as an outcome predictor in ALF is unreliable (27).

We looked at both lactate and phosphate in a cohort of patients with ALF. This was a retrospective review over 3 years of patients with ALF due to a range of aetiologies. We split the cohort into groups as survivors with medical management alone and nonsurvivors (patients managed with a liver transplant were included in this group). We also examined the groups on the basis of aetiology into patients with paracetamol induced ALF and others. Relative hyperphosphatemia was significantly higher on univariate examination but did not stand up to multivariant analysis whereas there was a significant separation between survivors and nonsurvivors with lactate on both. This held for all aetiologies. 12 hour lactate is a significant predictor of survival or death following admission to the critical care unit. Whereas admission lactate was much less reliable.

We found that elevated lactate had time related significance. Repeated high lactate levels over time following resuscitation and management on the ICU is a poor prognostic sign.

Development and validation of dynamic prediction model for paracetamol induced ALF

There are limitations to the current poor prognostic criteria when applied to liver transplantation in patients with ALF. This is especially true for patients with paracetamol induced ALF (28).

The KCH criteria were introduced 30 years ago and they have withstood repeated validation over the years. The specificity remains high but sensitivity is lower. The criteria don't work as well with staggered overdoses when the time from liver injury is uncertain (29). Lead time treatment effects such as fluid resuscitation and the use of renal replacement therapy in referring hospitals can significantly alter admission biomarkers. Critical care management has improved since they were first developed and the overall survival in patients with paracetamol induced ALF managed medically is approaching that of patients managed with liver transplantation as a pathway (28). There will remain a small number of patients in whom liver transplantation remains the best option. There is an imperative to update and improve prognostic criteria and move away from single binary criteria at a single time point and recognise the evolution of the syndrome and how the patient responds to supportive therapy.

Criteria derived from admission data aim to inform decisions about transplantation as early as possible in the patients stay at a transplant centre. Clinicians need to be confident that if patients pass the threshold of severity transplantation is the best option for the patient. This high specificity is at the expense of sensitivity, in that there will be patients who subsequently deteriorate, later in the course of their illness. Adding more criteria, such as lactate or other organ failure parameters, will increase sensitivity but will increase the number of transplants, inevitably making the criteria less specific (30). A way out of this problem is to use dynamic criteria which monitor parameters over time. By doing this, response to supportive care can be monitored and confidence increased. Authors in India, developed dynamic criteria, looking at how they evolved over three days. The criteria included arterial ammonia, INR, bilirubin and encephalopathy grade. The patient group consisted mainly of patients with viral hepatitis and indeterminant aetiology. Those that deteriorated or did not improve over the 3 days had better AUC compared either to the MELD score or KCC (31).

Together with colleagues at four liver transplant centres in the UK and Demark. Will Bernal, at King's, developed a dynamic outcome predication model in patients with ALF secondary to paracetamol toxicity. We here in Birmingham provided data for the validation of the model and I helped construct the final paper for publication.

An initial cohort of 500 consecutive patients from King's College Hospital was used for the development of the model. 350 for derivation and 150 for validation. This was followed by an external validation cohort of 412 patients derived from Copenhagen, Edinburgh, Birmingham and King's.

A sequential model was chosen with day 1 and day 2 criteria. The idea was to see response to supportive care and evolution over time. The variables of age, Glasgow Coma Score (GCS), arterial pH, lactate, creatine, INR and SOFA cardiovascular score were identified and included. When day two variables were considered only reduction in INR and lactate improved prognosis and so the delta lactate and INR were added to the day one variables in the day two model. The dynamic model improves both discrimination and calibration when the day variables are included. This should increase confidence for clinicians making difficult decision about transplantation.

The evaluation of a non-biological extracorporeal liver assist device in patients with ALF.

The chance of spontaneous recovery from ALF varies according to aetiology. Patients with paracetamol induced hepatic necrosis have the highest chance of spontaneous recovery. Following injury hepatocyte regeneration starts and if the patient survives the associated extrahepatic organ failure normal liver structure and function can be anticipated in the future (32). The hyperacute presentation is associated with the highest burden of organ failure and the highest incidence of intracranial hypertension.

As well as general supportive care in the intensive care unit, the search for effective liver support to provide lost metabolic function, reduce the burden of organ failure and bridge the patient to recovery or transplantation has remained a highly appealing concept (33).

There is a long history of investigations into both biological and non-biological liver assist devices. The non-biological systems assume that the systemic effects of ALF, at least in part, relate to reduced metabolic capacity and the accumulation of "toxins" within the blood. This concept remains ill-defined and specific toxins, apart from ammonia, have not been characterised.

The hyperammonaemia that occurs in ALF, is related to severity and is known to contribute to end organ damage (34). Ammonia is water soluble and can be cleared by dialysis or ultrafiltration. In fact, continuous, high volume haemofiltration or diafiltration is now a standard of care in patients with ALF, particularly those that have a hyperacute presentation (35,36).

Molecular adsorption and recirculation system (MARS) is an extracorporeal blood purification system that dialyses the blood against an albumin containing dialysis fluid. Early in its development it was shown that albumin dialysis can remove bilirubin and reduce jaundice in vitro and in patients with chronic liver disease (37,38). While dialysis is good at removing small water soluble molecules from plasma water, protein bound and lipid soluble molecules are less easily cleared. Albumin dialysis together with polysulphone dialysis membranes has the ability to facilitate the transfer of protein bound molecules from the blood into the albumin containing dialysate fluid (39).

Initially single pass albumin dialysis was used but this was inefficient and expensive as the albumin was wasted. The MARS system was invented to recirculate and clean the albumin in the dialysate fluid through an ion exchange and activated charcoal columns. Ultrafiltration of the dialysate fluid is achieved with a second filter in series for control of fluid balance.

Data was accumulating for the effects of MARS in patients with acute on chronic liver disease but the effects on patients with ALF had not been systematically studied, outside of a few case reports and case series (40).

Our study was designed to systematically investigate the physiological effects of two MARS sessions of 8 hours each in patients with ALF. All patients had high grade encephalopathy and as well as cardiovascular monitoring all had an ICP bolt and a jugular venous catheter in situ to measure intracranial pressure and cerebral oxygen extraction.

We found that MARS therapy had modest effects on cardiovascular parameters, increasing vascular resistance with a consequent reduction in cardiac output. There was also a reduction in jugular venous oxygen saturation over the course of each session, which did not achieve significance, but probably represented an increase in extraction accounting for the fall in cardiac output. Intracranial pressure did not change over the sessions. We recommended further research but could not recommend clinical use based on our data. Since our study was published there has been a large multicentre randomised controlled clinical trial into the use of MARS in ALF which did not show a mortality benefit (41). However, MARS therapy continues to be used and retrospective studies suggesting benefit continue to be published (41,42). MARS therapy has a biological effect, it reduces jaundice and alters haemodynamics, at least initially. The temptation to "do something" in patients with ALF is great and so it continues have advocates. It is expensive and until outcome benefit can be shown its use in ALF will remain controversial (43).

The prevention of intracranial hypertension in patients with ALF Intracranial hypertension was noted to be prevalent in ALF during the second world war. Clinical descriptions of the cases and autopsy studies on US service men dying of acute viral hepatitis during the south east Asia campaigns revealed it to be a relatively common finding (44). it wasn't until later that this became recognised as part of the clinicopathological syndrome of ALF (45,46).

The pathology of intracranial hypertension is complex and likely related to more than one factor. Age of the patient, the degree of organ support, the rate of onset of the syndrome and the arterial ammonia concentration have all been shown to increase the risk of developing ICH (34).

The neuro-psychiatric changes associated with ALF have been described in the introduction. And can be seen as a continuum in severity. Cerebral oedema is preceded by grade 4 encephalopathy.

The incidence of ICH has fallen since it was recognised as a significant cause of mortality in ALF (47). The causes of this is multifactorial and related to general improvements in management of patients while on the intensive care unit. Explicit prophylactic interventions aimed at reducing the incidence of ICH were investigated in the papers presented. This was not a completely novel approach as dexamethasone prophylaxis had been investigated previously although the use of osmotic therapy and hypothermia in such a way had not. Although dexamethasone prophylaxis produced no effect on the incidence or the pattern of rises in intracranial pressure (48).

The use of osmotherapy for the management of brain swelling has been used for over 100 years (49). Its use in ALF was described from the early 1970s. Mannitol boluses were reported to result in a fall in ICP in the majority of cases but rebound effects where ICP was shown to rise after therapy was also noted (46). Mannitol therapy remained the mainstay of management, but repeated use will induce a hyperosmolar state and there is evidence of tachyphylaxis.

We investigated the effects of prophylactic hypertonic saline infusion in a randomised controlled clinical trial of in 30 patients with ALF. All participants had grade 3 or 4 encephalopathy and had an intracranial pressure monitor insitu. We found that an infusion of 30% hypertonic saline significantly reduced ICP from baseline and reduced the number of surges in ICP over the next 5 day when compared to the control group.

Following this publication, the use of prophylactic hypertonic saline has been included in the American Association of Liver Disease (AASLD) position paper on the management of ALF and the European Association for the Study of the Liver (EASL) clinical practice guideline on the management of ALF (50,51). It has become a standard of care internationally.

Hypothermia has been noted to have life sustaining properties for millennia. In circumstances where death would normally be assured, incidental hypothermia was noted, anecdotally, to preserve vital functions on rewarming (52). This has lead to the use and investigation of therapeutic hypothermia in many circumstances. A case series was published in patients with ALF illustrating the effects of hypothermia on ICP in patients with ALF and subsequent studies, by the same group investigated the mechanism. It was suggested that this manoeuvre could support patients to recovery or liver transplant (53,54).

Together with colleagues from King's College Hospital in London and the Rigshospitalet, University Hospital in Copenhagen we set up and ran a multicentre international randomised controlled clinical trial into the use of prophylactic moderate therapeutic hypothermia in patients with ALF. All patients enrolled had high grade encephalopathy and had an ICP bolt in situ. I was involved with the concept, design and the delivery of the study. I led the local enrolment of patients. We enrolled 46 patients and were unable to show that reduction of temperature to 34 degrees centigrade, prophylactically, in patients with high ALF and high grade encephalopathy with an ICP monitoring reduced the baseline ICP or prevented surges. In fact there was a trend in the opposite direction.

The use of therapeutic hypothermia (TH) in critically ill patients following cardiac arrest or trauma, has been introduced over the last twenty years following initial encouraging studies (55) and TH has been embraced by neonatologists providing consistent results in neonatal hypoxic encephalopathy (56). However, following initial enthusiasm more recent

clinical trials and meta-analysis do not support TH as a treatment modality in these settings in adults (57,58). It is interesting that TH has followed a similar evolution in ALF. Theoretical and preclinical experiments point to the potential therapeutic benefits of TH but translating this to improved outcomes within the noise and heterogeneity of clinical practice has proven difficult (59).

Future directions

The incidence of viral hepatitis is low in the UK and the numbers of patients with ALF secondary to paracetamol toxicity has fallen dramatically from the peak in the mid 1990s. As a result of this there is significant challenge in running single centre investigation and clinical trials in ALF. Developing collaborative links between liver transplant centres, both nationally and internationally is crucial to enable future research. The US acute liver failure research group has been very successful over the last 20 years (https://www.utsouthwestern.edu/labs/acute-liver) publishing extensively.

Informal collaboration has been successful in Europe and the UK. In particular with clinical trials in high volume plasma exchange and therapeutic hypothermia, and the development of novel prognostic criteria, (60–62). The development of the UK BASL special interest group in acute liver failure in recent years will be a platform for closer collaborative work in the UK.

Despite the challenges in performing clinical research in ALF there is much to do. Basic research into the epidemiology and pathogenesis of ALF is the key understanding and to the development of future therapy (63)(64).

Effort to develop better prognostic models of liver failure continues but the adoption of dynamic scores, which appear to provide greater sensitivity

without discarding specificity is slow. The use interventions that measure metabolic capacity hold promise as a way of testing function in real time. LiMax, which measures the exhaled labelled markers of methacetin metabolism, has been investigated in ALF and the development of novel tests such as a lactate consumption test may provide more information through which clinicians can base difficult clinical decisions (65).

Other markers of cell damage such as microRNA have shown promise as early biomarkers of regeneration in ALF and may become clinically applicable (66). Serum bile acids have been shown to be raised in paracetamol induced toxicity and have received little attention until recently. Not only are they raised but are also toxic to hepatocytes and may be both prognostic and a target for intervention (67).

The management of ALF improves with general developments in intensive care medicine but there have also been specific advances. Ammonia is now recognised as pivotal in the development of cerebral swelling and intracranial hypertension. Controlling ammonia production, metabolism and removal remain active areas of research. Early haemofiltration is now a standard of care in hyperacute liver failure. It performs a number of management aims; such as, the control of volume status, serum sodium, support of renal function, and importantly, removal of ammonia. Studies have shown that haemofiltration removes ammonia, however the most efficient method is not known and should be a relatively simple investigation to undertake (36).

Monitoring for intracranial hypertension remains a thorny issue in the management of ALF. The use of pressure transducers is invasive and
dangerous. The incidence of intracranial bleeds is higher in ALF than in TBI and as a result the use in this setting has been questioned. Additionally, the original generation of enthusiast intensivist and hepatologist inserting ICP bolts in patients with ALF have either retired or nearing the end of their careers. The newer generation of clinicians has less experience, as the numbers of patients with ALF has decreased. At the same time, observational data suggest a reduction in incidence of ICH, but more importantly, no difference in outcome when patients with bolts are compared to those managed without (47). This creates a challenge as management algorithms published by national and international societies still suggest the use of ICP bolts in patients with hyperacute ALF. Clearly patients with ALF still develop ICH so the development of management algorithms not dependent on invasive pressure measurements are required. In the short-term national outcome data is being gathered through the BASL ALF-SIG and may help provide outcome data and also inform a way forward.

Each generation of clinician managing ALF is attracted by the promise of extracorporeal liver support. All of the possible techniques, including biological and none-biological perfusion, cross perfusion of whole organs, both xenografts and human, have been investigated previously (68). Each generation builds on the previous with technological gains but good outcome data remains elusive. Recent advances with whole organ normothermic perfusion of whole human livers, turned down for transplant, is making extracorporeal support a realistic option again. Novel technology and protocols with normothermic blood perfusion makes the resuscitation and prolonged perfusion of discarded human livers possible. It is relatively easy next step to see this as an option for extracorporeal cross perfusion of patients with ALF (69).

Access to transplantation for ALF in the UK is based on national criteria and consensus. However, listing decisions remain local to each transplant centre.

How patients get onto the list or are excluded is not well understood and

understanding if there is variation is an important area for future investigation.

Finally, long term health outcomes from ALF are poor compared to the general population. Transplantation, although lifesaving in some patients does not appear to improve long term outcomes when compared to spontaneous survivors (70). Further work attempting to understand long term health in ALF

survivors is needed.

- 1. Bernal W, Donaldson N, Wyncoll D, Wendon JA. Blood lactate as an early predictor of outcome in paracetamol-induced acute liver failure: a cohort study. Lancet. 2002 Feb;359(9306):558–63.
- 2. Davidson DG, Eastham WN. Acute liver necrosis following overdose of paracetamol. BMJ. 1966 Aug 27;2(5512):497–9.
- 3. Colombi A, Tholen H. Haemodialysis in the treatment of lactic acidosis associated with acute hepatic and renal failure. Postgrad Med J. 1971 Sep 1;47(551):628–31.
- Brooks GA, Arevalo JA, Osmond AD, Leija RG, Curl CC, Tovar AP. Lactate in contemporary biology: a phoenix risen. J Physiol [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2021 May 17];n/a(n/a). Available from: https://physoc.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1113/JP280955
- 5. James JH, Luchette FA, McCarter FD, Fischer JE. Lactate is an unreliable indicator of tissue hypoxia in injury or sepsis. The Lancet. 1999 Aug;354(9177):505–8.
- 6. Brooks GA. The Science and Translation of Lactate Shuttle Theory. Cell Metab. 2018 Apr;27(4):757–85.
- 7. Pan J, Peng M, Liao C, Hu X, Wang A, Li X. Relative efficacy and safety of early lactate clearance-guided therapy resuscitation in patients with sepsis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2019 Feb 22;98(8):e14453.

- 8. Suetrong B, Walley KR. Lactic Acidosis in Sepsis: It's Not All Anaerobic. Chest. 2016 Jan;149(1):252–61.
- 9. Clemmesen JO, Høy CE, Kondrup J, Ott P. Splanchnic metabolism of fuel substrates in acute liver failure. J Hepatol. 2000 Dec;33(6):941–8.
- 10. Walsh TS, McLellan S, Mackenzie SJ, Lee A. Hyperlactatemia and pulmonary lactate production in patients with fulminant hepatic failure. Chest. 1999 Aug;116(2):471–6.
- 11. Record CO, Chase RA, Williams R, Appleton D. Disturbances in lactate metabolism in patients with liver damage due to paracetamol overdose. Metabolism. 1981 Jul;30(7):638–43.
- Rela M, Kaliamoorthy I, Reddy MS. Current status of auxiliary partial orthotopic liver transplantation for acute liver failure. Liver Transpl. 2016;22(9):1265–74.
- 13. Chang DM. Hyperlactatemia in acute liver failure: Decreased clearance versus increased production: Crit Care Med. 2001 Nov;29(11):2225–6.
- Tuncer C, Oo YH, Murphy N, Adams DH, Lalor PF. The regulation of Tcell recruitment to the human liver during acute liver failure. Liver Int. 2013 Jul;33(6):852–63.
- 15. Antoniades CG, Quaglia A, Taams LS, Mitry RR, Hussain M, Abeles R, et al. Source and characterization of hepatic macrophages in acetaminophen-induced acute liver failure in humans. Hepatology. 2012 Aug;56(2):735–46.
- Gaber T, Strehl C, Sawitzki B, Hoff P, Buttgereit F. Cellular Energy Metabolism in T-Lymphocytes. Int Rev Immunol. 2015 Jan 2;34(1):34– 49.
- 17. Heymann F, Tacke F. Immunology in the liver from homeostasis to disease. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016 Feb;13(2):88–110.
- 18. Crispe IN. The Liver as a Lymphoid Organ. Annu Rev Immunol. 2009 Apr;27(1):147–63.
- O'Grady JG, Alexander GJM, Hayllar KM, Williams R. Early indicators of prognosis in fulminant hepatic failure. Gastroenterology. 1989 Aug;97(2):439–45.
- Wlodzimirow KA, Eslami S, Chamuleau RAFM, Nieuwoudt M, Abu-Hanna A. Prediction of poor outcome in patients with acute liver Failure— Systematic review of prediction models. PLoS ONE. 2012 Dec;7(12):e50952.
- 21. Bernal W, Williams R. Beyond KCH selection and options in acute liver failure. Hepatol Int. 2018 May;12(3):204–13.

- 22. Record CO, Iles RA, Cohen RD, Williams R. Acid-base and metabolic disturbances in fulminant hepatic failure. Gut. 1975 Feb;16(2):144–9.
- 23. Bihari D, Gimson AES, Lindridge J, Williams R. Lactic acidosis in fulminant hepatic failure. J Hepatol. 1985 Jan;1(4):405–16.
- 24. Schmidt LE, Dalhoff K. Serum phosphate is an early predictor of outcome in severe acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2002 Sep;36(3):659–65.
- 25. Zechner C, Adams-Huet B, Gregory B, Neyra JA, Rule JA, Li X, et al. Hypophosphatemia in acute liver failure of a broad range of etiologies is associated with phosphaturia without kidney damage or phosphatonin elevation. Transl Res. 2021 Jul;S1931524421001602.
- 26. Chung P. Serum phosphorus levels predict clinical outcome in fulminant hepatic failure. Liver Transpl. 2003 Mar;9(3):248–53.
- 27. Ng KL, Davidson JS, Bathgate AJ. Serum phosphate is not a reliable early predictor of outcome in paracetamol induced hepatotoxicity. Liver Transpl. 2004 Jan;10(1):158–9.
- 28. O'Grady J. Timing and benefit of liver transplantation in acute liver failure. J Hepatol. 2014 Mar;60(3):663–70.
- Craig DGN, Bates CM, Davidson JS, Martin KG, Hayes PC, Simpson KJ. Overdose pattern and outcome in paracetamol-induced acute severe hepatotoxicity: Outcome following unintentional paracetamol overdose. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2011 Feb;71(2):273–82.
- Schmidt LE, Larsen FS. Is lactate concentration of major value in determining the prognosis in patients with acute liver failure? Hardly. J Hepatol. 2010 Jul;53(1):211–2.
- Kumar R, Shalimar, Sharma H, Goyal R, Kumar A, Khanal S, et al. Prospective derivation and validation of early dynamic model for predicting outcome in patients with acute liver failure. Gut. 2012 Jul;61(7):1068–75.
- Portmann B, Talbot IC, Day DW, Davidson AR, Murray-Lyon IM, Williams R. Histopathological changes in the liver following a paracetamol overdose: Correlation with clinical and biochemical parameters. J Pathol. 1975 Nov;117(3):169–81.
- Lee KCL, Stadlbauer V, Jalan R. Extracorporeal liver support devices for listed patients: Extracorporeal Liver Support Devices. Liver Transpl. 2016 Jun;22(6):839–48.
- Bernal W, Hall C, Karvellas CJ, Auzinger G, Sizer E, Wendon JA. Arterial ammonia and clinical risk factors for encephalopathy and intracranial hypertension in acute liver failure. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2007 Dec;46(6):1844–52.

- 35. Slack AJ, Auzinger G, Willars C, Dew T, Musto R, Corsilli D, et al. Ammonia clearance with haemofiltration in adults with liver disease. Liver Int. 2014;34(1):42–8.
- 36. Cardoso FS, Gottfried M, Tujios S, Olson JC, Karvellas CJ. Continuous renal replacement therapy is associated with reduced serum ammonia levels and mortality in acute liver failure. Hepatology. 2018;67(2):711–20.
- Stange J, Mitzner S, Ramlow W, Gliesche T, Hickstein H, Schmidt R. A new procedure for the removal of protein bound drugs and toxins. ASAIO J Am Soc Artif Intern Organs 1992. 1993 Sep;39(3):M621-625.
- Stange, Mitzner, Risler, Erley, Lauchart, Goehl, et al. Molecular Adsorbent Recycling System (MARS): Clinical Results of a New Membrane-Based Blood Purification System for Bioartificial Liver Support. Artif Organs. 1999 Apr;23(4):319–30.
- Stange J et al, Stange J, Hassanein TI, Mehta R, Mitzner SR, Bartlett RH. The molecular adsorbents recycling system as a liver support system based on albumin dialysis: a summary of preclinical investigations, prospective, randomized, controlled clinical trial, and clinical experience from 19 centers. Artif Organs. 2002 Mar;26(2):103– 10.
- 40. Mendez-Sanchez N, Chavez-Tapia NC, Espinoza B, Herrera-Gomar M, Zamora-Valdes D, Uribe M. Acute liver failure and the molecular adsorbents recirculating system: Early experience in a tertiary care hospital in Mexico City. Ann Hepatol. 2004 Oct;3(4):164–6.
- Saliba F, Camus C, Durand F, Mathurin P, Letierce A, Delafosse B, et al. Albumin dialysis with a noncell artificial liver support device in patients with acute liver failure: a randomized, controlled trial. Ann Intern Med. 2013 Oct;159(8):522–31.
- MacDonald AJ, Subramanian RM, Olson JC, Speiser JL, Durkalski-Mauldin VL, Abraldes JG, et al. Use of the Molecular Adsorbent Recirculating System in Acute Liver Failure: Results of a Multicenter Propensity Score-Matched Study. Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2021 Jul 13 [cited 2021 Jul 20];Publish Ahead of Print. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/10.1097/CCM.00000000005194
- 43. Karvellas CJ, Stravitz RT, Fontana RJ, Ganger D, Lee WM. Comment on: MARS System Effectively Replaces Hepatic Function in Severe Acute Liver Failure. Ann Surg. 2018 Dec;268(6):e63–4.
- 44. Lucke Baldu. THE FULMINANT FORM OF EPIDEMIC HEPATITIS. 1946 Sep 22;79.
- 45. Pirola RC, Ham JM, Elmslie RG. Management of hepatic coma complicating viral hepatitis. Gut. 1969 Nov;10(11):898–903.

- Ware AJ, D'Agostino AN, Combes B. Cerebral Edema: A Major Complication of Massive Hepatic Necrosis. Gastroenterology. 1971 Dec;61(6):877–84.
- 47. Bernal W, Hyyrylainen A, Gera A, Audimoolam VK, McPhail MJW, Auzinger G, et al. Lessons from look-back in acute liver failure? A single centre experience of 3300 patients. J Hepatol. 2013 Jul;59(1):74–80.
- 48. Canalese J, Gimson AE, Davis C, Mellon PJ, Davis M, Williams R. Controlled trial of dexamethasone and mannitol for the cerebral oedema of fulminant hepatic failure. Gut. 1982 Jul;23(7):625–9.
- 49. Todd MM. Some Historical Notes on Hyperosmolar Therapy. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 2013 Jan;25(1):86.
- 50. Wendon J, Cordoba J, Dhawan A, Larsen FS, Manns M, Nevens F, et al. EASL Clinical Practical Guidelines on the management of acute (fulminant) liver failure. J Hepatol. 2017;66(5):1047–81.
- 51. Lee WM, Stravitz RT, Larson AM. Introduction to the revised American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases position paper on acute liver failure 2011. Hepatology. 2012 Mar;55(3):965–7.
- 52. Bohl MA, Martirosyan NL, Killeen ZW, Belykh E, Zabramski JM, Spetzler RF, et al. The history of therapeutic hypothermia and its use in neurosurgery. J Neurosurg. 2019 Mar;130(3):1006–20.
- 53. Jalan R, Damink SW, Deutz NE, Lee A, Hayes PC. Moderate hypothermia for uncontrolled intracranial hypertension in acute liver failure. Lancet. 1999 Oct;354(9185):1164–8.
- Jalan R, Olde Damink SW, Deutz NE, Hayes PC, Lee A. Restoration of cerebral blood flow autoregulation and reactivity to carbon dioxide in acute liver failure by moderate hypothermia. Hepatol Baltim Md. 2001 Jul;34(1):50–4.
- 55. Hypothermia after Cardiac Arrest Study Group. Mild therapeutic hypothermia to improve the neurologic outcome after cardiac arrest. N Engl J Med. 2002 Feb;346(8):549–56.
- 56. Wassink G, Davidson JO, Dhillon SK, Zhou K, Bennet L, Thoresen M, et al. Therapeutic Hypothermia in Neonatal Hypoxic-Ischemic Encephalopathy. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2019 Jan;19(1):2.
- 57. Le May M, Osborne C, Russo J, So D, Chong AY, Dick A, et al. Effect of Moderate vs Mild Therapeutic Hypothermia on Mortality and Neurologic Outcomes in Comatose Survivors of Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: The CAPITAL CHILL Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA. 2021 Oct 19;326(15):1494.

- 58. Granfeldt A, Holmberg MJ, Nolan JP, Soar J, Andersen LW. Targeted temperature management in adult cardiac arrest: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Resuscitation. 2021 Oct;167:160–72.
- 59. Ribaud J, McLernon S, Auzinger G. Targeted temperature management in acute liver failure: A systematic review. Nurs Crit Care. 2020 Jun 29;nicc.12524.
- Larsen FS, Schmidt LE, Bernsmeier C, Rasmussen A, Isoniemi H, Patel VC, et al. High-volume plasma exchange in patients with acute liver failure: An open randomised controlled trial. J Hepatol. 2016 Jan;64(1):69–78.
- 61. Bernal W, Murphy ND, Brown S, Whitehouse T, Bjerring PN, Hauerberg J, et al. A multicentre randomized controlled trial of moderate hypothermia to prevent intracranial hypertension in acute liver failure. J Hepatol. 2016 Aug;65(2):273–9.
- Bernal W, Wang Y, Maggs J, Willars C, Sizer E, Auzinger G, et al. Development and validation of a dynamic outcome prediction model for paracetamol-induced acute liver failure: a cohort study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016 Nov;1(3):217–25.
- Ganger DR, Rule J, Rakela J, Bass N, Reuben A, Stravitz RT, et al. Acute Liver Failure of Indeterminate Etiology: A Comprehensive Systematic Approach by An Expert Committee to Establish Causality: Am J Gastroenterol. 2018 Sep;113(9):1319.
- 64. Jaeschke H, Akakpo JY, Umbaugh DS, Ramachandran A. Novel Therapeutic Approaches Against Acetaminophen-induced Liver Injury and Acute Liver Failure. Toxicol Sci. 2020 Apr;174(2):159–67.
- Fontana RJ, Stravitz RT, Durkalski V, Hanje J, Hameed B, Koch D, et al. Prognostic Value of the ¹³ C-Methacetin Breath Test in Adults with Acute Liver Failure and Non-acetaminophen Acute Liver Injury. Hepatology. 2021 Aug;74(2):961–72.
- John K, Hadem J, Krech T, Wahl K, Manns MP, Dooley S, et al. MicroRNAs play a role in spontaneous recovery from acute liver failure: HEPATOLOGY, Vol. XX, No. X, 2014. Hepatology. 2014 Oct;60(4):1346–55.
- 67. Ghallab A, Hassan R, Hofmann U, Friebel A, Hobloss Z, Brackhagen L, et al. Interruption of bile acid uptake by hepatocytes after acetaminophen overdose ameliorates hepatotoxicity. J Hepatol. 2022 Jul;77(1):71–83.
- The GUIDE Group, Alshamsi F, Alshammari K, Belley-Cote E, Dionne J, Albrahim T, et al. Extracorporeal liver support in patients with liver failure: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. Intensive Care Med. 2020 Jan;46(1):1–16.

- 69. Hefler J, Marfil-Garza BA, Dadheech N, Shapiro AMJ. Machine Perfusion of the Liver: Applications Beyond Transplantation. Transplantation. 2020 Sep;104(9):1804–12.
- 70. Putignano A, Figorilli F, Alabsawy E, Agarwal B, Jalan R. Long-term outcome in patients with acute liver failure. Liver Int. 2018 Dec;38(12):2228–38.